# INFLUENCE OF SILICON NANOSTRUCTURES ON THE GROWTH OF GAN ON SILICON

WEE QIXUN

# NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2013

# INFLUENCE OF SILICON NANOSTRUCTURES ON THE GROWTH OF GAN ON SILICON

### **WEE QIXUN**

(B.Eng., NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY) (M.Eng., MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY)

### A THESIS SUBMITTED

### FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

### IN ADVANCED MATERIALS FOR MICRO- AND NANO-SYSTEMS (AMM&NS)

# SINGAPORE-MIT ALLIANCE

### NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2013

### DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is my original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information which has been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

Wee Qixun 14 November 2013

#### Acknowledgements

It would not be possible for me to produce this thesis if I were to do it alone. Hence, I find it mandatory to express my gratitude towards many whom I worked with.

Firstly, I would like to thank my thesis advisors, Prof. Chua Soo-Jin and Prof. Carl V. Thompson. Despite their busy schedules, both professors had provided valuable time and effort for me, and I am really grateful for their guidance.

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank my co-supervisor, Dr Zang Keyan, who taught me on the operations many complex machines (like the MOCVD) with proficiency. In addition, I would like to thank Dr Tay Chuan Beng for his help throughout my candidature. He taught me on both the usage and the working principles of many equipments in our laboratory.

Next, I would like to give my thanks to the staff of Singapore-MIT Alliance (SMA), Centre for Optoelectronics (COE) in NUS, and Institute of Materials Research and Engineering (IMRE). To name a few, I would like to thank Juliana Chai and Hong Yanling from SMA; Musni Hussein and Tan Beng Hwee from COE; Dr Soh Chew Beng, Dr Liu Hongfei, Rayson Tan, Tan Hui Ru, Doreen Lai, Teo Siew Lang and Terry Zhuo from IMRE.

I am particularly grateful toward the Singapore-MIT Alliance (SMA) program, which provided me with financial support that is necessary to complete this PhD. In addition, I would like to specially mention Prof. Choi Wee Kiong for his care and concern towards us students.

I would also like to thank all friends which I have made during my candidature in PhD from SMA and COE. My research life would have been dull and, perhaps, unfruitful without your presence. Finally, I would like to thank my family members for supporting my decision to pursue this PhD, and their understanding whenever I missed any family events due to my work commitment.

### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	i
Table of Contents	iii
Summary	viii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
List of Symbols	xvii

Chapter 1. Introduction1	L
1.1 Introduction and motivations for growing GaN on silicon	-
1.1.1 Benefits of GaN4	ŀ
1.1.1.1 Chemically and thermally stable4	ŀ
1.1.1.2 Adjustable direct bandgap when alloyed with InN and AlN	ŀ
1.1.1.3 High efficiency even with high dislocation density	5
1.1.2 Benefits of silicon as a substrate	5
1.1.2.1 Low cost material7	7
1.1.2.2 Flexibility in conductivity control	3
1.1.2.3 Good thermal conductivity	3
1.2 Problems with integrating the two materials	3
1.2.1 Meltback etching9	)
1.2.2 Lattice mismatch9	)
1.2.3 Coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between silicon and GaN 11	L

1.	2.4	Nitridation of silicon	1
1.3	Scope	e of work and thesis organization1	2

# Chapter 2. Techniques to grow GaN on silicon and introducing

na	ano	ostruc	etures strategies14
2.	1	Exist	ting growth techniques and solutions for GaN-on-Si14
	2.	1.1	Nucleation layer or protection layer14
		2.1.1	.1 Utilization and optimization of AlN as nucleation layer15
		2.1.1	.2 Other materials as nucleation layers
	2.	1.2	In-situ silicon nitride masking17
	2.	1.3	Superlattice
	2.	1.4	Compressive LT-AlN interlayer
	2.	1.5	Graded AlGaN buffer layers
	2.	1.6	Epitaxial lateral overgrowth
2.	2	Silic	on substrates with nanostructured surfaces
2.	3	Bene	ofits of nanostructures
	2.	3.1	Threading dislocation annihilation
	2.	3.2	Defects and strain reduction by nanoscale growth area25
	2.	3.3	Reduced stiffness of nanopatterned substrate
2.	4	Liter	rature review on GaN on nanostructured surfaces
	2.	4.1	Nanoporous silicon
	2.	4.2	Patterned silicon-on-insulator
	2.	4.3	Silicon nanopillar arrays

Summary	35
	Summary

Cha	Chapter 3. GaN growth by MOCVD and its characterizations		
3.1	Intro	duction	36
3.2	Meta	alorganic chemical vapor deposition of GaN	36
3.	.2.1	Introduction	36
3.	.2.2	Precursors for GaN growth in MOCVD	38
3.	.2.3	Growth chamber	41
3.3	Aton	nic force microscopy	44
3.4	Scan	ning electron microscope	46
3.5	Tran	smission electron microscopy	48
3.6	X-ra	y diffraction	50
3.7	Opti	cal characterization	54
3.	.7.1	Photoluminescence	54
3.	7.2	Raman spectroscopy	56

# Chapter 4. Nanostructured silicon by metal-assisted chemical etching.59

4.1	Intro	duction
4.2	Intro	duction and basic phenomenon of metal-assisted chemical etching59
4.3	Litera	ature review of silicon nanostructures formed by metal-assisted chemical
etchii	ıg	
4.	3.1	Effects of substrate doping and porosity
4.	3.2	Effects of the ratio of HF and oxidant

4.	3.3	Effects of substrate crystallography	54
4.4	Silico	on nanostructures preparations	55
4.5	Chem	histry and thermodynamics of one-step metal-assisted chemical etching.	58
4.6	Expe	rimental factors affecting results7	2
4.	6.1	Silver nitrate concentration	14
4.	6.2	Temperature	7
4.	6.3	Hydrofluric acid concentration	19
4.	6.4	Etching duration	30
4.	6.5	Size variation of nanostructures with etching duration	32
4.7	Conc	lusion	34

# Chapter 5. III-nitride growth on nanopatterned silicon substrates ......85

5.1	Intro	duction	85
5.2	AlN	nucleation on silicon nanostructures	86
5.	2.1	Effects of pressure	86
5.	2.2	Effects of growth rate on AlN nucleation	91
5.	2.3	Non-conformality of AIN deposition	94
5.	2.4	Summary	96
5.3	AlN	nucleation layer	97
5.4	GaN	morphologies with varied heights of nanostructures	98
5.5	Influ	ence of growth structures on GaN film	100
5.	5.1	In-situ silicon nitride masking	101
5.	5.2	Superlattice	102

5.5.3 Steppe	ed AlGaN buffer layers102
5.5.4 Comp	parison of quality105
5.5.4.1 S	SEM
5.5.4.2 P	Photoluminescence106
5.5.4.3 X	KRD 108
5.5.4.4 T	ГЕМ 111
5.5.5 Discus	ssions
5.6 GaN film in	nprovement with 50 nm tall nanostructures117
5.6.1 Stress	in film
5.6.2 Disloc	cation density121
5.6.3 Rough	hness of film123
5.7 Summary	

Chaj	oter 6. Conclusions and future work	125
6.1	Conclusions	125
6.2	Recommendations for future work	128

References130
---------------

#### Summary

GaN has several applications, such as light-emitting diodes (LEDs), laser diodes (LDs) and high-electron mobility transistors (HEMTs). Silicon, as a cheaper substrate than sapphire and SiC, is becoming a more common substrate for GaN, but the intrinsic differences between the two materials created integration problems. It is known that forming nanostructures on the substrate can induce better crystal quality through nanoheteroepitaxy; hence, an investigation on how silicon nanostructures can influence the subsequently grown GaN was done.

One-step metal-assisted chemical etching (MACE), was used to create the silicon nanostructures. The etching conditions were varied in order to investigate on the nanostructure formation process. It was found that the activation energy of the one-step MACE reaction is  $0.33\pm0.02$  eV, and evidences were found that the rate limiting reaction of one-step MACE resembles that of etching SiO<sub>2</sub> in HF.

Two distinct regimes, with different etch rates, were found for the etching of silicon by one-step MACE, namely short etching time regime (1.51 nm/s) and long etching time regime (2.70 nm/s). Size variation was also found with etching duration. A suitable etching condition (5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25  $^{\circ}$ C with no stirring) was chosen for subsequent GaN growths, for its reliability in producing nanostructures up to about 1.5 µm.

AlN deposition was performed on the nanopatterned substrates. It was found that a single large AlN crystal (> 100 nm) can be grown on the tip of a silicon nanostructure (with diameter < 40 nm) when growth rate was reduced to 180 nm/h. It was also found that the AlN nucleation layer on nanopatterned substrate cannot be thick (about 200 nm), or subsequent GaN film coalescence is difficult. GaN film coalescence was possible with 60 nm of AlN nucleation layer (with an additional 200 nm of AlGaN

layer to avoid meltback etching). In addition, GaN film coalescence could not be obtained when grown on substrates with nanostructures taller than 300 nm.

Three different MOCVD growth sequences were implemented on silicon substrates patterned with 100 nm tall nanostructures, and their GaN quality were compared. Among the samples, Sample III (one with graded AlGaN buffer layers) was found to have the lowest biaxial tensile strains and lowest dislocation density among the nanopatterned substrates. The large air voids observed in between the nanostructures of Sample III was deduced to have aid in the strain reduction. However, the overall GaN quality (based on dislocation density) on nanopatterned silicon substrates was worse than that on flat silicon substrates.

GaN growth was then done on 50 nm tall nanostructures. GaN on 50 nm nanostructures was found to also have an overall tensile strain reduction and dislocation density reduction, when compared to that on a flat silicon. However, screw dislocation density of GaN on 50 nm nanostructures was found to be higher than GaN on flat silicon. The RMS roughness of the GaN film on 50 nm nanostructures is also found to be worse than GaN films on flat silicon (1.70 nm compared to 0.364 nm).

### List of Tables

Table 1-1. Prices of various wafers. Prices were obtained from University Wafer's website [30].
Table 3-1. A and B coefficients of selected MO precursors. Melting points are also provided for reference. Obtained from reference [149]41
Table 3-2. Phonon modes of wurtzite GaN measured by Raman spectroscopy. Figures retrieved from reference [165]
Table 5-1. Equations relating growth rate (R) and reactor pressure (P) with best fitted parameters (according to Equation (5-6)) for nanostructured and flat silicon, with different TMAl flow rates. The units for growth rates and reactor pressures are $\mu$ m/h and Torr, respectively
Table 5-2. Sample naming with respect to the growth techniques applied on them. 100
Table 5-3. Biaxial stresses and strains derived from shift in PL108
Table 5-4. Strains $\varepsilon c$ and $\varepsilon a$ are calculated from XRD measurements and by assuming $c=5.1851$ Å and $a=3.1893$ Å as strain-free parameters [4] for GaN. The $\varepsilon a$ in the last column is calculated using elastic constants C <sub>13</sub> and C <sub>33</sub> given by reference [221]
Table 5-5. Estimated dislocation density from FWHMs of XRD omega rocking curves.
Table 5-6. Ratio of dislocation density of Sample I, II and III to their respective references, as estimated by XRD (see Table 5-5)
Table 5-7. Consolidated biaxial strains from various characterizations.  120
Table 5-8. Estimated dislocation density and etch pit density of GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and flat silicon. The total dislocation density is calculated by adding the estimated screw and edge density. The lower value between the two samples in each column is underlined

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1. A schematic of the atomic arrangement of sapphire, where the oxygen atoms forms an approximate simple hexagonal close packed arrangement, and the aluminum atoms occupies two-thirds of the octahedron sites in between the O atoms. Figures adapted from reference [19]
Figure 1-2. A plot of ASTM G-173-03 direct beam AM1.5 solar spectrum flux [23] (left) compared with a plot of bandgap energies of $Al_xIn_{1-x}N$ , $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ and $In_xGa_{1-x}N$ alloys (right), determined by reference [24]. The two adjacent graphs show complete coverage of the visible light spectrum and almost complete coverage of the solar spectrum. The corresponding visible light colors are added into the solar spectrum flux for illustration. Graph presentation adapted from reference [25]
Figure 1-3. Schematic comparing the lattice distance between silicon atoms on its (111) plane and GaN atoms on its c-plane
Figure 2-1. Schematic of the ELO process showing the reduction of dislocation lines mechanism as GaN coalesces (top), as derived from reference [111], with variants of ELO, such as pendeo-ELO (a), maskless ELO (b) and nano-ELO (c)22
Figure 2-2. Schematic of the fabrication sequence for this work. The Si(111) substrate (a) is etched to form nanostructure arrays (b). A short immersion in dilute HF is done to remove native oxide before GaN growth is performed on the substrate by MOCVD, with AlN deposited as a nucleation layer (c). The GaN eventually coalesces into a film
Figure 2-3. Shape of modeled GaN nanorod by Colby et al. [121], where the 100 nm tall nanorod has a pyramidal top25
Figure 2-4. Schematic showing the various dimensions to calculation strain energy per unit area in nanoheteroepitaxy. Adapted from reference [50]
Figure 2-5. Schematic of epilayer grown on planar substrate and on an array of rods.
Figure 2-6. Schematic of the patterned SOI substrate with silicon islands, fabricated by Zubia et al. [114]. Diagram adapted from reference [114]
Figure 3-1. Schematic of the gas handling system of MOCVD
Figure 3-2. Schematic of a bubbler system to transport precursor using carrier gas40
Figure 3-3. A simplified schematic of the operation of a tapping mode AFM45
Figure 3-4. SADP of (A) a single crystalline GaN film on AlN, with [0110] as the zone axis, and a polycrystalline AlN film (B). Note that single crystalline samples result in sharp spots, while polycrystalline samples result in concentric rings of spots

Figure 3-5. (A) Bright-field and (B) dark-field TEM images (g=[0002]) of a GaN island. Note that some of the dislocations become visible in the dark-field image. 49

#### 

- Figure 4-2. Schematic of the formation of silver dendrites and silicon nanostructures.
- Figure 4-4. Cross-sectional SEM image of silicon wafer after etching in the AgNO<sub>3</sub> and HF solution. The thick film of silver dendrites reached about 5 µm in height after one minute of etching. Inset shows the plan view of the silver dendrites. ....71

- Figure 4-7. Schematic of a proposed mechanism on how stirring of the etching solution reduced (or eliminated) the damage observed on the tip of silicon

- Figure 4-12. Graph of etch rate against HF concentration. Data points in circles were obtained from 1 min etching at 50 ℃, and data points in triangles were obtained from 5 min etching at 25 ℃. The AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentration was fixed at 0.02 M. No stirring was implemented. The higher errors for etching at 50 ℃ at higher HF concentrations are derived from the uneven etching from the etching conditions. The black line serves as a visual aid to mark the linear relationship between etch rate and HF concentration for 25 ℃.
- Figure 4-13. Graph of height of etched nanostructures against etching time. Etching conditions were 25 °C, 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> and 5.0 M HF, and no stirring was used. The lines serve as visual aids for the linear relationships, where the dotted line is for the short etching time regime and solid line is for the long etching time regime.
- Figure 4-14. Plan view SEM images showing the evolution of the dendritic silver film coverage with etching duration by one-step MACE in 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25 °C. The etching duration is indicated above the corresponding SEM image. After 20 s of etching (a), a negligible amount of silver dendrites were formed (only silver nanoparticles formed, which are not distinguishable at this magnification). After 40 s of etching (b), small clusters of silver dendrites (about 1 to 2  $\mu$ m in size) started appearing over the surface. After 60 s of etching (c), the clusters of silver dendrites grew, with some reaching 10  $\mu$ m in size. However, the silver dendrites only occupied less than 10% of the total substrate's surface. Beyond 120 s of etching (d and e), silver dendrites covered more than half of the total substrate's surface.

- Figure 5-7. Plan view SEM images of (a) 200 nm AlN nucleation layer (sample A) and (b) 200 nm AlGaN on 60 nm AlN nucleation layer (sample B). After 1 µm of

GaN was grown on sample A and B, it was found that a GaN film did not coalesce on sample A (c); while GaN film coalesced on sample B (d)......97

- Figure 5-9. Three different growth structures were grown on nanostructured silicon substrates for comparison. Note that the structures are not drawn to scale. ...... 100

- Figure 5-12. Cross sectional SEM images showing the smooth, flat GaN grown on flat silicon. The structures grown are exactly the same as those in Figure 5-11, where (a) has 25 nm AlN/30 nm Al<sub>0.75</sub>Ga<sub>0.25</sub>N/60 nm Al<sub>0.6</sub>Ga<sub>0.4</sub>N/200 nm Al<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/900 nm GaN and (b) has 25 nm AlN/35 nm Al<sub>0.75</sub>Ga<sub>0.25</sub>N/110 nm Al<sub>0.6</sub>Ga<sub>0.4</sub>N/250 nm Al<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/900 nm GaN. The inset in each cross sectional SEM image shows the corresponding plan view SEM images......104
- Figure 5-14. Comparison of normalized low temperature (15 K) PL of Sample I, II and III. The peaks coincide with the bound exciton lines......107
- Figure 5-15. Omega rocking curve of GaN(1012) peak for Sample III. It is difficult to pinpoint the exact peak position due to the low signal-noise-ratio and broad peak. Error in identifying peak position is as high as 0.01°......111
- Figure 5-16. Cross-sectional dark-field TEM images of Sample I (A and B), II (C and D) and III (E and F), with g=[0002] (left) and g=[1100] (right).....112

Figure 5-20. Graphical representation of the different strains estimate	d from various
methods (by PL and XRD). Note that tensile strains are positive as	nd compressive
strains are negative	115

Figure	5-21.	Cross	s-sec	tional	TEM	ima	age	of	III-r	itride	grown	on	50	nm	tall
nano	ostructu	ires.	The	broker	n line	is	а	guid	le to	the	position	of	the	sil	icon
nano	ostructu	ires													118

Figure 5-23. Comparison of normalized	low temperature	photoluminescence	of GaN
film on 50 nm tall nanostructures and	l GaN film on flat	silicon.	120

Figu	re 5-24. SEM image of top view of GaN on (a) 50 nm nanostructures and o	n (b)
f	lat reference silicon, after hot phosphoric etch. The etch pit density of Ga	N on
n	anostructures and flat silicon were estimated to be $6 \times 10^8$ cm <sup>-2</sup> and $1 \times 10^9$	cm <sup>-2</sup> ,
re	espectively	121

# List of Symbols

$a_{\text{GaN}}$ :	lattice parameter of wurtzite GaN, parallel to the basal plane
$a_{Si}$ :	lattice parameter of Si
<i>b</i> :	magnitude of the dislocation's Burger's vector
c <sub>GaN</sub> :	lattice parameter of wurtzite GaN, normal to the basal place
D:	diffusivity
<i>d</i> :	inter-planar spacing,
<i>E</i> <sub><i>a</i></sub> :	activation energy
<i>E</i> <sub>D</sub> :	areal energy density of a screw dislocation
<i>E</i> <sub>epi</sub> :	maximum strain energy density per unit area of epilayer
$\Delta E_g$ :	change in band gap
<i>g</i> :	diffraction vector
h:	Planck's constant
h:	thickness
<i>k</i> :	Boltzmann's constant,
k <sub>epi</sub> :	interfacial compliance parameter, from reference [51]
<b>k</b> <sub>i</sub> :	wave vector of incident beam
<b>k</b> _d:	wave vector of diffracted beam
<i>l</i> :	mean free path
m <sub>e</sub> :	mass of electron
<i>N</i> :	concentration
<i>P</i> :	pressure
$P_b$ :	bubbler pressure (in Pa)
$Q_b$ :	volume flow rate of carrier gas into the bubbler (in sccm)
<i>q</i> :	elementary charge
R:	ideal gas constant (=8.314 J mol <sup>-1</sup> K <sup>-1</sup> )
R:	closest distance from the dislocation to a free surface

- Ř: growth rate
- *r*: radius
- **S**: vector representing a reciprocal lattice point
- *T*: temperature
- U: gas velocity
- *V*: accelerating voltage
- v: velocity
- $w_D$ : effective interfacial width of the dislocation
- *Y*: Young's modulus
- $\delta$ : boundary layer thickness
- $\varepsilon$ : strain
- $\theta$ : angle between the incident beam and the planes of atoms
- $\lambda$ : wavelength
- $\lambda_e$ : electron wavelength
- $\nu$ : Poisson ratio
- $\rho$ : molar ratio defined as [HF]/([HF]+[H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>]) by reference [175]
- $\sigma$ : biaxial stress
- $\sigma_f$ : fracture strength
- $\phi$ : rotation angle of the sample, where its axis normal to sample surface

 $\chi$ : tilt angle of the sample, where its axis is the interception of diffraction plane and sample surface

- $\omega$ : angle between the incident beam and sample surface
- $\Delta \omega$ : Raman shift

### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### **1.1 Introduction and motivations for growing GaN on silicon**

GaN was touted to be a very promising compound semiconductor, when, almost half a century ago, it was discovered to have a large direct bandgap of 3.42 eV [1, 2]. Eventually, the scientific community realized that alloys of GaN with AlN and/or InN would provide a material system with direct bandgap ranging from 0.7 eV to 6 eV [3, 4] (it should be pointed out that the bandgap of InN was realized to be at about 0.7 eV only a decade ago [5]). Such a material system allows the realization of optical devices which operates in the infra-red, to visible and to ultraviolet wavelengths. The large bandgap and high electron mobility of GaN [6] also led to the development of field-effect transistors and high electron mobility transistors [7, 8] capable of operating at high temperatures [9].

Native GaN substrates are still not widely available as it is difficult to grow large single crystal of GaN, due to its requirement to grow at high temperatures because of its strong atomic bonding and high melting point [10]. A high nitrogen pressure is required at the growth temperatures to suppress decomposition of GaN [3, 4, 11], which makes it difficult to grow GaN substrates. Hope for GaN's future was ignited after Amano and his co-workers [12] managed to grow high quality GaN on sapphire by using metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD). Subsequently, a plethora of researches were focused on GaN growth [13-18] on foreign substrates. The ideal substrate should be as similar as possible to the target material, GaN (or more specifically wurtzite structure GaN). The material properties important for substrate consideration include crystal structure, lattice constants, coefficient of

thermal expansion and thermal stability. So far, the best results are attained on silicon carbide (SiC), sapphire and, more recently, silicon.

Silicon carbide crystals are comprised of covalently bonded silicon and carbon atoms, of which their unit cell consists of one carbon atom attached to 4 silicon atoms in a tetrahedral structure. SiC has many polytypes, differentiated by the stacking order of atoms in the c-direction. The more common SiC polytypes available are 6H-SiC and 4H-SiC. As both polytypes' c-planes have hexagonal atomic arrangement, they are both suitable substrates for the wurtzite GaN. The lattice mismatch is about 3.5%, and the thermal expansion strain is about 0.01% for 6H-SiC and 0.03% for 4H-SiC [4], sustained by cooling from growth temperatures (about 1000 °C) to room temperature (about 25 °C). This means that GaN will sustain a residual tensile strain upon cooling from growth temperatures.

Sapphire (chemical formula  $Al_2O_3$ ) assumes a trigonal lattice structure where its hexagonal cell has 12 aluminum atoms and 18 oxygen atoms, held together by ionic bonds (see Figure 1-1). The O atoms form an approximate simple hexagonal close packed arrangement, whereas the Al atoms occupy two-thirds of the octahedron sites in between the O atoms. The apparent lattice mismatch between the sapphire's unit cell and GaN unit cell is at more than 30%. However, growth of GaN on sapphire is aligned to its Al atoms, which is rotated 30 ° from the sapphire unit cell. Therefore, the actual lattice mismatch is at around 16%. The thermal expansion strain is about -0.18% [4], sustained by cooling from growth temperatures (about 1000 °C) to room temperature (about 25 °C). The minus sign of the strain indicates the GaN is subjected to residual compressive strain.



Figure 1-1. A schematic of the atomic arrangement of sapphire, where the oxygen atoms forms an approximate simple hexagonal close packed arrangement, and the aluminum atoms occupies two-thirds of the octahedron sites in between the O atoms. Figures adapted from reference [19].

Silicon has a diamond lattice structure with a cubic unit cell. Each unit cell contains 8 silicon atoms, where they are covalently bonded in a tetrahedron fashion. For GaN growth, Si(111) substrates are widely used, instead of the more common Si(001) substrates. This is because Si(111) plane contains hexagonally arranged atoms, similar to the c-plane of GaN and GaN is predominantly grown in the c-direction. The lattice mismatch is about -16.8% and thermal expansion strain is about 0.19%, sustained by cooling from growth temperature (about 1000 °C) to room temperature (about 25 °C). The positive sign of the thermal expansion strain shows that GaN will contracts more than silicon during cooling down, sustaining residual tensile strains.

The importance of GaN is explained in the following sections followed by the reasons for using Si as a substrate and the challenges that have to be overcome to grow GaN on silicon. Nanopatterning the silicon substrate is then introduced as a topic of research, to investigate its influence on the subsequently grown GaN.

#### 1.1.1 Benefits of GaN

GaN has several intrinsic characteristics which encourage its usage. It is both chemically and thermally stable. Its related alloys  $((Al_xGa_{1-x})_yIn_{1-y}N)$  can be tuned to have direct bandgap from 0.7 eV all the way to 6 eV. This is a very large range for any single material system. In addition, it can achieve reasonably high optical emission efficiencies even with high dislocation density [20].

GaN is a III-V compound semiconductor made up of two elements, group III gallium and group V nitrogen. GaN has several properties that are ideal for making optoelectronic devices [21]. It has direct bandgap (giving rise to high radiative recombination efficiency), a large bandgap (capable of emitting ultraviolet and blue emission), high thermal conductivity (improved device reliability for high power devices) and chemical stability (suitable for operation in harsh environment).

#### 1.1.1.1 Chemically and thermally stable

GaN is a very stable material which can endure relatively harsh chemical conditions, even at high temperatures. The thermal stability of GaN allows high temperature processing as well. However, the chemical stability of GaN also makes wet etching unsuitable. Hence, dry etching is usually used for processing of GaN material.

#### 1.1.1.2 Adjustable direct bandgap when alloyed with InN and AlN

GaN and its associated alloys, like AlGaN and InGaN, have direct bandgaps. Direct bandgap material can have carriers recombine directly, with no loss of momentum. The energy loss from the recombination, which is equal to the bandgap energy, will be emitted in the form of a photon. This is called radiative recombination. In the case of indirect bandgaps, recombination is usually non-radiative. Although radiative recombination is possible for indirect bandgap material through mediation of defects [22], for example, it is not preferred as this mechanism is comparatively inefficient. Hence, having direct bandgap is a prerequisite for building efficient light-emitting diodes (LEDs).



Figure 1-2. A plot of ASTM G-173-03 direct beam AM1.5 solar spectrum flux [23] (left) compared with a plot of bandgap energies of  $Al_xIn_{1-x}N$ ,  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$  and  $In_xGa_{1-x}N$  alloys (right), determined by reference [24]. The two adjacent graphs show complete coverage of the visible light spectrum and almost complete coverage of the solar spectrum. The corresponding visible light colors are added into the solar spectrum flux for illustration. Graph presentation adapted from reference [25].

GaN has a bandgap of 3.4 eV and it can form a ternary alloy with another III-V compound such as indium nitride (InN) and aluminum nitride (AlN), which has a bandgap of 0.7 eV and 6.2 eV respectively [26].  $In_xGa_{1-x}N$  (and  $Al_xIn_{1-x}N$ ) bandgap spans the whole of the visible light spectrum (see Figure 1-2). This makes this alloy suitable for light production, as any of the visible light could be achieved by simply adjusting gallium, aluminum and indium content in the material. However, there is still the miscibility gap problem in InGaN alloy, where InGaN phase separates into

two phases (high indium content InGaN and low indium content InGaN). It still posed as a challenge to achieve InGaN with high indium content.

#### 1.1.1.3 High efficiency even with high dislocation density

One remarkable characteristic of the III-nitrides is the material's ability to produce light at high efficiency, even though it has a high dislocation density [27]. Lester and his co-workers found out that the early LEDs fabricated by Nichia had very high dislocation densities [20]. They estimated the dislocation density to be between 2 and  $10 \times 10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. This was a pleasant surprise to the LED research field. For comparison, a dislocation density of more than  $10^{6}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> in AlGaAs LEDs would have caused external quantum efficiency to drop to less than 1% [28]. On this aspect, a comparatively highly defective III-nitride material had been shown to produce light at about 40% efficiency [29].

#### 1.1.2 Benefits of silicon as a substrate

The reason for silicon's involvement is cost reduction. GaN is typically grown on sapphire or silicon carbide substrates, which are expensive and only come in small wafer sizes (up to 4 inch for SiC wafers and 6 inch for sapphire wafers). Conversely, silicon is comparatively cheap and the technology to produce large silicon wafers is available (400 mm for Si(100) wafers). The maturity of the silicon industry enables varied kinds of silicon wafers to be fabricated: highly doped, conductive or insulating. Silicon is also relatively easy to do post-deposition processing for, due to the mature processing techniques in the silicon industry. In addition, having compound semiconductors grown on silicon would advance us towards integrating III-V materials and silicon, providing the possibility in harnessing the advantages of both types of materials in a single device.

As cost reduction is an important factor when developing device improvements, silicon is portrayed as a very promising replacement substrate for sapphire for nitridebased devices.

#### 1.1.2.1 Low cost material

The conventional substrates for III-nitrides, like sapphire and SiC, cannot be made into large wafer sizes, due to technological limitations. The largest wafer size available for sapphire is 6 inches and for SiC is only 4 inches. In contrast, silicon substrates can be produced at sizes up to 400 mm. The availability of such large-area substrates would bring about savings in terms of economies of scale.

Table 1-1. Prices of various wafers. Prices were obtained from University Wafer's website [30].

Wafer sizes	Silicon (100)	Silicon (111)	Sapphire c- plane	6H-SiC (0001)
2 inch	US\$4.90	US\$6.90	US\$19.90	US\$327.80
4 inch	US\$9.90	US\$16.90	US\$109.00	N.A.
6 inch	US\$13.90	US\$18.90	N.A.	N.A.
Cheapest price per area (per inch <sup>2</sup> )	US\$0.49	US\$0.67	US\$6.33	US\$104.34

In addition to having large wafer sizes, the abundance of silicon and highly developed silicon growth technology also makes silicon a cheaper choice. Comparing the prices per unit area (see Table 1-1), silicon is cheaper by about 10 times than sapphire and more than 100 times than SiC substrates. This is attributed to the mature silicon industry, which enabled highly optimized and cost-efficient fabrication of high quality silicon substrates.

Other than just the raw production cost, processing with silicon is also easier and cheaper than with other competing substrates. Once again, the lower cost of processing is partly because of the matured silicon industry.

#### 1.1.2.2 Flexibility in conductivity control

Another benefit of using silicon as a substrate is that its conductivity is customizable. Silicon's conductivity could be changed easily by adjusting its doping level. This versatility allows conductivity to be modified according to the needs of the final device. For example, a high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) would require a substrate with low conductivity to minimize leakage current, and a LED might benefit from a high conductivity substrate for the possibility having the back of the substrate as an anode.

#### 1.1.2.3 Good thermal conductivity

Other than the cost factor, silicon also possesses good thermal conductivity at about 150 W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>, as compared to sapphire's 23 W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>. This property promotes heat dissipation for GaN devices, ensuring the devices' longevity. However, it should be noted that 6H-SiC (another suitable substrate for GaN) has a much larger thermal conductivity at 490 W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>. For reference and comparison, GaN's thermal conductivity is between 200 and 230 W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup> [31, 32].

#### **1.2** Problems with integrating the two materials

However, due to the intrinsic differences between the two materials, integration of GaN and silicon is not easy. There are many problems associated from growing GaN-based material on silicon substrates. Material property differences such as the coefficient of thermal expansion, lattice constants and crystallographic structure pose a huge challenge to integrating the two materials. Such incompatibilities lead to highly defective GaN films [4], causing problems for devices, such as current leakage and depletion of two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) channel of HEMTs [33-36]. These incompatibilities will be described in the following sections.

#### **1.2.1** Meltback etching

Ga and Si react with each other at high temperatures (observed at around 1000 °C) resulting in meltback etching of silicon [27, 37], forming deep voids in the substrate. Low-temperature GaN (LT-GaN) growth is commonly used for sapphire substrates to obtain high quality GaN, but that would not work for silicon substrates [37, 38]. Ishikawa et al. [37] reported that when a LT-GaN buffer layer grown on silicon is heated to the GaN's MOCVD growth temperatures, the surface became rough due to meltback etching. They deposited a low temperature GaN layer as a nucleation layer, the method used for GaN on sapphire, and found out that the silicon surface degraded and roughened upon heating up to growth temperatures. They argued that the LT-GaN decomposed at high temperatures and the resultant gallium metal caused the deterioration of the substrate. However, the exact mechanism for this meltback etching is unclear.

#### **1.2.2** Lattice mismatch

A heteroepitaxial film is formed when the film and substrate are of different materials. Usually a lattice mismatch exists between the film material and the substrate's material, but it is also possible to get a lattice-matched heteroepitaxial films. One such material system is  $Ga_{0.5}In_{0.5}P$  on GaAs [39]. However, the choice of materials will be very limited if we constrained ourselves to use only lattice-matched material systems. For lattice-mismatched material systems, strains and defects will inevitably be introduced in the deposited films. GaN on silicon is such a case.

Silicon and GaN do not only have lattice mismatch, they are also of different crystal structure type. Silicon atoms are arranged in a cubic diamond lattice structure whereas GaN atoms are arranged in a hexagonal wurtzite lattice structure. Despite the intrinsic differences, the atomic arrangement in the Si(111) plane is in a 2D triangular lattice, which is compatible with the GaN(0001) plane or c-plane (see Figure 1-3).

Hence, Si(111) substrates are usually utilized for growing GaN. If Si(100) substrates are used, deposition results in mixed phases (containing both wurtzite and zinc blende phases [40]) and/or mixed orientations [41] of GaN. However, aligning Si(111) plane and GaN c-plane still does not solve the large lattice mismatch between silicon and GaN.



Figure 1-3. Schematic comparing the lattice distance between silicon atoms on its (111) plane and GaN atoms on its c-plane.

From the literature, the lattice constants for GaN are  $a_{\text{GaN}} = 3.1893$  Å and  $c_{\text{GaN}} = 5.1851$  Å, and for silicon is  $a_{\text{Si}} = 5.4309$  Å [4]. As the crystal structures of both materials are different (one hexagonal and one cubic), the lattice constants have to be converted to calculate the effective lattice mismatch. The new lattice constant  $a_{\text{Si}}' = (\sqrt{2}/2) a_{\text{Si}} = 3.8402$  Å. The lattice mismatch is about 17%. Such a high lattice mismatch causes a high density of defects [42, 43], which will be detrimental for any devices built upon it.

# 1.2.3 Coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between silicon and GaN

Thermal mismatch is a major problem because of the high GaN growth temperature (~1000 °C) in MOCVD. The mismatch in coefficient of thermal expansion will result in residual strains. Films can be deposited in a relaxed state at high growth temperatures, but strain will build up during cooling to room temperature. Since the coefficient of thermal expansion of silicon  $(2.616 \times 10^6 \text{ K}^{-1})$  is smaller than that of GaN  $(5.59 \times 10^6 \text{ K}^{-1})$ , GaN shrinks more than silicon during cooling, creating high tensile stress in GaN. It is estimated to create a thermal strain of 0.19% [4]. Such a large thermal strain will result in extensive cracking of GaN film grown on silicon, if the film is grown beyond 1 µm in thickness [44, 45].

#### 1.2.4 Nitridation of silicon

In MOCVD growth of GaN, ammonia is used as the source gas. A problem arises when silicon is exposed to ammonia at the typical growth temperatures. Silicon and ammonia will react to form silicon nitride at elevated temperatures [46, 47]. The silicon nitride, usually amorphous, does not allow GaN to form an epitaxial relationship with the silicon beneath [27]. Hence, nitridation of silicon is detrimental to the subsequent growth of single crystal GaN.

#### **1.3** Scope of work and thesis organization

The objective of this thesis is to investigate the effectiveness of using simple-tofabricate nanopatterned silicon as a substrate for III-nitride materials. However simple methods are required to establish optimized etching conditions to suit the needs for III-nitride epitaxy growth. Therefore, despite the plethora of research in literature dedicated to nanopatterning, there is still a need to investigate silicon nanostructures fabrication, specifically geared toward the aim of making it a suitable substrate.

Similarly, although research on growth of GaN (or III-nitrides in general) on silicon has been extensive and the process has matured into mass production industrially, a limited GaN research has been dedicated toward nanopatterned silicon substrates.

Research on growth GaN (or III-nitrides in general) on silicon has been extensive and the process has matured into mass production industrially; however the dislocation density of GaN on silicon is still high (typically above  $10^8 \text{ cm}^{-2}$  [48]) and thick buffer layers are required to provide strain reduction [49]. Hence, it is important to dedicate time and effort to investigate on other methods to reduce dislocations and strains. As nanopatterned substrates are known to aid in stress relaxation and defects reduction in deposited films [50-54], it is worth exploring the formation of III-nitrides on nanopatterned substrates. There will be a more detailed discussion on stress and defects reduction in the later part of this thesis (in Section 2.4, Chapter 2).

In Chapter 2, a broad-based review of the existing methods and techniques for GaN growth on silicon will be presented. There will be a strong emphasis on MOCVD growth, because this is the deposition technique used in industry. Due to the intrinsic incompatibilities between GaN and silicon, special efforts in deposition are mandatory. In addition, an introduction to the benefits of nanostructured substrates, together with a literature review on research which leverages the advantages of

nanostructuring for III-nitride growth is also given. Chapter 3 includes the relevant basic theories and working principles for MOCVD growth and several characterization tools. In Chapter 4, a systematic investigation of electroless etching of silicon will be presented and discussed. In Chapter 5, results for GaN deposition on the prepared silicon nanostructures will be presented, with corresponding material characterizations and explanations. Finally, Chapter 6 summarizes the significance of this study and proposes suggestions for future work.

# Chapter 2. Techniques to grow GaN on silicon and introducing nanostructures strategies

#### 2.1 Existing growth techniques and solutions for GaN-on-Si

Although there are several difficulties involved in growing GaN on silicon (as discussed in the previous chapter), the cost benefit of using silicon as a substrate is still very attractive. Hence, the research community for GaN on silicon has continued working on this material system and found solutions (or partial solutions) to the problems stated in the previous chapter. The solutions include the use of thermally stable nucleation layers, in-situ silicon nitride masking, strain engineering and epitaxial lateral overgrowth (ELO). The development of GaN on silicon has progressed greatly such that some devices based on this material system, such as LEDs and HEMTs, are already commercially available.

In this chapter, existing growth techniques are presented and it is explained how they overcome the problems of growing GaN on silicon. Nanostructured silicon surfaces are then presented as a promising technique to overcome some of the problems which GaN growth on silicon faces. A brief literature review is presented on what has been done by researchers who have used nanostructured surfaces for GaN growth on silicon.

#### 2.1.1 Nucleation layer or protection layer

As stated in the previous chapter, it is unsuitable to grow GaN directly on silicon due to meltback etching and formation of amorphous silicon nitride. In addition, GaN is found to be unable to wet silicon surfaces [55]. Hence, another material is required as the nucleation layer. The material must be able to avoid the meltback and silicon nitridation problems, while also aid in accommodating lattice mismatch and alignment of crystal orientation [27]. Therefore, the material needs to be able to completely cover silicon's surface while maintaining stability at the growth temperature (about 1000  $^{\circ}$ ). The most common material of choice is AlN.

#### 2.1.1.1 Utilization and optimization of AlN as nucleation layer

Amano et al. were the first to report the use of AIN as a nucleation layer for growth of GaN on sapphire in 1986 [12]. Subsequently, Watanabe et al. [56] reported the first use of an AIN nucleation layer for GaN growth on silicon in 1993, after which AIN nucleation layers were widely used for GaN growth on silicon [55, 57-67]. AIN is a suitable nucleation layer for silicon, as it forms a continuous film on silicon [67] and maintains stability at high growth temperatures [3, 68]. It can protect the silicon underneath from meltback etching and provide a suitable seeding layer for GaN films. Growing AIN requires ammonia, which could cause nitridation of silicon [64]. Hence, the silicon substrate is often exposed to the aluminum source for a short time before starting the AIN deposition [38, 62, 65]. This preflow of the aluminum source is to deposit an aluminum layer on the silicon surface, which prevents nitridation of the silicon.

Optimization of AlN nucleation has been reported in several works. It was found that the growth temperature which produced the best quality AlN deposited on silicon is 1150 °C, yet the best quality GaN was obtained on AlN grown at 1060 °C [59]. The duration of the preflow of the aluminum source has to be optimized, as too short a period might not prevent silicon nitride formation and too long a period would roughen the subsequent AlN deposited [62]. It was reported that the optimal preflow duration for trimethylaluminum (TMAl) is 5 s [62]. However, some reports the

15
optimum AlN growth temperature to be as low as 850  $^{\circ}$ C [55] instead. Hence, there appears to be two possible ranges of AlN growth temperatures, where good GaN quality can be obtained from either a low growth temperature (between 720 to 850  $^{\circ}$ C) [38, 45, 55, 60, 65, 69-71] or a high growth temperature (between 1010 to 1100  $^{\circ}$ C) [44, 61-63, 72-76], but not at intermediate growth temperatures [59].

The optimum thickness of AlN is not consistently reported in the literature. Some literature reports the optimum AlN thickness to be as thin as 10 nm (grown at 850 °C) [55], yet some reports the optimum AlN thickness to be 160 nm [66]. While the AlN thickness for a high temperature AlN (HT-AlN) nucleation layer is not consistent, the AlN thickness for a low temperature AlN (LT-AlN) nucleation layer is reported to be in a tight range of 10 and 30 nm.

#### 2.1.1.2 Other materials as nucleation layers

Other researchers also have found success without using nitrides as nucleation layers. The usage of AlAs as a nucleation layer was first reported by Kobayashi et al. [77] However, they did not directly deposit GaN on AlAs; they oxidized the layer into aluminum oxide prior to GaN growth. Unfortunately, oxygen impurities were found to exist in the GaN layer using cathodoluminescence measurements. Subsequently, Strittmatter et al. [78, 79] reported using 20 to 30 nm of AlAs as a nucleation layer by depositing GaN directly on this layer. The resultant GaN grown had a full width at half maximum (FWHM) of 2700 arcsec for an X-ray rocking curve of the GaN(0002) reflection. Although AlAs is found to be thermally stable and promising, the adoption of AlAs as nucleation layer has not continued.

As silicon carbide is known to be a suitable substrate for GaN growth, research efforts were done to form silicon carbide as a nucleation layer on silicon [80-83]. The first reported use of silicon carbide as a nucleation layer for GaN on silicon was by Takeuchi et al. [80], where they deposited 200 nm of silicon carbide as a nucleation

layer. Subsequently, carbonization was introduced to convert the silicon surface to silicon carbide, prior to deposition of the silicon carbide nucleation layer [81, 82, 84-86]. It should be noted that the researchers still utilized an AlN seeding layer on top of the silicon carbide, until in 2009 where low temperature GaN was used instead [83]. Nucleation layers are required on silicon carbide because direct deposition of high temperature GaN on silicon carbide results in high surface roughness [87]. However, strangely, Takeuchi et al. [80], who pioneered the use of silicon carbide as a nucleation layer, reported success in depositing GaN directly on a silicon carbide nucleation layer without AlN nor any other techniques to improve surface morphology.

#### 2.1.2 In-situ silicon nitride masking

In-situ silicon nitride masking is a method pioneered by Gibart's group in France [88, 89], although this term was coined by Dadgar et al. [70] in 2002. In-situ silicon nitride masking is a simple technique to improve the quality of GaN, where no lithographic step is required [90]. In this technique, the growth is interrupted with a short duration silicon nitride deposition. This deposition is designed to form a thin, discontinuous silicon nitride layer on the surface. GaN growth is then carried out on areas not covered by silicon nitride, forming isolated GaN islands. Hence, the modification to the surface forced GaN to deviate from 2D film growth into 3D island growth [90]. These isolated islands grow laterally and coalesce to form a continuous GaN film. Similar to ELO [91-93], in-situ silicon nitride masking reduces dislocations by allowing GaN to grow without constraints from the underlying highly mismatch substrate.

Hageman et al. [55] found out that the insertion of a silicon nitride layer reduced the FWHM of  $D^0X$  (donor bound exciton) photoluminescence peak from 17.6 meV to 10 meV, and the photoluminescence intensity increased by a factor of 2.5. The FWHM

of the omega-scans for (0002) and ( $10\overline{1}5$ ) rocking curves also decreased by about 20%. Improvement in LED performance of about a factor of 5 was shown when a silicon nitride mask was used [70].

Contreras et al. [94] convincingly showed the effect of silicon nitride masking through cross-sectional transmission electron microscope (TEM) images. While threading dislocations with edge components were not affected, the silicon nitride masking layer was shown to reduce threading dislocations with screw components by about 70%. It was proposed that silicon nitride preferentially deposits on the step edges and threading dislocation sites (which extend to the surface), as it is energetically favorable [95] to do so. The presence of the silicon atoms pinned the dislocation to the silicon nitride layer and, if possible, combined with another screw dislocation (of the opposite Burgers vector) to create a dislocation loop. This reduced the threading screw dislocation density.

On top of dislocation density reduction, it was also found that a silicon nitride masking layer also reduced the tensile stress of the GaN by up to 0.53 GPa [69]. It was expected to reduce tensile stresses because silicon nitride masking encouraged the formation of larger islands. As island coalescence contributes to the tensile stresses [96, 97], larger islands translate to fewer coalescence boundaries, which in turn reduces coalescence-induced tensile stresses. The incorporation of a silicon nitride masking layer after deposition of AlN nucleation layer was also observed to reduce tensile stresses [69].

However, the disadvantage of silicon nitride masking was that a thicker GaN is then necessary for GaN to coalesce to form a continuous film. Nevertheless, a thinner silicon nitride masking layer [69] and an adjustment to the V/III ratio [94] could reduce the thickness necessary for GaN to coalesce. As reduction of the masking layer results in smaller island size at coalescence, which in turn reduces its effect on

18

strain and dislocation reduction, a suitable duration for silicon nitride deposition should be chosen to achieve the required balance between strain and dislocation reduction and coalescence time reduction.

## 2.1.3 Superlattice

Superlattices are periodic structures consisting of thin layers made of different materials. Since a critical thickness is required before a dislocation nucleates [98], having thin layers will avoid nucleation of dislocations, as long as they are below the critical thickness. Such a structure could be grown indefinitely for materials with lattice mismatch, in theory [99], even if the strains exist in the layers. Therefore, a superlattice of GaN and AlN could provide compressive strain to compensate for the tensile strain in the nitride film on silicon [76]. Feltin et al. reported that a superlattice consisting of 10 periods of AlN/GaN contributed 215 MPa of compressive stress [76]. Jang et al. [75] reported that their optimized superlattice was 20 periods of  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/GaN$  with a total thickness of 60 nm. Superlattices have also been observed to decrease dislocation densities by 2 to 3 orders of magnitude (from greater than  $10^{12}$  to  $10^9$ - $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>) [100, 101].

#### 2.1.4 Compressive LT-AlN interlayer

To avoid cracking of deposited films due to residual thermal strain, strain engineering is employed [27, 38]. Tensile stress is prevalent in GaN films on silicon due to its formation from coalescence of islands [102], GaN's larger coefficient of thermal expansion, and also from n-type doping with silicon [103]. The tensile stress arises from silicon doping because silicon atoms block the movement of dislocation, preventing dislocation movement [104, 105] to relieve coalescence stress. The residual tensile stress causes cracking of GaN films, which is a problem for device fabrication.

Strain engineering is applied by inserting low temperature AlN (LT-AlN) interlayers. The LT-AlN interlayer ingeniously compensates for the residual tensile stress [71]. Blasing et al. explained that the LT-AlN interlayer is relaxed at the deposition and subsequent high temperature GaN grown would be compressively strained due to the smaller lattice of AlN. The LT-AlN interlayer serves as a buffer between the bottom and top GaN layers, avoiding the translation of any strains from the underlying layers to subsequent top layers. AlN deposited at lower temperature can induce higher compressive strains to compensate for the tensile residual thermal stresses in GaN grown on top. The inclusion of this interlayer can thus avoid cracking in GaN films. Dadgar et al. [45] obtained a crack-free GaN film by incorporating a 15 nm thick LT-AlN interlayer, where a sample without the LT-AlN had a crack density of 240 mm<sup>-2</sup>.

The introduction of LT-AlN can also result in higher crystal quality, where the FWHM of GaN(0002)'s X-ray rocking curve was reported to decrease to near that of GaN on sapphire (about 400 arcsec or 0.111 °) [38].

#### 2.1.5 Graded AlGaN buffer layers

A graded intermediate buffer layer is frequently used in mismatched heteroepitaxy [106], for example in the Ge/silicon system. However, unlike the Ge/silicon system, a compositionally graded buffer layer cannot be applied to the GaN/silicon system. Instead, the compositional grading uses AlGaN, where the Ga content increases stepwise (or continuously) from AlN to GaN. Even though GaN could be deposited on AlN/Si, insertion of AlGaN intermediate layers improved the quality of the resultant GaN [61, 107]. Kim et al. showed that the insertion of AlGaN intermediate layers reduced both GaN's dislocation density and surface roughness, which translated to better optical properties [107]. The presence of AlGaN intermediate layers provided compressive stresses [61, 73], like LT-AlN, which compensated for the intrinsic tensile stresses in GaN on silicon. Able et al. [108] showed that a graded AlGaN

buffer layer thickness of about 400 nm is sufficient to reduce the tensile stress to avoid cracking. The reason for this compressive stress is that the AlGaN lattice constant is smaller than that of GaN, thus GaN will sustain compressive stresses when grown on AlGaN. Although AlN's lattice constant is also smaller than GaN, the critical thickness for pseudomorphic growth of GaN on AlN is too thin to be useful; hence, compressive stress can be introduced without generation of more dislocations by using an AlGaN intermediate layer [108].

#### 2.1.6 Epitaxial lateral overgrowth

To mediate the high dislocation density resulting from the large lattice mismatch, several growth techniques have been introduced. Epitaxial lateral overgrowth (ELO) techniques are useful in achieving high quality GaN in MOCVD. ELO is a technique where GaN grows laterally across either a void or a growth mask, starting from a nucleated island on the substrate. The laterally grown GaN would eventually coalesce to form a continuous film. The ELO technique has been used with success in several other heteroepitaxy systems such as GaAs on Si [91], InGaAs on GaAs [92], and InP on Si [109].

As the portion of GaN that was laterally grown is not constrained by any lattice structure underneath it, it tends to grow into very high quality GaN with low dislocation density. It had been demonstrated that dislocation lines, which began propagating vertically, started to change direction and ran parallel to the surface (see Figure 2-1) as the material grew laterally [93, 110]. ELO is known to reduce dislocation densities from  $10^8$ - $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> to  $10^6$  cm<sup>-2</sup> [4].

21



Figure 2-1. Schematic of the ELO process showing the reduction of dislocation lines mechanism as GaN coalesces (top), as derived from reference [111], with variants of ELO, such as pendeo-ELO (a), maskless ELO (b) and nano-ELO (c).

There are several variants of ELOs, including pendeo-ELO [112], maskless ELO [113] and nano-ELO [114-116], which all improve the GaN quality with the same concept. The fabrication steps for the variants of ELO are given in Figure 2-1.

## 2.2 Silicon substrates with nanostructured surfaces

As ELO is shown to dramatically reduce defects in GaN-on-silicon heteroepitaxy [117], incorporating this idea with nanoheteroepitaxy was especially intriguing [50]. This is because nanoheteroepitaxy can accommodate mismatch as high as 4.2% without generating defects for any thickness grown [50]. Combining both techniques gives nanoheteroepitaxy lateral overgrowth (NELO), first described by Zubia and Hersee [50]. With NELO, crystals are grown on areas small enough such that the critical thickness [118] is increased substantially, and in certain cases the critical thickness to exist [51]. This makes it possible to grow high mismatched heteroepitaxy without creating dislocations.



Figure 2-2. Schematic of the fabrication sequence for this work. The Si(111) substrate (a) is etched to form nanostructure arrays (b). A short immersion in dilute HF is done to remove native oxide before GaN growth is performed on the substrate by MOCVD, with AlN deposited as a nucleation layer (c). The GaN eventually coalesces into a film.

Therefore, we aim to leverage on this and use a silicon substrate with nanostructured surface for GaN film growth (see Figure 2-2). First, silicon (111) is used to produce silicon nanostructures by top-down etching (described in Chapter 4). One-step metal-assisted chemical etching (1-step MACE) is proposed to fabricate the nanostructures, and optimization of this nanofabrication is presented in a later part of this thesis. Then silicon is briefly etched using dilute HF to remove the native oxide before it is placed in the MOCVD reactor. An AlN nucleation layer is first grown, followed by any

required buffer layers, and then finally GaN. In Chapter 5, this thesis will discuss the effects the nanostructured surface has on the GaN film grown over it. Before presenting the results of the growth, the benefits of using such a nanostructured substrate are explained.

# **2.3 Benefits of nanostructures**

We described the role of nanostructures in dislocation reduction to be due to three main mechanisms: forcing existing dislocations out of nanostructures through dislocation annihilation, preventing new dislocation by accommodating mismatch coherently, and reduced stiffness of nanopatterned substrate.

Due to the mismatch in lattice constant, GaN films grown on sapphire or silicon carbide contain a high density of threading dislocations and defects. The presence of dislocations and defects is detrimental to the performance of devices fabricated out of these materials. For example, LEDs will have less photons generated as the defects act as non-radiative recombination centers; HEMT devices will suffer a reduced electron mobility as the threading dislocations cut into the path of the electron channel [119]. Since there is no commercially viable native substrates available (either too small or too expensive), researchers explored various approaches to reduce the threading dislocations.

### 2.3.1 Threading dislocation annihilation

The idea of threading dislocation annihilation in nanostructures was explained in a simple concept by Eshelby [120]. The effect of free surfaces on a screw dislocation located at a distance far enough from the center of a nanorod (0.54r away, as predicted by Eshelby's calculations) would provide a force to bring the dislocation out

of the nanorod. Colby et al. [121] carried out a numerical study to investigate this dislocation annihilation effect in nanorods. They modeled 100 nm tall GaN nanorods with a pyramidal top (see Figure 2-3), with diameters ranging between 10 to 80 nm. They concluded that dislocations located at more than 0.25r from the center will always have a lateral force greater than the Peierls-Nabarro force (the force that pins dislocations), for nanorods with diameter between 20 to 80 nm. In other words, dislocations present in the nanorod's cross-sectional area have a 93% chance of being forced out.



Figure 2-3. Shape of modeled GaN nanorod by Colby et al. [121], where the 100 nm tall nanorod has a pyramidal top.

# 2.3.2 Defects and strain reduction by nanoscale growth area

The small diameter of a nanorod makes it difficult for dislocations to nucleate within the rod. Matthews [122] showed that nucleation of half-loops requires a critical radius. If the nanorod cannot accommodate half-loop of at least the critical radius, it is reasonable to think that half-loop nucleation would not be possible according to Matthews's theory.



Figure 2-4. Schematic showing the various dimensions to calculation strain energy per unit area in nanoheteroepitaxy. Adapted from reference [50].

The reduced dimension of a vertical nanorod also means only a small area is in contact with the substrate. Hence, only a small base area of the grown material is forced to align itself to the lattice constant of the substrate. The rest of the rod will be able to elastically relax in radial directions [50]. A small base area will also mean a great reduction of misfit dislocations occurring at the interface, thus minimizing the formation of threading dislocations [51, 123]. A detailed explanation, in the energy point of view, is known as the nanoheteroepitaxy theory, developed by Zubia and Hersee [50] (based on Luryi and Suhir's report [51]). The theory is described in the following paragraphs.

When the lateral dimension of the area to deposit is finite, the total strain energy per unit area of a coherent film will be less than that of an infinitely large area [51]. This total strain energy varies linearly with the lateral dimensions of the deposited area. Zubia and Hersee [50] argued that the total strain energy should be even lower than suggested by Luryi and Suhir, as substrate compliance was ignored in their calculations. The structure considered is represented in Figure 2-4. The substrate is patterned with an array of vertically standing rods of radius r. Target material is then grown on top of the rods, and subsequently coalesced to form a continuous epilayer of thickness  $h_{epi}$ . Hence, the rigid contact between the epilayer and the substrate is confined to the top of the rods. The epilayer is assumed to have no rigid contact with the substrate in the area between the rods. The maximum strain energy density per unit area in the epitaxially grown material ( $E_{epi}$ ) is given as [51]:

$$E_{\rm epi} = \frac{Y_{\rm epi}}{1 - \nu_{\rm epi}} \varepsilon_{\rm epi_0}^2 h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff}$$
(2-1)

where  $Y_{epi}$  is the Young's modulus,  $v_{epi}$  is the Poisson ratio,  $\varepsilon_{epi_0}$  is the maximum strain at the interface and  $h_{epi}^{eff}$  is the effective layer thickness [51]. Please note that the portion of epilayer beyond  $h_{epi}^{eff}$  would contribute negligible strain increase on the epitaxial layer [51]. The effective layer thickness arises because of the small contact area between the epilayer and the substrate, when compared to the epilayer thickness. The maximum interfacial strain of the epitaxial layer is defined by [50]:

$$\varepsilon_{\text{epi}_{0}} = \frac{\varepsilon_{T}}{1 + \left(K\frac{1 - \exp(-\pi h_{\text{epi}}/2r)}{1 - \exp(-\pi h_{\text{sub}}/2r)}\right)},$$
(2-2)
where  $K = \frac{Y_{\text{epi}}}{1 - \nu_{\text{epi}}}\frac{1 - \nu_{\text{sub}}}{Y_{\text{sub}}}.$ 

and where  $\varepsilon_T$  is the total lattice mismatch strain,  $h_{epi}$  is the thickness of the epitaxial layer,  $h_{sub}$  is the height of the substrate, r is the radius of the growth area,  $Y_{sub}$  is the Young's modulus of the substrate and  $v_{sub}$  is the Poisson ratio of the substrate. Assuming both epilayer and substrate thicknesses are much larger than the radius of the rods ( $h_{epi}$ ,  $h_{sub} \gg r$ ), we can approximate that:

$$\varepsilon_{\text{epi}_0} \approx \frac{\varepsilon_T}{1+K} ,$$
 (2-3)

For the GaN-on-silicon system,  $\varepsilon_{epi_0}$  is estimated to be about  $0.32\varepsilon_T$  or (6.5%), from Equation (2-3). The rest of the 68% of the mismatch is accommodated by the substrate (silicon). This estimate is relatively accurate if  $h_{epi}$ ,  $h_{sub} > 4r$ .

The effective layer thickness is defined as [51]:

$$h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff} = \frac{r}{\pi} \left[ 1 - {\rm sech}(k_{\rm epi}r) \right]^2 \left[ 1 - e^{-\pi h_{\rm epi}/r} \right]$$
(2-4)

where  $k_{epi}$  is the interfacial compliance parameter of the epitaxial layer [51]. The interfacial compliance parameter is estimated by:

$$k_{\rm epi} = \frac{1}{h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff}} \sqrt{\frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{1 - \nu_{\rm epi}}{1 + \nu_{\rm epi}}\right)}$$
(2-5)

$$k_{\rm epi} \approx \frac{0.88}{h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff}},$$
 (2-6)

taking  $v_{\rm epi} = 0.319$ , from reference [124]. Assuming  $h_{\rm epi} \gg r$ , we get:

$$h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff} \approx \frac{r}{\pi} \left[ 1 - {\rm sech}\left(\frac{0.88r}{h_{\rm epi}^{\rm eff}}\right) \right]^2$$
 (2-7)

Solving Equation (2-7) gives  $h_{epi}^{eff} \approx 0.27r$ . Note that this estimate does not depend on epilayer thickness, as long as the epilayer is thick enough  $(h_{epi} > 4r)$ . The effective layer thickness ceases to depend on epilayer thickness because of strain decay [125]. With the values of  $\varepsilon_{epi_0}$  and  $h_{epi}^{eff}$  (estimated from Equation (2-3) and (2-7), respectively), the maximum strain energy density per unit area in the epilayer can be calculated by Equation (2-1), we get:

$$E_{\rm epi} \,({\rm J/m^2}) \approx 0.51 r \,({\rm nm})$$
 (2-8)

Note that  $E_{epi}$  only varies with the radius of the rods. In the case of a planar substrate, the areal strain energy density of the epilayer ( $E_{epi, planar}$ ) is given by [126]:

$$E_{\rm epi, \, planar} = \frac{Y_{\rm epi}}{1 - \nu_{\rm epi}} h_{\rm epi} \varepsilon_T^2$$
(2-9)

For the case of GaN-on-silicon:

$$E_{\rm epi, \, planar} \, (J/m^2) \approx 18.7 h_{\rm epi} \, (\rm nm)$$
 (2-10)

For comparison, an array of rods with 40 nm in diameter would have maximum areal strain energy density of about  $10 \text{ J/m}^2$  (regardless of epilayer thickness, as long as epilayer thickness is large), whereas the areal strain energy density of just 1 nm of GaN epilayer on a flat silicon substrate would have exceeded that.

In order to consider the case where dislocation formation is not energetically favorable, the strain energy of a dislocation needs to be calculated. According to People and Bean, the areal energy density of a screw dislocation ( $E_D$ ) is estimated to be [126]:

$$E_{\rm D} \approx \frac{Y_{\rm epi}}{2(1+\nu_{\rm epi})} \frac{b^2}{4\pi w_D} \ln\left(\frac{R}{b}\right)$$
(2-11)

where  $w_D$  is the effective interfacial width of the dislocation (based on People and Bean [126], we assumed it to be 5 atomic spacing in the  $\langle 11\overline{2}0 \rangle$  direction), *R* is the closest distance from the dislocation to a free surface and *b* is the magnitude of the dislocation's Burger's vector. Since epilayer and substrate thickness are large, we take R = r [50].

$$E_{\rm D} \,({\rm J/m^2}) \approx 1.56 \ln\left(\frac{r \,({\rm nm})}{0.51851}\right)$$
 (2-12)

It is not energetically favorable for the dislocation to form if  $E_D$  is larger than  $E_{epi}$ . Solving Equations (2-8) and (2-12), dislocation should not form when r is smaller than 8.5 nm (for GaN-on-silicon system). However, it should be noted that it would only be useful if such a system can be applied over a large area. Creating an array of nanorods smaller than 17 nm in diameter over a large area would be technologically challenging to achieve.

#### 2.3.3 Reduced stiffness of nanopatterned substrate

In Zubia and Hersee's work (described above), it was assumed that lattice mismatch was the only strain involved. However, in the GaN-on-silicon system, there is also thermal mismatch, where the thermal strain occurs after the deposition was completed. Such residual strain was not accounted for, hence it is prudent to explain the strain reduction mechanism for such case.



Figure 2-5. Schematic of epilayer grown on planar substrate and on an array of rods.

Figure 2-5 compares a schematic of an epilayer grown on top of a planar substrate to that of an epilayer grown on top of an array of rods. As there is an air matrix

surrounding the array of rods, the overall effective Young's modulus of the layer of rods is less than that of a planar substrate. The lower stiffness of the array of rods would allow the epilayer to expand or contract with less biaxial stress than if it is on a planar substrate. However, it is important to point out that such a system is unlikely to fully accommodate all thermal strains. [4].

In the GaN-on-silicon system, GaN film on a 50 mm wafer has to contract by about 100  $\mu$ m (thermal expansion strain of 0.19%) to eliminate the thermal strain. This is possible if the rods are long enough to accommodate by bending. However, as high quality III-nitride requires rods of nanosize diameters (explained in sections 2.3.2 and 5.2.2), the rods cannot be too tall or they will have very high aspect ratio (in the range of 1000s). Such nanorods will be susceptible to breakage and bending, rendering it near impossible to fabricate. Hence, the rods' height has to reduced, but at the expense of a reduced thermal strain accommodation effect.

Taking the simplified assumption that the maximum lateral distance for a rod to bend is equal to half its height, a 100 nm tall rod could only relieve about 0.1% of the thermal strain on a 50 mm wafer. This is only possible if the nanorod is thin enough to accommodate bending without failure. Taking the fracture strength ( $\sigma_f$ ) to be about 10 GPa and Young's Modulus (Y) to be about 100 GPa, for silicon nanorods with  $2r_{max}$  less than 20 nm [127], we can estimate the maximum diameter ( $2r_{max}$ ) of the nanorod for this to be possible using simple beam theory [128]:

$$r_{\max} = \frac{1}{3} \frac{\sigma_f}{E} \times \frac{H^2}{w}$$

where H is the height of the rod and w is the lateral bending distance. The maximum diameter for the case described above is about 13 nm.

## 2.4 Literature review on GaN on nanostructured surfaces

After the discussion on the mechanisms through which nanostructures can accommodate lattice and thermal mismatch, it can be seen that it is certainly promising and attractive to leverage nanostructures to grow high quality material.

#### 2.4.1 Nanoporous silicon

According to the recommendations of International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC), there are three subcategories of nanoporous silicon depending on pore sizes, namely microporous (less than 2 nm), mesoporous (2 to 50 nm) and macroporous (50 to 1000 nm) [129]. The brief review that follows will include nanoporous silicon of all subcategories.

The first successful GaN growth on nanoporous silicon was reported in 2001 [130]. The nanoporous silicon used was formed by a vapor etching technique, where the silicon substrate was exposed to HF and  $HNO_3$  vapors, forming nanoporous silicon with size features less than 100nm [131]. Unfortunately, the GaN produced was not only polycrystalline, but with both wurtzite and zinc blende phases. This could be because the substrate used was Si(100) instead of Si(111).

It was only 5 years later when GaN growth on a nanoporous Si(111) substrate was reported [52]. In this work, nanoporous silicon was fabricated by drying etching a Si(111) substrate with anodized aluminum oxide (AAO) as an etch mask. An array of vertically straight nanopores was formed, with a pore diameter of about 60 nm. The authors claimed that the nanoporous substrates were found to reduce the dislocation density in the GaN on it. Unfortunately, the amount of reduction was not given. Threading dislocations were observed to bend 90° and not propagate to the top surface, much like as observed in epitaxial lateral overgrowth [132]. A stress reduction of about 0.82 GPa was found for GaN on nanoporous Si, when compared

32

with GaN on flat Si. In addition, the authors found that the optical properties were also improved for GaN on nanoporous Si.

Nanoporous silicon fabricated by anodization was also used for GaN growth [53]. The nanoporous silicon has sponge and rod-like structures on the order of 10 nm. Similar to the work by Zang et al. [52], improvements were found in GaN films grown on nanoporous silicon. Tensile stress was found to be reduced as well (reduction of between 0.32 and 0.53 GPa), but not as much as reported by Zang et al. However, interesting results were reported on the characterization using X-ray diffraction. It was found that the FHWM of the X-ray rocking curve for GaN(0002) was wider on nanoporous silicon than that on flat silicon; conversely, the FWHM of the X-ray rocking curve for GaN( $10\overline{1}2$ ) was narrower on nanoporous silicon than that on flat silicon.

#### 2.4.2 Patterned silicon-on-insulator

Silicon-on-insulator (SOI) substrates are considered as compliant substrates as the thin silicon can accommodate strains from misfit by deformation [133]. The presence of the oxide provided a additional possible defect reduction mechanism, where oxide become "fluid" at high temperatures [133]. At the same time, such nanoscale islands on oxide is less thermally stable [114], which can be detrimental to the quality of GaN grown on it. Although there were growths done on SOI [134-137], Zubia et al. further improved on the usage of SOI by patterning it into separated islands of silicon (see Figure 2-6), with sizes ranging from 80 to 300 nm, before depositing III-nitrides [114]. However, due to the nanosize of the silicon islands, the annealing step prior to growth had to be lowered to prevent deformation, probably due to increased surface diffusion [138].

33



Figure 2-6. Schematic of the patterned SOI substrate with silicon islands, fabricated by Zubia et al. [114]. Diagram adapted from reference [114].

## 2.4.3 Silicon nanopillar arrays

It had been theorized that a pillar-like interfacial layer is able to reduce residual thermal strain, effectively becoming a universal substrate for systems with high thermal mismatch [4]. The pillars would be able to avoid cracking or dislocation formation by deformation. Hence, it is an attractive approach for mismatched system like GaN on silicon.

To the best of our knowledge, GaN films grown on silicon nanopillar arrays was first reported in 2005, by Hersee et al. [139] The nanopillar arrays were fabricated using AAO, forming pillars between 20 to 60 nm in diameter while their center to center spacing was about 110 nm. GaN grown on these substrates was found to have dislocation densities of less than 10<sup>8</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. However, no other reports on GaN growth on silicon nanopillar arrays could be found, although there was a report in 2007 for GaN growth on silicon micropillar arrays [140].

# 2.5 Summary

Existing techniques for GaN growth on silicon are explained and presented. The techniques include implementing nucleation layers, in-situ silicon nitride masking, superlattices, LT-AlN interlayers, graded AlGaN buffer layers, and ELO. Subsequently, a nanostructured substrate, fabricated using one-step metal-assisted chemical etching, was proposed for our investigation. Benefits deriving from the nanostructures are explained. Previous works done by other researchers, based on nanostructured silicon, were reviewed.

# Chapter 3. GaN growth by MOCVD and its characterizations

# 3.1 Introduction

This chapter describes and explains the features of MOCVD, and the characterization tools used in this thesis. The characterization tools includes atomic force microscope (AFM), scanning electron microscope (SEM), transmission electron microscope (TEM), X-ray diffraction (XRD), photoluminescence (PL) and Raman spectroscopies.

# 3.2 Metalorganic chemical vapor deposition of GaN

It should be noted that there exist several synonyms in literature for this growth technique, such as metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy (MOVPE), organometallic chemical vapor deposition (OMCVD) and organometallic vapor phase epitaxy (OMVPE). All the mentioned terms referred to the same growth technique, but, for consistency, this thesis will only refer it as MOCVD.

#### 3.2.1 Introduction

MOCVD is a deposition method based on chemical vapor deposition (CVD), where the gaseous precursors react to form a film on a heated substrate (see Figure 3-1 for schematic diagram of MOCVD). This deposition method differs from physical vapor deposition (PVD) such as evaporation, sputtering and molecular beam epitaxy. The main difference is that deposition depends on chemical reactions of the gaseous precursor(s) and the use of carrier gas. MOCVD also deviates from CVD due to the use of metalorganics (MO) compounds. The use of MO sources demands additional steps in transporting the precursors to the target substrate, which will be explained later in this chapter. In addition, very high quality grown layers with high throughput could be obtained using MOCVD.



Figure 3-1. Schematic of the gas handling system of MOCVD

MOCVD is considered to be pioneered by Manasevit and his co-workers [141-143] in the 1960s, where his group worked extensively on material system based on arsenide. Subsequently, his group also reported work on nitride growth using MOCVD in 1971 [144]. However, MOCVD work on high quality III-nitrides was only kick started after Amano and his co-workers succeeded in MOCVD growth of GaN film on sapphire substrates in 1986 [12]. Another notable significant milestone was when Nakamura and his co-workers managed to fabricate successfully GaN-based LED in 1993 [145]. Since then, MOCVD on GaN was intensively researched into to obtain quality capable of device operation, whereby light emitting diodes (LEDs), laser diodes (LDs), transistors and photodetectors are demonstrated and produced commercially [146, 147]. The successful commercial implementation of MOCVD growth of GaN over other techniques is because of its suitability in large scale production, promoting favorable economic benefits [143].

MOCVD is a complex deposition technique operating at high temperatures. There are two sections which are characteristic of MOCVD system: a special gas handling system involving bubblers and dilution by carrier gas (usually hydrogen and/or nitrogen), and the reaction chamber modified for high temperature operation. The carrier gas serves to transport the precursors from the source to the growth chamber.

#### 3.2.2 Precursors for GaN growth in MOCVD

The group III precursors for MOCVD growth of III-nitrides consist of metalorganics (or group III alkyls), which include trimethylaluminum (TMAI), triethylaluminum (TEAI), trimethylgallium (TMGa), triethylgallium (TEGa) and trimethylindium (TMIn). The group V precursor for nitrides used is dominantly ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>). The precursors used for doping are usually silane (SiH<sub>4</sub>) for n-type, and biscyclopentadienyl magnesium (Cp<sub>2</sub>Mg) for p-type. It should be mentioned that trialkyl compounds are pyrophoric and highly reactive with water and oxygen, while ammonia gas is highly corrosive [4], hence extreme care should be taken. The hydride sources are in gaseous form, contained in pressurized cylinders, which can be introduced into the reactor through the gas lines. However, the MO sources are in liquid (or in the case for TMIn and Cp<sub>2</sub>Mg, solution) form, which require a bubbler system (Figure 3-2) to transport.

The liquid precursors (or solution for TMIn and  $Cp_2Mg$ ) are contained in a sealed stainless steel bubbler, where carrier gas is introduced into the inlet pipe and exit from the outlet pipe. The bubbler is designed such that the inlet pipe introduces the carrier gas into the liquid precursor and the carrier gas bubbles and exit through the outlet pipe. In this manner, the carrier gas will carry along the precursors in the form of vapor. The bubbler is placed in a thermal bath (usually between -20 °C and 40 °C) for a consistent vapor pressure. For our case, we use -10 °C, 20 °C, 30 °C and 40 °C for TMGa, TMAI, TMIn and CP<sub>2</sub>Mg, respectively. The flow rate of carrier gas is controlled by a mass flow controller (MFC), and the pressure in the bubbler is maintained by a pressure controller fixed at outlet pipe. This pressure is to be higher than the growth chamber's pressure.

The vapor pressure of the MO is a critical parameter as it determines the concentration of the MO that is transported by the carrier gas, into the growth chamber. The vapor pressure can be calculated in terms of the following expression:

$$Log(p_{\rm MO}) = A - \frac{B}{T}$$
(3-1)

where  $p_{MO}$  is the equilibrium vapor pressure in Torr, and *T* is temperature in Kelvins. *A* and *B* are the coefficients determined from experimental results [148], usually provided by the manufacturer. The vapor pressure could be easily changed from Torr to the standard Pa by:

$$P_{\rm MO}({\rm Pa}) = p_{\rm MO}({\rm Torr}) \times \frac{101325}{760}$$
 (3-2)

where  $P_{MO}$  is partial pressure of MO in Pa. Table 3-1 showed the coefficients for some of the MO precursors, provided by SAFC [149]. Usually, the flow rate input into the MOCVD system is in standard cubic centimeters per minute (sccm). In order to convert this flow rate into a more standardized molar flow rate (in mol/min), we use the following:

Molar flow rate = 
$$\frac{P_{\text{std}}}{RT_{\text{std}}} \times \frac{Q_b P_{\text{MO}}}{P_b}$$
 (3-3)

where  $P_{\text{std}}$  is pressure at standard conditions (in Pa), R (=8.314 J mol<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>) is ideal gas constant,  $T_{\text{std}}$  is temperature (in kelvins) at standard conditions,  $Q_{\text{b}}$  is the volume flow rate of carrier gas into the bubbler (in sccm), and  $P_{\text{b}}$  is bubbler pressure (in

pascals). Note that the standard conditions are taken at  $P_{std} = 101325$  Pa, and  $T_{std} = 273.15$  K.



Figure 3-2. Schematic of a bubbler system to transport precursor using carrier gas.

From Equation (3-3), there are several parameters which could be changed to modify the MO molar flow rate. The straightforward parameter to change is the volume flow rate of carrier gas into the bubbler, where a change in the volume flow rate of carrier gas has a direct influence on the MO molar flow rate. However, as every MFC has a specified upper and lower limit, changing volume flow rate might not be possible if a large change in molar flow rate is required. The next parameter to change would be the bubbler pressure, where molar flow rate is inversely proportional to the bubbler pressure. Another parameter to change would be the bubbler temperature. This should be last choice among the stated methods, as thermal bath requires an extended period of time to stabilize at a target temperature. Nevertheless, if large change to the molar flow rate is required, this should be the parameter to change.

MO precursors	А	В	Melting point (°C)
TMAl	8.220	2134	15.4
TMGa	8.070	1703	-15.8
TEGa	8.080	2162	-82.3
TMIn	10.52	3014	88.4
Cp <sub>2</sub> Mg	10.00	3372	176
DEZn	8.280	2109	-28

Table 3-1. A and B coefficients of selected MO precursors. Melting points are also provided for reference. Obtained from reference [149].

#### 3.2.3 Growth chamber

The MOCVD used in this research is the EMCORE D125 MOCVD system. It is a vertical rotating-disk reactor, where the source gases are introduced into the growth chamber from above onto the substrates. The substrates are placed on a circular horizontal disk, called wafer carrier, which rotates at a high speed of up to 1000 revolutions per minute (rpm) during growth, to promote uniformity of the deposited films. The rotation is applied from a motor, outside the growth chamber, to a spindle which sticks into the center of the growth chamber. The wafer carrier is placed directly on this spindle inside the growth chamber, hence the wafer carrier's rotation speed is directly determined by the rotation speed of the spindle. The wafer carrier is heated by a two-zone resistive heater which is controlled by a feedback system for each zone, consisting of a proportion-integral-differential (PID) controller and a thermocouple. The thermocouples are installed beneath the heating filaments. The growth chamber is made of stainless steel and cooled with water (cold wall reactor).

MOCVD is a complex process where a number of homogeneous and heterogeneous reactions happen between the group III and group V precursors. Growth related processes on the substrate surface such as adsorption, desorption and surface diffusion are also important in MOCVD. The carrier gas will transport the precursors to the heated region of the growth chamber, where they will undergo gas phase reactions, typically decomposition and adduct formation reactions [150], and also surface reactions, which we shall not discuss in great details. The reactions happening in the growth chamber is multi-steps and complex, but it can be represented by a simple formula:

$$A_3M + NH_3 \rightarrow MN + \text{by-products}$$

where *A* is the alkyl group and *M* is the group III metal.

In CVD, there are two growth regimes to consider: mass transport limited (or diffusion limited) regime and surface-reaction-limited regime [143]. In the mass transport limited regime, the growth rate is limited by gas phase diffusion; whereas in surface-reaction-limited regime, the growth rate is limited by the reaction rates at the substrate surface. The different regimes can be identified by observing how growth rate varies with temperature. If the logarithm of the growth rate has a linear relationship with the inverse of the absolute temperature, then the growth is in the surface-reaction-limited regime. If the logarithm of the growth rate has a sublinear dependence on temperature, then the growth is in the mass transport limited regime. In a less commonly discussed case where the growth rate decreases with increasing temperature, the growth could be caused by either reactant desorption [151], parasitic reactions [151-153] or etching [154].

In the mass transport limited growth regime, an increase in chamber pressure should not affect the growth rate [143].<sup>1</sup> Since the reactor is in a steady-state condition, the growth rate is directly related to the flux of reactants to the substrate. We shall only consider the flux of group III reactants (i.e. metalorganics). This is because MOCVD always operates in ammonia-rich condition (V/III ratio more than 100). When in the mass transport limited regime, taking the boundary layer model, the flux of group III reactants to the substrate surface is determined by the following equation:

$$Flux = \frac{D}{\delta} N_{GrpIII}$$
(3-4)

where *D* is the diffusivity,  $\delta$  is the boundary layer thickness, and  $N_{\text{GrpIII}}$  is the concentration of group III reactant in bulk gas. From Ghandhi and Field [155], they demonstrated the following relationship for boundary layer thickness:

$$\delta \propto \sqrt{\frac{D}{U}}$$
 (3-5)

where U is the gas velocity. From Moffat and Jensen [156] estimation, the diffusivity of TMGa in hydrogen is given as:

$$D = \frac{2.26 \times T_{\text{gas}}^{1.73}}{P} \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}$$
(3-6)

where  $T_{\text{gas}}$  is the bulk gas temperature in Kelvin and *P* is pressure in Pa. From equations (3-4), (3-5) and (3-6), the following could be derived for the growth rate (assuming reaction is not desorption limited and there is negligible parasitic reactions):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> From Equation (3-7), the growth rate is seen to have an inverse square root dependence on the chamber pressure. However, in practice, when we change the chamber pressure without changing other settings, two other important parameters, namely gas velocity and reactant partial pressures, are affected as well. As the gas flows are mass-controlled, increasing chamber pressure will reduce the volume of the gas flows, making gas velocity *inversely proportional* to the chamber pressure. Mass-controlled gas flows will also fix the mass ratio of the reactants and carrier gas. Hence, the reactant partial pressure will be *directly proportional* to the chamber pressure. Looking back at Equation (3-7), increasing *P* will decrease *U* and increase  $P_{Grout}$  proportionally, and vice versa. This cancels the effect of changing *P*.

Growth rate 
$$\propto \sqrt{\frac{U}{P}} P_{\text{GrpIII}} T_{\text{gas}}^{0.865}$$
 (3-7)

where  $P_{\text{GrpIII}}$  is the partial pressure of group III reactant in bulk gas. Note that concentration has been replaced with partial pressure, since partial pressure is directly proportional to its concentration. Equation (3-7) shows that the growth rate for mass transport limited regime has sublinear relationship with gas temperature.

In the surface-reaction-limited growth regime, the growth rate should be governed by the following equation (by stagnant film approximation) [143],

Growth Rate 
$$\propto e^{\frac{-E_a}{kT_{sub}}} \times \frac{P_{GrpIII}}{RT_{gas}}$$
 (3-8)

where  $E_a$  is the activation energy to the surface reaction, k is the Boltzmann's constant,  $T_{sub}$  is the substrate temperature, and R is the ideal gas constant. Equation (3-8) shows that the growth rate has an exponential relationship with substrate temperature.

# **3.3** Atomic force microscopy

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) is a characterization tool that allows us to see and measure surface topography at high resolution and accuracy. AFM is very different from other forms of microscopes as it does not form an image using focused photons or electrons. AFM creates images by physically "feeling" the surface with a sharp tip; together with an x-y sweeping scan, the three dimensional topography of the surface can be determined. It should be noted that there exists special variants of AFM, such as magnetic force microscopy (MFM), electric force microscopy (EFM) and scanning Kelvin probe microscopy which leverage on AFM techniques to obtain information

other than just the topography. We shall not go into depth and skip discussion on such variants.

The tapping mode AFM (see Figure 3-3) is one of the more popular forms of contact mode AFM. This is the mode which is used in our characterization, using Bruker's Dimension<sup>®</sup> Icon<sup>TM</sup> AFM. The AFM cantilever tip is forced to oscillate at its resonant frequency by a piezoelectric. As the oscillating tip is brought near to the specimen surface, the interaction between the tip and the surface result in dampening of the oscillation. This in turn affects the frequency and amplitude of the tip. The photodetector will pick up this difference and feed it back to the system, causing adjustment to be made to the height such that the tip maintained a fixed distance away from the specimen's surface.



Figure 3-3. A simplified schematic of the operation of a tapping mode AFM.

AFM have a high resolution of 0.1 nm in the z-direction (vertical), which is better than SEM, and it could operate in air at atmospheric pressure. However, the imaging speed of AFM is very slow, typically a few minutes to tens of minutes for an image, depending on the size of the area imaged. The slow speed is due to the need to physically move the tip or sample stage in a raster scan fashion. Although SEM also operates by raster scan, it is the electron beam that is moving; hence, it can be scanned much faster. The AFM is also prone to thermal drift, which could be reduced significantly if the specimen is left to stabilize in the system. Nevertheless, that would render the AFM as even more time consuming.

There are several precautions required in order to produce good AFM images. One common cause of artifacts is due to contaminated AFM tips. Such artifacts appear as streaks in the AFM images. When this happens, it should be replaced with a new AFM tip. Another common artifact could arise from moving samples, which is when the sample moved while the scanning is taking place. As Bruker's Dimension<sup>®</sup> Icon<sup>™</sup> AFM uses vacuum suction to hold the sample, the back of the sample must be flat and clean for the suction to work properly. If that is not possible, the sample should be affixed to the sample stage by adhesive tape.

# 3.4 Scanning electron microscopy

A scanning electron microscope (SEM) uses an electron beam, rather than visible light, to produce a magnified image of the sample. Since electron wavelengths are much smaller than visible light wavelengths, much larger magnifications are possible. The electron wavelength depends on its velocity v, or accelerating voltage V, and can be calculated using de Broglie equation:

$$\lambda_e = \frac{h}{m_e v} = \frac{h}{\sqrt{2qm_e V}} = \frac{1.2264}{\sqrt{V}} \text{ [nm]}$$
 (3-9)

where  $\lambda_e$  is the electron wavelength, h is Planck's constant,  $m_e$  is mass of electron, and q is the elementary charge. From Equation (3-9), an electron with an accelerating voltage of 5 kV has wavelength of 0.017 nm (much smaller than visible light, which is between 400 to 700 nm), thus allowing much better resolution than an optical microscope.

An electron source with a maximum accelerating voltage of 30 kV is used for SEM purposes. Imaging is formed by a scanning mode, where electrons are focused into a small spot and they are swept across an area of interest sequentially. The focused spot first moves horizontally from left to right (in the x direction) rapidly, forming a single line scan. Then the spot is deflected back to the left where it started for the horizontal scan, but it is also deflected downwards slightly. The next line scan will then be slightly displaced downwards when compared with the previous scan. This is repeated until the whole area of interest is covered. The signals collected then form the image.

The most common signal collected for imaging is the secondary electrons. Secondary electrons are electrons that are ejected from the outer-shell of the target specimen, where energy is gained from the primary source electrons. Most of the secondary electrons are created close to the specimen surface (typically less than 2 nm) [157]. Hence, this mode of signal collection shows the topography of the specimen. This would be the operating mode for all of the SEM images used in this thesis, using a JEOL JSM 6700F.

A good focus of the electron spot will correspond to a good image resolution. Focusing is done by moving to a small feature on the specimen and obtaining a sharp image of the feature, by adjusting the objective-lens current. Astigmatism also has to be corrected in order to obtain a focused image. Ideally, astigmatism is corrected when the electron probe spot on the specimen corresponds to a perfectly round shape. Hence, astigmatism should be corrected from specimen to specimen because different specimens might not be mounted exactly flat on the sample holder.

47

No special sample preparation is required for SEM imaging, unless the specimen is insulating. Insulating specimen may result in electrostatic charging, in which the image will suffer serious degradation if the specimen becomes negatively charged. Approaching electrons from the probe would be deflected by the negatively charged specimen, resulting in distortions and fluctuations. If the specimen is not mounted properly to the sample holder, image degradation may also occur as extra charges could not be conducted away from the specimen. A thin coating of conductive material, usually 10 nm of gold, can be sputtered on the insulating specimen to prevent image distortion from charging effects. However, it should be noted that the signal received from a gold coated specimen might show grains of the sputtered gold at high enough magnifications. In addition, signal contrasts from different materials in the specimen would be masked by the conductive coating.

The resolution of SEM is typically between 1 and 10 nm [157], which is about 2 orders of magnitude better than light-optical microscope. The resolution for the JEOL JSM 6700F is 1 nm and 2.2 nm, for an accelerating voltage of 15 kV and 1 kV, respectively. It is worth commenting that this resolution is much larger than the electron wavelength (calculated using Equation (3-9)), as the beam diameter in SEM can only be focused to 0.1 nm at best. In addition, due to scattering of electrons, the secondary electrons detected come from a much broader area than the beam diameter. This results in reduced resolution.

#### **3.5** Transmission electron microscopy

Similar to SEM, a transmission electron microscope (TEM) also utilizes an electron beam to produce a magnified image of the sample. Therefore, TEM can obtain high resolution because of the shorter de Broglie wavelength of electrons (as explained above). The difference between TEM and SEM is that TEM makes use of transmitted electrons for imaging. Hence, a certain amount of preparation is required to thin the sample to become electron transparent. The imaging optics then use appropriate lenses to form a high resolution image (resolution of about 0.2 nm for modern TEM [157]). The resolution of the TEM (JEOL 2100 LaB<sub>6</sub> TEM) used for the results in this thesis is 0.14 nm.



Figure 3-4. SADP of (A) a single crystalline GaN film on AlN, with  $[01\overline{1}0]$  as the zone axis, and a polycrystalline AlN film (B). Note that single crystalline samples result in sharp spots, while polycrystalline samples result in concentric rings of spots.



Figure 3-5. (A) Bright-field and (B) dark-field TEM images (g=[0002]) of a GaN island. Note that some of the dislocations become visible in the dark-field image.

In addition to the ability to achieve high resolution, a very useful function of TEM is to obtain selected area diffraction patterns or SADP (see Figure 3-4). When electrons pass through the sample, the sample's planes of atoms act like a diffraction grating for the wave-like electrons. If the sample is single crystalline, the resulting image will be a series of spots, where each spot corresponds to a satisfied diffraction condition of the sample's crystal structure. From the spots position, the crystal structure and the zone axis can be determined. If the sample is polycrystalline, the diffraction pattern will form concentric rings. This is useful in confirming the crystallinity and the crystal structure of the sample.

TEM can also be adjusted to obtain dark-field images, where the user can choose the targeted diffracted spot to form the image. Dislocations with Burgers vector containing a non-zero component in that direction will be visible. From Figure 3-5B, the chosen diffracted vector (g) is [0002], hence dislocations with Burgers vectors having a non-zero [0002] component will be visible.

# 3.6 X-ray diffraction



Figure 3-6. Schematic optics of double-crystal XRD.

X-ray diffraction (XRD) is a non-destructive characterization technique which involves probing a target sample with X-ray radiation, in order to find out its thickness, lattice parameters, strain, composition, defect densities and crystal structure if unknown. The X-ray is typically produced by bombarding copper with electrons. In Figure 3-6, the X-ray radiation is made monochromatic after passing it through a monochromator, before directing it at the sample. This arrangement is known as the double-crystal XRD, which is used for high resolution scans. For even higher resolution, the slit can be replaced by an analyzer crystal. According to Bragg's law, the inter-atomic spacing (between planes of atoms) produces constructive interference according to the following:

$$n\lambda = 2d\sin\theta \tag{3-10}$$

where *n* is an integer (usually unity in XRD analysis),  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of the X-ray, *d* is the inter-planar spacing,  $\theta$  is the angle between the incident beam and the planes of atoms.



Figure 3-7. A representation of the reciprocal space of a sample scanned using XRD, where the path difference between the 2 planes of atoms is marked by dotted line. The total path difference is  $2d \sin \theta$ . Vectors  $k_i$  (incident beam) and  $k_d$  (diffracted beam) have a length of  $1/\lambda$  each, and  $S = k_d - k_i$  where S is the reciprocal lattice spot probed by XRD in this arrangement. If the Bragg diffraction condition is satisfied, vector S will have a length of 1/d. Regions of reciprocal space where the sample blocks the x-ray beam are shaded in grey (inaccessible). The Ewald sphere is shown here as a circle with blue outline, cutting the origin of the reciprocal space and the reciprocal lattice spot of vector S.

Figure 3-7 shows a representation of the reciprocal space of a probed crystal. Bragg diffraction occurs when Equation (3-10) is satisfied (usually n = 1). Then vector **S** is a reciprocal lattice point of the sample with a length of 1/d. The regions of reciprocal
space where the sample blocks the X-ray beam are shaded in grey (inaccessible). In other words, this lattice points in the shaded reciprocal space define planes where the diffracted beam does not appear above the crystal surface. The Ewald sphere is shown here as a circle with blue outline, cutting the origin of the reciprocal space and the reciprocal lattice spot of vector S. The significance of the Ewald sphere is that all lattice points that lie on the surface of the Ewald sphere define the crystal planes where diffracted beams can emerge for that particular incident beam  $k_i$ . When comparing the angles in Figure 3-6 and Figure 3-7, it might appear that  $\omega$  equals to  $\theta$ . Note that this is only true if the probed crystallographic planes are parallel to the sample surface.

Hence, by obtaining the angles, we can obtain the inter-atomic spacing using Bragg's equation. It should be noted that there are areas in the reciprocal space which cannot be accessed by the XRD (see shaded regions in Figure 3-7), as either the incident beam or the diffracted beam is obstructed by the sample. An example of such an obstructed reciprocal spot is the ( $10\overline{1}2$ ) plane of GaN. Another arrangement can be used to probe reciprocal space in this region, where the sample is rotated 90° in  $\phi$  direction and tilt in  $\chi$  direction (see Figure 3-8). This arrangement is known as skew symmetric.



Figure 3-8. Schematic showing how to change from (A) a symmetrical scan arrangement to (B) a skew symmetrical scan arrangement.

Most reported values for XRD in the literature were acquired by either  $\omega$  scans or  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  scans (or  $\omega$ - $2\theta$  scans which is the same as  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  as but  $\omega$  is on the *x*-axis, instead of  $2\theta$ ). In  $\omega$  scans, the X-ray source and detector both remain stationary while the sample is rotated about the  $\omega$  axis. In reciprocal space, *S* vector traces an arc centered on the origin. The length of *S* stays the same, but its direction changes. In  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  scans, the sample is rotated by  $\omega$  and the detector is rotated by  $2\theta$  with an angular ratio of 1 : 2, respectively. In reciprocal space, *S* vector moves outwards from the origin radially, while maintaining the direction. Hence, the length of *S* changes, but its direction remains the same. If the arrangement is such that  $\omega = \theta$ , it is known as the symmetrical scan.

The spots in the reciprocal space will be broadened by the presence of microstructural defects. This broadening is often represented in the form of FWHM of the XRD scans. A broadening in the  $\omega$  scan is caused by an increased amount of dislocation-induced tilt or twist (it could be also caused by wafer curvature). A broadening in the  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  scan is caused by a variation in the interplanar spacing, which could be due to strain or composition gradients (it could be also caused by X-ray wavelength variations).

The FWHM of the  $\omega$  scan is useful in estimating the threading dislocation density of a sample, especially in the highly defective III-nitrides [158]. For the wurtzite IIInitrides,  $\omega$  scans of the 000*l* reflections (obtained by symmetrical scans) are distorted by threading dislocations with screw components [159]; whereas  $\omega$  scans of the offaxis reflections (obtained by skew symmetrical scans) are sensitive to all threading dislocations. A simple estimate of the total dislocation density can be obtained from the FWHM of 0002 reflection [158]:

Total dislocation density = 
$$\frac{\text{FWHM}^2}{4.35b^2}$$
 (3-11)

where *b* is the burgers vector (taken as lattice constant *c*). Note that the FWHM is in radians. If the FWHM of both 0002 (FWHM<sub>0002</sub>) and  $10\overline{12}$  (FWHM<sub>1012</sub>) reflections are obtained, the screw and edge dislocations can be estimated by [160]:

Screw dislocation density = 
$$\frac{\text{FWHM}_{0002}^2}{9b^2}$$
 (3-12)

Edge dislocation density = 
$$\frac{\text{FWHM}_{10\bar{1}2}^2}{9b^2}$$
 (3-13)

Hence, it is common to use the FWHM of  $\omega$  scan as a measure of the quality of crystals.

# **3.7** Optical characterization

Optical characterization is a non-destructive characterization technique from which we can extract important physical properties, such as the quality of a film and stress/strain in the film. The two main optical characterization techniques used for this study were photoluminescence (PL) and Raman spectroscopy.

# 3.7.1 Photoluminescence

Luminescence is the process of emitting light upon an external excitation. Photoluminescence (PL) refers to luminescence excited by an external optical source. PL allows us to find out band edge emission and defect optical transitions of the probed sample.

To measure PL for GaN-based materials, a He-Cd laser (325 nm) is used as an excitation source. Sometimes a neutral density filter is placed between the laser and the sample to reduce the intensity of the laser beam incident on the sample (see Figure 3-9). The laser is directed at the sample and the luminescence collected from the sample into a detector. Before the detector, the collected luminescence is directed

at a monochromator, which can reflect different wavelengths of light into the detector. The monochromator is adjusted by a computer automatically, so that a spectrum of the collected PL signal can be detected and saved. The PL spectra obtained for the results in this thesis were collected from Renishaw's 2000 micro-PL setup, using the 325 nm (maximum power: 50 mW) line from a Kimmon He-Cd laser as excitation source. A microscope is incorporated with the equipment, where a spatial resolution of 1  $\mu$ m or better can be achieved with a 40× objective lens. Variable temperature measurements, ranging from 15 to 300 K, could be made using a helium closed cycle cryostat.



Figure 3-9. A simple schematic of a PL setup.

Band edge emission, impurity transitions and defect transitions can be revealed by PL. For excitonic transitions, the PL emissions can be fitted into a Lorentzian line shape; whereas the temperature dependence can be fitted into a Varshni equation [161, 162]. A GaN film with biaxial compressive strain will express a blueshift in its PL, while a GaN film with biaxial tensile strain will express a redshift in its PL [4]. The PL shift happens in the free excitons and bound excitons [161]. A simple relationship between band gap change and biaxial strain in wurtzite GaN can be estimated by [163]:

$$\varepsilon_{xx} = \varepsilon_{yy} \approx -\frac{\Delta E_g}{9.4 \text{ eV}}$$
 (3-14)

where  $\varepsilon_{xx}$  and  $\varepsilon_{yy}$  are the biaxial strains and  $\Delta E_g$  is the change in band gap. Similarly, a simple relationship between band gap change and biaxial stress can be estimated by [163]:

$$\sigma_{xx} = \sigma_{yy} \approx -\frac{\Delta E_g}{20 \pm 3 \text{ meV}} \text{(GPa)}$$
 (3-15)

where  $\sigma_{xx}$  and  $\sigma_{yy}$  are the biaxial stress, in GPa.

# 3.7.2 Raman spectroscopy

A simple schematic of a Raman spectrometer is shown in Figure 3-10. The monochromatic laser beam is directed towards a holographic notch filter. This filter strongly reflects the photons of the laser wavelength, while allowing other wavelengths to transmit through. The laser beam is then directed at the sample through a conventional optical microscope setup. The scattered light is collected and dispersed by a diffraction grating. The CCD detector then captures the dispersed light and converts into recorded spectrum in a computer.



Figure 3-10. Schematic of a Raman spectrometer

Raman scattering occurs when there is inelastic scattering of light on the sample. Inelastic scattering happens when the incident light interacts with the molecules of the sample and results in shifts in the energy of the laser. This happens because the photons transfer momentum to the molecules (resulting in phonons) and the scattered photons lose energy equivalent to the phonons' energy. This shifting provides vibrational information of the sample. The shifting is known as Raman shift. Raman shifts is calculated by:

$$\Delta\omega = \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_0} - \frac{1}{\lambda}\right) \tag{3-16}$$

where  $\Delta \omega$  is the Raman shift,  $\lambda_0$  is the excitation wavelength, and  $\lambda$  is the collected Raman spectrum wavelength. As the Raman shift is commonly expressed in cm<sup>-1</sup>, the Raman shift can be calculated using:

$$\Delta\omega (\mathrm{cm}^{-1}) = \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_0 (\mathrm{nm})} - \frac{1}{\lambda (\mathrm{nm})}\right) \times \frac{10^7 (\mathrm{nm})}{(\mathrm{cm})}$$
(3-17)

For wurtzite GaN, there are several phonon modes characteristic of GaN.

Table 3-2 shows the list of phonon modes (for unstrained GaN) which can be retrieved using a Raman spectrometer.  $E_2$ (high) mode is found to be more sensitive to biaxial stress than other modes [163], and the biaxial stress can be conveniently calculated by [164]:

$$\sigma_{xx} = \sigma_{yy} = -\frac{\Delta\omega}{4.3} \text{GPa cm}$$
(3-18)

where  $\sigma_{xx}$  and  $\sigma_{yy}$  are the biaxial stresses. This means that if the E<sub>2</sub>(high) peak shifts to a larger value, it signifies a biaxial compressive stress, and vice versa. The Raman spectroscopy results in this thesis were obtained from Renishaw's inVia Raman system, with 532 nm laser.

Modes	Raman peaks (cm <sup>-1</sup> )
E <sub>2</sub> (low)	144.0
A <sub>1</sub> (TO)	531.8
E <sub>1</sub> (TO)	558.8
E <sub>2</sub> (high)	567.6
A <sub>1</sub> (LO)	734.0
<b>E</b> <sub>1</sub> ( <b>LO</b> )	741.0

Table 3-2. Phonon modes of wurtzite GaN measured by Raman spectroscopy. Figures retrieved from reference [165].

# Chapter 4. Nanostructured silicon by metalassisted chemical etching

# 4.1 Introduction

This chapter provides a brief review of metal-assisted chemical etching (MACE). The procedures to fabricate silicon nanostructures by MACE are then presented. The physics and chemistry of MACE are explained briefly. Several experimental parameters were varied to investigate their effects on the resultant silicon nanostructures. From the results, the optimum etching conditions are then determined for controllable and reliable etching of silicon.

# 4.2 Introduction and basic phenomenon of metal-assisted chemical etching

In the field of semiconductors, no other material is as well researched as silicon. Hence, when great scientific attention began on nanotechnology in the 2000's, various fabrication methods were formulated to form silicon nanostructures. The methods could be broadly categorized into bottom-up and top-down approaches. Bottom-up approaches include vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) growth; top-down approaches include reactive ion etching (RIE), electrochemical etching and metal-assisted chemical etching (MACE).

MACE has garnered much scientific interest because of its several strengths [166]. First of all, it is a simple and low cost technique. After deposition of a noble metal (between 2 to 20 nm thick) on a silicon substrate, an immersion of the substrate in the prepared etchant is all that is required to form nanostructures. Patterning can be done by using a template mask [167-171], by dewetting the metal film through annealing [172, 173], or by simply taking advantage of the spontaneously formed patterns of deposited discontinuous films [174]. No other special equipment is required. Second, crystallinity of nanostructures is generally maintained as they are etched out of high quality single crystalline silicon substrates. Third, structures of nano-size features with high aspect ratios can be formed rapidly with this technique. This is because the etch rate is fast, with reported etch rates of up to 4.5  $\mu$ m/min [175], and there is no apparent limit to how small the features of fabricated nanostructures can get [166]. These are some of the reasons why metal-assisted chemical etching stands out among other nanofabrication techniques.

However, the disadvantage to using this technique is the increased probability of metal contamination. As noble metals are used to cover a large area of the substrate, there is always a chance of incomplete removal of the catalytic metal.

# 4.3 Literature review of silicon nanostructures formed by metal-assisted chemical etching

One of the earliest reports on MACE of silicon came from Dimova-Malinovska et al. [176]. They reported the preferential etching of silicon when aluminum is in contact with silicon. This opened a new avenue in silicon patterning. Subsequently, it was discovered that several other metals such as gold [177], silver [178] and platinum [177, 178] were also suitable as catalyst.

In MACE, a noble metal is first deposited on the silicon substrate. The noble metals found to be suitable include gold, silver and platinum, but gold is more widely used. Then a solution containing HF and an oxidizing agent is used to etch the prepared sample. The noble metal catalytically enhances etching of silicon beneath it, compared to areas with no metal coverage. Due to downwards etching, the metal sinks into the silicon substrate. The metal coverage determines the area where preferential etching occurs, hence nanostructures of various shapes and sizes can be fabricated by controlling the metal coverage pattern.

While it is sufficient to etch silicon by using just HF mixed with an oxidizing agent, the reaction is usually very slow (at less than 10 nm/h [166]) without catalytic metal on it. The dominant explanation provided in the literature on the role of catalytic metal is that it catalyzes the reduction of the oxidant (e.g. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or AgNO<sub>3</sub>) to produce holes in the catalyst which then migrate to the silicon to promote its oxidation. The catalytic behavior of the metal is commonly attributed to its negatively charged surface which attracts the positively charged oxidizing ions to it. Some researchers attribute this effect to the higher electronegativity of the catalytic metal, when compared to silicon [175, 179, 180]. Some researchers reasoned that it is a natural occurrence for the metal nanoparticles to gain a negatively charged surface at the solution's pH level [170]. Unfortunately, most publications merely state that the deposited metals function as catalysts without much elaboration [177, 178, 181-183]. This is because it is difficult to experimentally observe the microscopic behavior of the etching process [173].

In a particular case where the etchant consists of a mixture of HF and AgNO<sub>3</sub> [184], silicon nanostructures can be formed without prior deposition of noble metals on the substrate. The concentration of AgNO<sub>3</sub> used is usually small as too high concentrations (> 0.3 M) will not result in formation of nanostructures [185]. When silicon is immersed in the etchant, silver nanoparticles precipitate out on the substrate. The newly precipitated silver now acts as a catalyst to etch silicon. As more silver precipitates out, it naturally forms an incomplete film on the silicon surface with nanoscale patterning (size features of less than 50 nm) and dendrites eventually form. This nanoscale patterning is transferred onto silicon, thus forming an array of silicon

nanostructures. We refer this nanofabrication method as one-step MACE [186]. Due to its simplicity in creating nanopatterning, we make use of such nanopatterned substrates to investigate III-nitride growth on silicon nanostructures.

Masks formed by various techniques such as nanosphere lithography [167, 168, 187, 188], soft lithography [169], interference lithography [189], optical lithography [170], and anodic aluminum oxide [171, 190, 191] are used to form patterned metal on silicon substrate. The masks are utilized together with deposition of the catalytic metal to form the desired pattern of the required size features. The patterned metal can be fabricated either by forming the mask template before depositing the catalytic metal (negative mask pattern), or by depositing a continuous film of the catalytic metal and then subsequently patterning it with the mask template (positive mask pattern). In this way, a desired pattern can be achieved with the mask, thus attaining the required arrangement and shape of nanostructures. However, the inclusion of the mask template complicates the procedures. Even when no pre-patterning is done, a separate step is still required to deposit the catalytic metal. The additional step required prior to the chemical etching could be evaporation [187], sputtering [191], electrodeposition [181], or spin-coating [169]. Therefore, one-step etching is attractive because of the simplicity that it provides for the experimentalists. However, the simplicity comes at a cost: there is no direct control over the shape and sizes of the etched nanostructures. As an investigative research on how GaN film growth is influenced by silicon nanostructures, it is logical to use a simple nanofabrication technique. Hence, the combination of electroless deposition with MACE is attractive for our studies.

### **4.3.1** Effects of substrate doping and porosity

The doping level is also found to affect the roughness and the porosity of each nanostructure. The porosity here is referring to the nanostructure being microporous

or mesoporous. MACE of higher doping level silicon is found to produce rougher [192] and porous [188] silicon nanostructures, for both p-type [193] and n-type [186] silicon. In addition, a porous layer of silicon is sometimes observed to be underneath the resultant nanostructures [188] as well. Since porous silicon can form from highly doped silicon without catalytic metal in the etching solution, it was hypothesized that the etching occurs preferentially at the impurities' sites [188, 193]. The more generally accepted explanation of porous silicon formation with highly doped silicon is that diffusion of excess injected holes from the oxidant [166, 170, 194]. As it is more energetically favorable to inject holes to highly doped silicon than lowly doped silicon [193], highly doped silicon is more likely to have excess holes. These excess holes can diffuse in the silicon to sites away from the metal-silicon interface, and then subsequently oxidize silicon to form porous silicon.

The etch rate of MACE is known to be affected by the substrate doping type [166]. It was found that MACE has a slower etch rate on p-type substrates than on n-type substrates [166, 188, 195]. However, reports on the effect on the etch rate for different doping levels is not consistent in the literature. For instance, Li et al. reported similar etch rates between  $p^-$  and  $p^+$  silicon etched by MACE [177]; whereas Cruz et al. reported that the etch rate on  $p^-$  silicon was 1.5 times faster than that on  $p^+$  silicon [196]. It is currently unclear why the doping levels affect the etch rate [166], but it has been hypothesized that the competition between non-catalytic chemical etching of highly doped silicon and the MACE process reduces the etch rate of MACE [188].

### 4.3.2 Effects of the ratio of HF and oxidant

The concentration of HF and the oxidant was found to affect both the etching rate and also the morphologies of the etched nanostructures. Chartier et al. systematically studied the influence of the  $HF/H_2O_2$  ratio on the etching rate and on the etched

morphologies of Si substrates (p-type (100) silicon wafers, 1-2  $\Omega$  cm were used), with silver as the catalytic metal [175]. They concluded that the morphologies were determined by the molar ratio  $\rho$ , which is defined as [HF]/([HF]+[H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>]) [175]. When  $\rho$  is greater than 70%, Ag particles caused formation of straight vertical pores. When  $\rho$  is less than 70% but greater than 20%, cone-shaped pores were formed. For  $\rho$ less than 20%, the etching is deemed to transit into the polishing regime, hence the useful range for  $\rho$  is greater than 20%. Qu et al. found that if the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration is low at 0.1 M (or  $\rho \approx 98\%$ ), the resultant nanostructures (etched from a highly doped n-type Si(100) wafer) will be solid and non-porous [186].

The reason for the increase in porosity with higher concentration of oxidizing agent is because a higher concentration will inject excessive holes to silicon [166, 170, 188]. The holes are injected through the catalytic metal into silicon. If the concentration of the oxidizing agent is low, injected holes are expected to stay within the proximity of the injected site, oxidizing silicon only at the catalytic metal. If the oxidizing agent concentration is high, there will be excessive holes injected. The excessive holes will transport away and oxidize silicon away from the catalytic metal, causing formation of microporous silicon on areas with no metal coverage.

### 4.3.3 Effects of substrate crystallography

The etching direction of MACE is known to be preferentially in the  $\langle 100 \rangle$  crystallographic directions. For silicon (100) substrates, the etching direction is vertically downwards [184, 197]. For (110) substrates, it is observed that the etching direction is in the [100] direction, forming slanting silicon nanostructures [197]. For silicon (111) substrates, it has been reported that etching silicon with a 10-50 nm thick Ag nanoparticles using 4.6 M HF and 0.44 M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> resulted in slanted nanostructures in [100] directions [198], with a minority in the vertical [111] direction [197]. Subsequently, Huang et al. [199] found that the etching direction on

silicon (111) substrates could be controlled between [100] and [111], by changing the concentration of the oxidant. It was found that lower oxidant concentration leads to etching in the [100] direction, while higher oxidant concentration leads to etching in the [111] direction. Huang et al. suggested that this occurs because there exist two competing dissolution processes of silicon, namely Model I and Model II [199]. In Model I, direct dissolution of silicon occurs, as in Equation (4-1) [199]:

$$Si(s) + 4HF_2^- \rightarrow SiF_6^{2-} + 2HF + H_2 + 2e^-$$
 (4-1)

In Model II, silicon oxide forms first before dissolution of oxide, as given in Equation (4-2) and (4-3) [199]:

$$Si(s) + 2H_2O \rightarrow SiO_2(s) + 4H^+ + 4e^-$$
 (4-2)

$$\mathrm{SiO}_{2}(\mathrm{s}) + 6\mathrm{HF} \rightarrow \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{SiF}_{6} + 2\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}$$

$$(4-3)$$

Huang et al. argued that when the oxidant concentration is low, the etching is limited by the transfer of electrons, causing it to proceed by Model I. As silicon undergoes direct dissolution, the prevailing etching direction is in the [100] direction due to the lower back-bond strength of the (100) planes when compared to (111) [200]. When oxidant concentration is high, it is suggested that the oxide formation is fast, thus oxide is formed first before it is subsequently dissolved by HF in the solution [199]. As formation of oxide occurs preferentially underneath the catalytic metal, the etching direction is vertically downwards. Note that as oxide etching is isotropic, the difference in back-bond strengths between different planes does not matter.

# **4.4** Silicon nanostructures preparations

The fabrication of Si nanostructure arrays closely follows that of Peng et al., Tan et al. and Cheng et al. [184, 201, 202]. Prior to etching, Si(111) wafers (n-type, phosphorus doped with resistivity of 1-10  $\Omega$  cm) were cleaned in acetone, isopropyl alcohol (IPA)

and deionized water (DI H<sub>2</sub>O) sequentially in ultrasonic bath for 5 min each. This was to ensure the wafers were free of organic grease. The wafers were then immersed in piranha solution, heated on a hotplate set to 200 °C, for 20 min. The piranha solution is prepared by mixing sulfuric acid (97%) and hydrogen peroxide (33%) in 3:1 volume ratio. This piranha solution acts as an aggressive oxidant to remove organic contaminants. After piranha cleaning, the back surfaces of the silicon wafers were spincoated with photoresist. This protects the back surfaces from the etching solution. As the silicon wafers were left with a thin layer of silicon oxide after piranha cleaning, the wafers were etched in diluted HF solution for 1 min to remove the oxide. The hydrophobic surface of silicon wafers indicates the oxide was removed. The silicon wafers were then rinsed with running deionized water for about a minute.

For the etching of silicon, a water bath of the required temperature (ranging from 10 to 65 °C) was prepared and a Teflon beaker containing HF and AgNO<sub>3</sub> of the required concentration (ranging from 1.0 to 7.0 M for HF concentration and 0.01 to 0.04 M for AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentration) was placed in the bath. To ensure that the temperature of the etching solution was as close as possible to the required temperature, the beaker was placed inside the temperature bath for 10 min before commencement of the etching. The wafer was then immersed into the beaker for etching. After immersion for the required duration, the wafer was transferred quickly into a beaker of deionized water to halt etching. The substrate was then rinsed with copious deionized water to remove any etching solution.

The etched wafers were covered by a thick coating of silver dendrites (Figure 4-4). To remove the silver dendrites deposit, the wafers were placed in a solution of nitric acid, hydrochloric acid and deionized water (where  $HNO_3$ :HCl:DI H<sub>2</sub>O had a volume ratio of 1:1:1). After 30 min, the wafer was retrieved and then rinsed with deionized water. The etched wafers were then immersed in acetone then IPA to remove the

protective photoresist on the back surface. After rinsing in deionized water, the substrates were blown dry with nitrogen.

TEM analysis was done on the silicon nanostructures to verify their crystallinity. From Figure 4-1, we can observe that the nanostructures retained their single crystal nature, with their longitudinal axes parallel to the (111) direction, which is normal to the wafer surface. The substrates used were Si(111), so this also showed that the etching direction of this process is generally vertical and perpendicular to the substrate surface. Microporous silicon [175] was not observed, as lightly doped silicon wafers were used [203].



Figure 4-1. TEM image of the tip of a typical silicon nanostructure etched by one-step MACE from a Si(111) wafer. Inset shows the SADP, where the sharp defined spots indicated that the nanostructure maintained its high crystallinity. It can be seen that the longitudinal axis of the nanostructure lies along the  $\langle 111 \rangle$  direction, which is also the normal of the wafer. The broken black lines are visual aids which outline the silicon nanostructure.

# 4.5 Chemistry and thermodynamics of one-step metal-assisted chemical etching

Before etching occurs, a reduction of the silver ions happens on the silicon surface, where the reduction half-reaction is [180]:

$$Ag^+ \rightleftharpoons Ag(s) + h^+$$
 (4-4)

As a redox reaction, there is a corresponding oxidation reaction where silicon is oxidized, following the chemical half-reaction [175, 180]:

$$Si(s) + 2H_2O + 4h^+ \rightleftharpoons SiO_2(s) + 4H^+$$
 (4-5)

The presence of HF will then subsequently etch away the silicon oxide, where:

$$\operatorname{SiO}_2(s) + 6\operatorname{HF} \to \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{SiF}_6 + 2\operatorname{H}_2O \tag{4-6}$$

After the initial silver deposition, the reaction then proceeds through the mechanism of MACE, described earlier in this Chapter. The reaction can be separated into cathode (at the liquid-silver interface) and anode (at the silver-silicon interface) reactions. The cathode reaction is given by Equation (4-4), and the anode reaction is given by [175]:

$$\operatorname{Si}(\mathrm{s}) + 6\mathrm{HF} + n\mathrm{h}^{+} \to \mathrm{H}_{2}\operatorname{SiF}_{6} + n\mathrm{H}^{+} + \frac{4-n}{2}\mathrm{H}_{2} \uparrow$$
(4-7)

Hence, the overall reaction is described as:

$$nAg^{+} + Si(s) + 6HF \rightarrow nAg(s) + H_2SiF_6 + nH^{+} + \frac{4-n}{2}H_2 \uparrow$$
 (4-8)

The chemical reaction can be understood by the schematic shown in Figure 4-2. In the first part of the reaction, silver ions are reduced to solid silver and nucleate on the silicon surface (A in Figure 4-2). The nucleation of silver will inject holes into silicon, causing oxidation to form silicon oxide. This nucleation is a process which will occur at energetically favorable sites. Since the silicon wafer is atomically flat, nucleation happens randomly (see Figure 4-3). Note that the density of the nanoparticles is much less than the density of the nanostructures (see Figure 4-5). This is because as there is

no HF in the solution, oxidizing silicon will form silicon oxide. The reaction will rapidly proceed until the silicon surface is coated completely with a thin protective layer of silicon oxide. Since only a limited amount of silicon is oxidized, only a limited amount of silver is precipitate out before the reaction halts completely.



Figure 4-2. Schematic of the formation of silver dendrites and silicon nanostructures.

Next, the presence of HF in the solution will etch away the silicon oxide and cause the silver nanoparticles to be in direct contact with the silicon substrate (B in Figure 4-2). The randomly nucleated silver will decorate the whole silicon wafer (C in Figure 4-2). Once silver is in direct contact with silicon, the process proceeds through the mechanism of MACE. Silver ions preferentially precipitate on existing silver rather than on silicon, while a simultaneous silicon etching occurs beneath the silver which is in direct contact with silicon. As the etching proceeds, more and more silver will be precipitated. The precipitated silver will eventually form a network of silver dendrites, and sink into the silicon substrate to form nanostructures (D in Figure 4-2). The difference between this one-step MACE and other forms of MACE is that catalytic metal (silver in this case) is precipitated out simultaneously with etching. After the required duration for etching is done, silver can be etched away by using a mixture of HCl, HNO<sub>3</sub> and deionized water, leaving behind silicon nanostructures (E in Figure 4-2). This method is simple as only one step is required (other than the cleaning steps), but the disadvantage is that there is no control over the deposition of silver.

The typical appearance of the final silicon nanostructures can be represented by Figure 4-5. The widths of the nanostructures are between 20 to 60 nm, and they compose about 30-40% of the silicon surface area (or about 60-70% of the surface was etched down).



Figure 4-3. SEM micrograph of silver nanoparticles (in white) nucleated on silicon in a solution with  $0.02 \text{ M AgNO}_3$  (with no HF). It can be observed that the silver nanoparticles nucleate randomly over the silicon surface.



Figure 4-4. Cross-sectional SEM image of silicon wafer after etching in the AgNO<sub>3</sub> and HF solution. The thick film of silver dendrites reached about  $5\,\mu m$  in height after one minute of etching. Inset shows the plan view of the silver dendrites.



Figure 4-5. SEM image of a typical silicon nanostructured substrate etched by the one-step MACE process. The nanostructures have widths from 20 to 60 nm and occupy about 30-40% of the substrate's surface area. Darkened areas denote where etching has taken place. Inset shows a cross-sectional SEM of the silicon nanostructure array.

# 4.6 Experimental factors affecting results

The etching conditions given by Peng et al. [184] were followed (5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 50 °C). However, after just 1 min of etching, it was found that the "skyline" (collective outline of the nanostructures' tips) was not flat (see Figure 4-6). This suggested that some form of damage was inflicted on the nanostructures' tips, where the tips were removed partially forming recessed tips. Such recession of the nanostructures' tips had been reported elsewhere but at a much lower HF concentration and for longer etching duration [204]. Unfortunately, the authors did not identify nor suggest any reasons for such recession. This is undesired because the top surface of the nanostructure should be Si(111) plane, which is the silicon's most ideal crystallographic face for III-nitride growth. Subsequently, it was found that stirring the solution while etching provided a better morphology (flat "skyline").



Figure 4-6. Silicon nanostructures etched for 1 min in solution containing 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 50 °C. The broken white line outlines the uneven "skyline" across the nanostructures, indicating that some form of damage was inflicted on the top surface.



Figure 4-7. Schematic of a proposed mechanism on how stirring of the etching solution reduced (or eliminated) the damage observed on the tip of silicon nanostructures. (A) When etching is done at higher temperatures, hydrogen bubbles evolve at a significant rate. When stirring is not implemented, (B1) the bubbles are attached to the nanostructures long enough to grow to a size, (C1) which can significantly damage the tip of the nanostructures. When stirring is implemented, (B2) the agitation allows the hydrogen bubbles to detach from the nanostructures while they are still small. Thus, (C2) avoiding mechanical damage to the silicon nanostructures' tips.

The following explanation is suggested. As etching at higher temperatures has a higher etch rate, hence hydrogen will be generated, according to Equation (4-8), at a higher rate. Escaping hydrogen bubbles impose strains on the silicon nanostructures as they escape out of the etching solution, and this got worse with higher hydrogen generation. The evolution of the hydrogen bubbles is sufficiently violent to damage the top regions of the fragile nanostructures, by breaking them mechanically. Stirring agitates the solution and allows the hydrogen bubbles to escape at a higher rate, allowing the hydrogen to escape as small bubbles. This effectively reduced the strain from escaping hydrogen bubbles. An illustration of both mechanisms can be

represented by Figure 4-7. Etching at lower temperatures (i.e. 25 °C) does not have such undesirable recessions because the hydrogen gas did not evolve violently as the etch rates are slower. However, stirring would increase the likelihood of silver removal from the silicon surface, and etching would be stopped. Therefore, it is frequent to observe shiny swirl marks on the surface after etching, as etching halts in those areas due to silver removal. It should also be noted that stirring of the solution also results in faster etching. Hence, both stirring and no stirring were implemented for this investigation, depending on which was necessary.

### 4.6.1 Silver nitrate concentration

The silver nitrate concentration was varied to find out its effect on the etching reaction. The etching was done at 50 °C for 1 min with the etching solution containing 5.0 M HF, and stirring was implemented. Only the silver nitrate concentration was varied. Three different concentrations were used for comparison: 0.01 M, 0.02 M and 0.04 M. The concentration of silver nitrate was not varied too much, as large deviations were known to be unable to form nanostructures [185]. As etched nanostructures were significantly recessed [204] when etched with one of the etching condition (5.0 M HF, 0.04 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> 50 °C, with stirring), another set of specially prepared substrates was used to determine the recessed depth.

For this set of experiments, the Si(111) substrates were coated with lines of photoresist (MicroChemicals AZ 5214E), which covers about 20% of the substrate's surface. The area covered by the photoresist will be protected against the etching solution [204]. The substrates underwent a descum process using a reactive ion etching (RIE) system before MACE was done. This is to ensure the exposed surface is free of organic contaminants.



Figure 4-8. Cross-sectional SEM images of nanostructures after 1 min of chemical etching at 50  $^{\circ}$ C in a solution containing 5.0 M HF and different AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentrations (0.01, 0.02 and 0.04 M). Stirring was implemented. Recession of the nanostructures is only observed for substrates etched using the etching solution with 0.04 M AgNO<sub>3</sub>. The "skyline" of the nanostructures etched using the etching solution with 0.04 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> is outlined by the jagged broken line.

After etching, the recessed depth can then be determined by comparing the regions protected by the photoresist and the exposed regions. From Figure 4-8, it can be seen that only the nanostructures etched out using the solution with 0.04 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> have recessed nanostructures, while nanostructures etched out using 0.01 and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> have their tips level with the protected silicon surface. It is interesting to note that for etching using the solution containing 0.01 and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub>, the etched out nanostructures did not form on regions just next to the boundary of the photoresist, but only after about 6 µm away from the boundary. The etch rates of both 0.01 M and 0.02 M was found to be about 700 nm/min and 1300 nm/min, respectively. The height of the nanostructures formed using the solution with 0.04 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> was found

to be about 730 nm tall; but a significant recession of the nanostructures was observed to be about 1200 nm deep. Hence, the total etch rate for the  $0.04 \text{ M AgNO}_3$  solution was almost 2000 nm/min.



Figure 4-9. Graph comparing the nanostructures' height after 1 min of chemical etching at 50  $^{\circ}$ C in a solution containing 5.0 M HF and varying AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentrations. Stirring was implemented. Cross-sectional SEM images of the different AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentrations are given in Figure 4-10.

From the cross-sectional SEM image (see Figure 4-8), it was observed that the "skyline" was not flat as well. This seems to suggest that the higher AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentration provided too high a driving force toward silver nanoparticle precipitation, such that a very compact film of coagulated silver nanoparticles formed. The highly compact silver agglomerate does not allow very tall nanostructures to be formed. As the silver sinks into silicon, a film of the silver nanoparticles will eventually be in direct contact with the nanostructures' tips. Etching of the tips would then occur through metal-assisted chemical etching. A schematic of this excessive etching mechanism is illustrated in Figure 4-10. In order to avoid the excessive tip

etching, the substrate we prepared for MOCVD growth was etched with a solution containing 0.02 M silver nitrate.



Figure 4-10. Schematic showing how a dense layer of silver dendrites (A) results in etching of the silicon nanostructures' tips and a less dense layer of silver dendrites (B) leaves the silicon nanostructures' tips intact.

# 4.6.2 Temperature

A temperature variation of between 10 to 65 °C of the etching solution was done. The rest of the etching conditions remained constant (i.e. immersion for 1 min in etching solution containing 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> was done). Stirring was implemented in this study. We confirmed that the etching rate increases with temperature. To be specific, the etch rates increases in the form of Arrhenius equation, in the form of etch rate = A  $\exp(-E_a/kT)$ , where A is a constant,  $E_a$  is an activation energy, k is Boltzmann's constant and T is temperature in kelvins. We fit the Arrhenius equation to our experimental values and found the activation energy to be  $0.33 \pm 0.02$  eV. This value is close to the 0.36 eV determined by Cheng et al. [202] and

the 0.37 eV determined by Nassiopoulou et al. [205], which they had determined for Si(100) substrates. In addition, this activation energy is similar to that for etching  $SiO_2$  with HF, as determined by Judge (between 0.35 to 0.40 eV) [206]. This suggests that the rate limiting reaction is likely to be the same as that of etching  $SiO_2$  in HF; however, stronger evidence is necessary to confirm this.



Figure 4-11. Graph of etch rate against temperature of the etching solution (5.0 M HF,  $0.02 \text{ M AgNO}_3$ ). The etching duration was fixed at 1 min. The broken line plot is fitted to an Arrhenius equation, based on the experimental data.

Upon closer inspection, the arrays of nanostructures did not have their tips aligned to a flat plane for etching done at 55 °C, and this is even worse at 65 °C. This indicates that although a higher temperature would provide a faster etch rate, it tends to damage tips of nanostructures. This signified that tips will still be damaged even with stirring (possibly by more violent hydrogen bubble evolution), at elevated temperatures. Since the purpose of stirring is to avoid tip etching, yet they still occur at elevated temperatures, it is favorable to etch at lower temperatures. Since the etch rates were determined by measuring the height of the resultant nanostructures, the etch rates at higher temperatures will be underestimated. With this in mind, it should be noted that the calculated activation energy is an underestimated value. This is consistent with the lower calculated activation energy (0.33 eV) when compared with the literature.

When etched without stirring at 25  $^{\circ}$ C, it was found that the "skyline" of the etched substrate is still flat after 1 min of etching. The etch rate for 25  $^{\circ}$ C was found to be about 90 nm/min, which is almost 4 times slower than with stirring (330 nm/min).

# 4.6.3 Hydrofluric acid concentration



Figure 4-12. Graph of etch rate against HF concentration. Data points in circles were obtained from 1 min etching at 50 °C, and data points in triangles were obtained from 5 min etching at 25 °C. The AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentration was fixed at 0.02 M. No stirring was implemented. The higher errors for etching at 50 °C at higher HF concentrations are derived from the uneven etching from the etching conditions. The black line serves as a visual aid to mark the linear relationship between etch rate and HF concentration for 25 °C.

The HF concentration was varied to investigate how it would affect the nanostructure formation. Initially, the etching conditions were fixed at 50  $\,^\circ$ C, 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> for 1-minute etching, with only HF concentration being varied from 1.0 to 7.0 M. No stirring was implemented. It was found that the etch rate increased with increasing

HF concentration; at the same time, increasing HF concentration also increased the damage done to the tips of the nanostructures, and serious uneven etching occurs at 7.0 M HF. This makes such etching conditions very undesirable.

In the next series of experiments, the etching temperature was reduced to 25  $^{\circ}$ C and the etching time was increased to 5 min. The etching time was increased to 5 min as it is easier to measure the height of taller nanostructures. From Figure 4-12, it can be seen that the etching rate of experiments at 25  $^{\circ}$ C closely followed a linear relationship with HF concentration. This supports that HF is involved in the process and that its consumption is part of the rate limiting process. However, it should be noted that this does not verify the existence of an intermediate oxide. HF will be part of the rate limiting process, whether silicon forms an intermediate oxide first or silicon oxidizes directly to H<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>.

# 4.6.4 Etching duration

A series of experiments were done to determine how the height of the nanostructures varies with the etching duration. The etching solution used was fixed at 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> and 5.0 M HF at 25 °C. No stirring of the solution was used. It was found that the etching follows an approximately linear relationship with the etching duration (see Figure 4-13).

It was reported by several researchers that the etching rate has a linear relationship with etching duration [202, 207]. However, we found that there are two distinct regimes, a short etching time regime and a long etching time regime. The short etching time regime was found to have an etching rate of 1.51 nm/sec, which after 100 s it increased to 2.70 nm/sec. This seemingly contradicts Ozdemir et al.'s observations [208] where they reported a decrease of the etching rate after some time. This is because their observation was for much longer etching periods (up to 600 min) than our experiments (up to 600 s). Hence, we suspect that the etch rate for our setup would decrease after a few hours as well.



Figure 4-13. Graph of height of etched nanostructures against etching time. Etching conditions were 25 °C, 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> and 5.0 M HF, and no stirring was used. The lines serve as visual aids for the linear relationships, where the dotted line is for the short etching time regime and solid line is for the long etching time regime.

We attribute this change of etching rate to the catalytic characteristics of the dendritic silver film. In the short etching time regime (less than 100 s), silver precipitated to form discontinuous film over the whole wafer with formation of few silver dendrites (see Figure 4-14a-c). When the dendrites have sufficient coverage over the sample (see Figure 4-14d-e), the etching changed into the long etching time regime (more than 100 s) with faster etching. A possible reason is that the large surface area of silver dendrites, which are efficient in capturing silver ions for the redox reaction. It should be noted that the 100-second transition time is expected to vary with etching conditions. The time over which etching transforms to the next regime should strongly depend on how fast silver dendrites are formed.



Figure 4-14. Plan view SEM images showing the evolution of the dendritic silver film coverage with etching duration by one-step MACE in 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25 °C. The etching duration is indicated above the corresponding SEM image. After 20 s of etching (a), a negligible amount of silver dendrites were formed (only silver nanoparticles formed, which are not distinguishable at this magnification). After 40 s of etching (b), small clusters of silver dendrites (about 1 to 2  $\mu$ m in size) started appearing over the surface. After 60 s of etching (c), the clusters of silver dendrites grew, with some reaching 10  $\mu$ m in size. However, the silver dendrites only occupied less than 10% of the total substrate's surface. Beyond 120 s of etching (d and e), silver dendrites covered more than half of the total substrate's surface.

For etching times of 5 min or less, there existed only small variations in the height of nanostructures. In addition, the height of nanostructures can be controlled easily by varying the etching duration, as it follows very closely the linear relationship with 2 regimes: short etching time regime (below 100 s) and long etching time regime (100 to 600 s). This shows that this selected etching condition (25 °C, 5.0 M HF, 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub>, and no stirring) is both reliable and controllable (by adjusting the etching time) to obtain the desired nanostructure height.

# 4.6.5 Size variation of nanostructures with etching duration

The feature size of the nanostructures was found to change with etching duration. The feature sizes were obtained by taking the average nanostructure size, based on measurements done on plan-view SEM images. As seen from Figure 4-15, size

features of the silicon nanostructures remained generally the same until after 60 s of etching. When the etching duration reached 120 s, the trenches appeared to have widened from about 80 nm to 100 nm. When the etching duration reached 300 s, the widths of the trenches seemed to increase to about 120 nm. The apparent increase in nanostructure size after 300 s of etching is because of capillary-induced agglomeration [209] between nearby nanostructures, making them look like larger nanostructures. This is probably due to the high aspect ratio of nanostructures (about 10) after 300 s of etching, which caused them to bend easily [210]. Capillary forces act on the nanostructures during drying, which pull the nanostructures together and pin them together [209].



Figure 4-15. Plan-view SEM images of silicon nanostructures etched for various durations by one-step MACE in 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25 °C. The etching duration is indicated above the corresponding SEM image. The images are converted to black and white so that it is easier to compare the SEM images visually. The white areas are the standing silicon nanostructures and the black areas are the etched trenches.

# 4.7 Conclusion

We have characterized the formation of silicon nanostructures using a simple and low cost 1-step electroless etching technique, where crystallinity of the substrate is maintained. However, the disadvantages of this technique are that there could be contamination due to the presence of the catalytic metal and there is little control over the position, size and shape of the nanostructures. The mechanism of electroless etching was discussed and we investigated the effects of varying several etching conditions, such as the AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentration, temperature, HF concentration, and etching duration, systematically. It was found that several etching conditions would damage the nanostructures' tips, either by violent evolution of hydrogen bubbles or excessive tip etching by a dense layer of silver dendrites. Such conditions include a silver nitrate concentration of 0.04 M, temperature at 55 °C or higher, and HF concentration of 7.0 M. We have also obtained the activation energy of this reaction as  $0.33 \pm 0.02$  eV by fitting to an Arrhenius equation, which is close to the activation energy of SiO<sub>2</sub> etching with HF. This suggested that the rate limiting reaction of onestep MACE resembles that of etching SiO<sub>2</sub> in HF. Finally, we found a suitable etching condition (25 °C, 5.0 M HF, 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub>, and no stirring) which produces desirable structures with little nanostructure tips etching, up to 600 s. The height can be controlled by adjusting the etching duration. 2 distinct regimes are also observed: short etching time regime and long etching time regime.

# Chapter 5. III-nitride growth on nanopatterned silicon substrates

# 5.1 Introduction

The aim of MOCVD growth on nanopatterned silicon substrates is to obtain IIInitride films on top of the silicon substrates. This is to reap the benefits as described in earlier chapters of a compliant substrate. We found out that it is critical to have a thin AlN nucleation layer and short enough silicon nanostructures in order to form a smooth GaN layer. We have also compared various different growth structures as buffer layers for comparison of their effectiveness in producing a good quality GaN layer. The GaN grown on flat silicon was placed against GaN grown on nanopatterned silicon, indicating some material improvements compared to using nanopatterned silicon.

To start off the discussion of growth of GaN on silicon, we should investigate the nucleation aspect as that is the first layer deposited on silicon. Due to several intrinsic material differences described in Chapter 1, direct deposition of GaN is incompatible with silicon [48]. One serious problem is meltback etching, which can be avoided by using a thermally stable AlN as the first layer (as described in Chapter 2). Therefore, AlN nucleation is important as it is the first step towards forming a good III-nitride material on silicon. Some growth parameters, such as the chamber pressure and growth rates, were varied in the investigation of AlN nucleation on silicon nanostructures.

In this chapter, the growth of GaN on nanostructured silicon will be examined. As an AlN nucleation layer is required before the growth of GaN, studies were done on AlN

deposition on silicon nanostructures. The chamber pressure and growth rates were varied, and effects of such variations in parameters are discussed. The height of nanostructures was also varied to observe the height effect on subsequent GaN growth. Different growth structures were then implemented on nanostructured silicon and compared. The quality of GaN layers was also compared between those grown on nanostructured silicon and flat silicon.

# 5.2 AlN nucleation on silicon nanostructures

Growth was performed in an EMCORE D125 MOCVD system, with TMAI and ammonia as source gases. Hydrogen was used as the carrier gas. Before growth, the samples consisting of nanostructured silicon were etched in dilute HF for 1 min to remove the native oxide. The samples were then rinsed in deionized water and blown dry with nitrogen, before they were loaded into the reactor. An AlN nucleation layer was deposited by flowing TMAI and NH<sub>3</sub> at 1070 °C. The TMAI flowrate and chamber pressure were varied to observe the effects on the deposition. A pre-flow of TMAI was carried out for 12 s at 1070 °C, prior to introducing NH<sub>3</sub>, to avoid nitridation of the silicon.

# 5.2.1 Effects of pressure

Figure 5-1 shows the growth rates of AlN as a function of reactor pressure (averaged over a duration of 30 min), on both nanostructured silicon and flat silicon. A TMAl flow rate of 51.9 µmol/min was used for Figure 5-1 whereas the TMAl flow rate was reduced to 25.9 µmol/min in Figure 5-2. The lines are the best fitted graphs of Chen et al.'s equation for parasitic reactions [152], which will be explained later.

From Figure 5-1, it can be seen that the growth rate decreases with increasing chamber pressure, i.e. growth efficiency decreases as chamber pressure increases. Neither reaction limited nor mass transport limited regimes can explain this phenomenon. The reason behind this decreasing growth efficiency with increasing chamber pressure is parasitic reactions or gas phase depletion [152].



Figure 5-1. Graph of growth rates of deposited AlN versus reactor pressure. Deposition duration is 30 min. TMAI flow rate is 51.9  $\mu$ mol/min. The growth rates of AlN deposited on flat silicon (labeled as 'ref') are presented together with growth rates of AlN deposited on silicon nanostructures (labeled as 'nanostructure'). The AlN growth rates on nanostructures were obtained by measuring AlN thicknesses from the tip of the silicon nanostructures. The line is the best fitted graphs of Chen et al.'s equation (see Equation (5-6)) for parasitic reactions [152]. The insets are the cross-sectional SEM images of AlN deposited on nanostructures, with varying pressures. The scale bars are 500 nm.

Parasitic reactions are homogeneous reactions which consume the gaseous precursors before they can be used for the heterogeneous deposition. According to several references [152, 153], the parasitic reaction of TMAl and NH<sub>3</sub> is a second order
bimolecular reaction. These homogeneous reactions are governed by the following equations [211],

Parasitic Reaction Rate 
$$\propto$$
 [TMAI]  $\times$  [NH<sub>3</sub>]  $\times e^{\frac{-E_a}{kT_{gas}}}$ , or (5-1)

Parasitic Reaction Rate 
$$\propto \frac{P_{TMAl}P_{NH_3}}{(kT_{gas})^2} \times e^{\frac{-E_a}{kT_{gas}}}$$
 (5-2)



Figure 5-2. Graph of growth rates of deposited AlN versus reactor pressure. Deposition duration is 30 min. TMAI flow rate is 25.9 µmol/min. The growth rates of AlN deposited on flat silicon (labeled as 'ref') are presented together with growth rates of AlN deposited on silicon nanostructures (labeled as 'nanostructure'). The AlN growth rates on nanostructures were obtained by measuring AlN thicknesses from the tip of the silicon nanostructures. The line is the best fitted graphs of Chen et al.'s equation (see Equation (5-6)) for parasitic reactions [152]. The insets are cross-sectional SEM images of AlN deposited on nanostructures, with varying pressures. The scale bars are 500 nm.

where  $T_{\text{gas}}$  is the gas temperature and  $E_a$  is the activation energy. Assuming no change in gas temperature:

$$\Rightarrow Parasitic Reaction Rate = A \times [TMA1] \times [NH_3], \qquad (5-3)$$

where A is a constant. From this, we can calculate the concentration of TMAl when the flow reaches the substrate, then derive the growth rate dependence on reactor pressure (similar to Chen et al.'s derivation [152]). For simplicity, the concentration of ammonia is assumed to be constant (this is reasonable because the growth is operated at high V/III ratio, where even with full depletion of TMAl, the NH<sub>3</sub> concentration will decrease by less than 1%). Solving the parasitic reaction rate equation, we get the concentration of TMAl reaching the substrate to be

$$[TMAI] = [TMAI]_0 \times e^{-B[NH_3]t}$$
(5-4)

where  $[TMAl]_0$  is the concentration of TMAl when it enters the reactor, *t* is the time it takes for the reactants to reach the substrate, and *B* is a constant. Since both the concentration of a gaseous species and the time for reactant gases to travel is directly proportional to the pressure, we can rewrite Equation (5-4) as:

$$[TMAI] = [TMAI]_0 \times \exp(-CP^2)$$
(5-5)

where C is a constant. As the growth is operating in mass transport limited regime, the growth rate is directly proportional to the group III precursor concentration. Translating this relationship to growth rate, we obtain

Growth Rate of AlN = 
$$\dot{R}_0 \times \exp\left(-\left(\frac{P}{P_0}\right)^2\right)$$
 (5-6)

where  $\dot{R}_0$  is the growth rate of AlN if the parasitic reaction is completely inhibited and  $P_0$  is the reactor pressure where parasitic reactions become significant. From this equation, it is obvious that the growth rate is affected by pressure and is very much dependent on the constant  $P_0$ ; the lower the value of  $P_0$ , the more sensitive the growth rate will be to a change in pressure. According to Chen et al. [152], they found that the constant  $P_0$  is about 100 times higher for TMGa than for TMAl. Note that this implies that if a certain pressure caused a drop in GaN growth rate to 95% of its maximum due to parasitic reaction, that same pressure would have caused the AlN growth rate to drop to less than 1%.

The growth rates of the samples were fitted to Equation (5-6) and listed out in Table 5-1, with the best fit parameters. It can be seen that the  $P_0$  for all samples are around the same value (about 150 Torr). This suggests that the reduction in TMAl flow rate does not reduce the effect of parasitic reactions. An interesting observation is that at higher TMAl flow rate (51.9  $\mu$ mol/min), the AlN growth rate on nanostructures drops to a larger extent (when compared to on flat silicon) than at lower a TMAl flow rate (25.9  $\mu$ mol/min).

Table 5-1. Equations relating growth rate ( $\dot{R}$ ) and reactor pressure (P) with best fitted parameters (according to Equation (5-6)) for nanostructured and flat silicon, with different TMAl flow rates. The units for growth rates and reactor pressures are  $\mu$ m/h and Torr, respectively.

TMAI flow	Growth rate (from Equation (5-6)) with the best fit parameters			
(µmol/min)	Nanostructured	<b>Reference</b> (Flat)		
51.9	$1.3 \pm 0.2 \exp\left[-\left(\frac{P}{140 \pm 20}\right)^2\right]$	$2.0 \pm 0.2 \exp\left[-\left(\frac{P}{130 \pm 10}\right)^2\right]$		
25.9	$1.0 \pm 0.1 \exp\left[-\left(\frac{P}{140 \pm 20}\right)^2\right]$	$0.99 \pm 0.02 \exp\left[-\left(\frac{P}{169 \pm 4}\right)^2\right]$		

Metalorganics can easily form adducts with ammonia, which is the reason why the reactants are kept separated until they are introduced into the reaction chamber [152]. As the parasitic reaction is severe between TMAI and ammonia [150, 152, 153], it is important to keep the pressure low to reduce parasitic reaction in AlN growth.

From both Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2, the growth rates of AlN on nanostructures are observed to be always lower than the growth rates of AlN on flat silicon. This is because the presence of nanostructures increased the surface area available for deposition to occur. This resulted in reduction in AlN deposition on the tip of the nanostructures, as precursors are consumed by deposition on the sidewalls. Another observation is that the difference in AlN growth rates between a nanostructured surface and a flat surface becomes larger (smaller) when growth rates are higher (lower). An explanation for this phenomenon is suggested. At lower growth rates, the reactant (TMAI) concentration reaching the surface is low, so that there is lower driving force to growth. The lower driving force encourages growth to occur more readily at sites which are more energetically favorable (i.e. on the Si(111) surface of nanostructures' tips) than other sites (i.e. on nanostructures' sidewalls). The increased preference to deposit on the nanostructures' tips reduced the reactant depletion effects from the sidewalls.

#### 5.2.2 Effects of growth rate on AlN nucleation

A few different AlN films were deposited at different growth rates on the nanostructures to observe how that would affect the deposited AlN. In order to observe the AlN-coated silicon nanostructures, the nanostructures were scratched off for TEM analysis. From TEM images, it was found that growth rates affect the quality of the grown AlN. Only growth runs with slow AlN growth rates would produce a high quality single crystal AlN on the tips of the nanostructure (see Figure 5-3c).



Figure 5-3. TEM images of AlN grown on silicon nanostructures with growth rates of (a) 360 nm/h, (b) 230 nm/h and (c) 180 nm/h. The dotted line serves to outline the position of the buried silicon nanostructure. The scale bars are 200 nm.

We observe that the AlN crystals on the sidewalls (see Figure 5-3) are polycrystalline and have no specific orientation. The crystals are about 20 to 50 nm in size. Polycrystallinity arose from the lack of crystallographic similarities between silicon and the wurtzite structure AlN. However, aligned AlN crystals could be still grown on the tip of the nanostructures. This is because the tips of the nanostructures are hexagonally packed Si(111) planes. Note that the c-planes of AlN (and all III-nitrides) are also hexagonally packed. It is well-known that III-nitride materials can be grown aligned to the silicon crystal structure, when grown on the Si(111) plane [70, 76, 79]. The epitaxial relationship between AlN (and GaN) and silicon is that AlN c-plane is parallel to Si(111) plane, and AlN(1 $\overline{1}$ 00) plane is parallel to Si(11 $\overline{2}$ ) plane (see Figure 5-4).



Figure 5-4. Atomic arrangement the epitaxial growth relationship of silicon and AlN, where Si(111) plane (shaded light orange) and AlN c-plane (shaded light blue) are parallel. The Si(11 $\overline{2}$ ) plane (black line) parallel to the AlN(1 $\overline{1}$ 00) plane (dark grey line). Note that both planes appeared as lines as both are perpendicular to the Si(111) plane and AlN c-plane.

However, when the growth rate of AlN is fast (at 360 nm/h), deposited AlN on the top of the nanostructures does not form this epitaxial relationship with the silicon substrate (see Figure 5-3a). The overall appearance of AlN crystals deposited at fast growth rates on silicon nanostructures is random and very polycrystalline. When the growth rate was reduced to 230 nm/h, crystallographically aligned AlN crystals were

observed on the tips of the nanostructures. A c-plane AlN can be seen forming on the tip of the nanostructure (see Figure 5-3b), but crystals of other crystallographic orientation also formed at the tip. It was only at a slow growth rate of 180 nm/h that a single large AlN crystal can be observed on the tip of a nanostructure (see Figure 5-3c). A magnified TEM image, together with SADP, confirmed that epitaxial relationship is observed between the deposited AlN and silicon nanostructure (see Figure 5-5).



Figure 5-5. TEM image of a silicon nanostructure with a single crystal AlN grown on its tip, which was scratched off the substrate. The AlN crystal has an inverse- pyramid shape. Such single crystal of AlN was only observed on nanostructures with width less than 40 nm and where AlN was grown at a slow rate of 180 nm/h. Inset shows the SADP of the AlN crystal with clear diffraction spots (view from  $[2\overline{110}]$  zone axis), indicating that it is a single crystal. The diffraction pattern for the AlN crystal is enhanced visually by darkening other spots by image processing. Other scattered spots originated from the polycrystalline AlN on the sidewalls of the nanostructure.

Slower growth rate tends to produce higher quality crystals [10], and this was exemplified in our AlN deposition on nanostructures. Large AlN single crystals (more than 100 nm) were found on the tips of several nanostructures observed in TEM, which AlN was deposited at a slow rate of 180 nm/h (see Figure 5-5). The

large crystals are aligned crystallographically with the silicon substrate, according to the epitaxial relationship described in Figure 5-4. The large AlN crystals are more than 100 nm in size, with some more than 200 nm. These are much larger than the AlN crystallites grown on flat silicon, which are usually about 50 nm in size. However, having slow growth rates is not the only pre-requisite of obtaining such large single crystals of AlN. Such large AlN crystals are only found on nanostructures which are 40 nm or smaller in size.

The large AlN crystals were found to grow in an inverse-pyramid shape (see Figure 5-5). This is in contrast with GaN crystals because GaN crystals are grown revealing their (0001) and  $(1\overline{1}01)$  facets [111, 117] (in a positive pyramid shape) whereas the AlN crystals are grown revealing (0001) and  $(1\overline{1}0\overline{1})$  facets. Such a feature was also observed in AlGaN crystals [212].

### 5.2.3 Non-conformality of AlN deposition

It was found that all nanostructures exhibited variations in AlN growth rates along their sidewalls. AlN coating was thinner at the bottom of the nanostructures; in other words, non-conformal AlN deposition. This occurs because of depletion of the precursor, TMAl in this case, down the nanostructures' trenches.

The deposition on sidewalls decreases with depth into the nanostructures, forming conical shapes (see Figure 5-6). This is because the high aspect ratio of the nanostructures (more than 10) together with the nano-sized trenches between the nanostructures (less than 100 nm) prevented convective transport of reactants to the sidewalls. The prevailing transport mechanism of reactants to the sidewalls was by free molecular flow. As reactants transport down the trenches through free molecular flow, they become depleted due to sidewall deposition. Free molecular flow happens when the mean free path of molecules (mean free path at 200 Torr is estimated to be 592 nm at 1000  $^{\circ}$ ) is larger than the lateral dimension of the trench (< 100 nm).

The mean free path, *l*, can be estimated by:

$$l = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}a^2N} \tag{5-7}$$

where *a* is the molecules' diameter ( $\approx$  5Å) and *N* is the molecule concentration. *N* can be estimated by:

$$N = \frac{pN_A}{RT}$$
(5-8)

 $N_{200\text{Torr}} = \frac{(200 \times 133.3)(6.02 \times 10^{23})}{8.31 \times 1273} = 1.52 \times 10^{24} \text{ molecules/m}^3$ 

assuming ideal gas and T = 1273 K. Similarly, we get:

$$N_{80\text{Torr}} = \frac{(80 \times 133.3)(6.02 \times 10^{23})}{8.31 \times 1273} = 6.07 \times 10^{23} \text{ molecules/m}^3$$

From Equation (5-7), we get:

$$l_{200\text{Torr}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\pi (5 \times 10^{-10})^2 (1.52 \times 10^{24})} = 592 \text{ nm}$$
$$l_{80\text{Torr}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\pi (5 \times 10^{-10})^2 (6.07 \times 10^{23})} = 1.483 \text{ }\mu\text{m}$$

As both the heights of the nanostructures and the gaps between the nanostructures are smaller than, or about the same order as, the free mean path of molecules, molecular diffusion is the prevailing transport mechanism for the reactants.

In addition, the poor surface diffusion length of Al [213, 214] also discourages AlN from attaining a conformal coating. This non-conformal deposition causes "necking" of the trenches [211], which makes it harder for reactants to reach the bottom of the trenches.

In fact, this non-conformality is advantageous in our case. Higher deposition rate on the nanostructures' tips, than at the trenches' bottom, encourages deposited materials to coalesce to form a film while leaving air gaps between the nanostructures. This causes subsequent deposited nitride to bridge across gaps between nanostructures, forming a film supported by standing nanostructures, with air voids in between. Such a structure can relieve thermal stresses that arise from the coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between the substrate and the film [52, 115].



Figure 5-6. TEM image of a typical silicon nanostructure coated with AlN. The AlN layer forms an inverse-conical shape (outlined by the broken line), due to non-conformal deposition.

## 5.2.4 Summary

It was found that the growth rate has an inverse relationship with reactor pressure due to significant parasitic reactions. The relationship can be described by Equation (5-6). Slow growth rate of 180 nm/h was shown to produce high quality AlN crystals, in which a single crystal AlN can form on the tips of silicon nanostructures. The nanostructured surface results in non-conformal coating of AlN. This is advantageous to our aim of achieving a compliant substrate, as voids between the nanostructures can relieve strains in the subsequently deposited continuous film.

## 5.3 AlN nucleation layer

To grow GaN on flat silicon using our system, about 200 nm of HT-AlN is required to be deposited as nucleation layer. However, for nanostructured silicon, it was found that the AlN nucleation layer cannot be at such thickness, or proper GaN film coalescence cannot occur subsequently (see Figure 5-7).



Figure 5-7. Plan view SEM images of (a) 200 nm AlN nucleation layer (sample A) and (b) 200 nm AlGaN on 60 nm AlN nucleation layer (sample B). After 1  $\mu$ m of GaN was grown on sample A and B, it was found that a GaN film did not coalesce on sample A (c); while GaN film coalesced on sample B (d).

The reason for the difference is because of the good coverage of AlN. AlN deposition provides good coverage, even for nanostructured silicon, hence an appreciable amount of AlN is deposited on the sidewalls of the silicon nanostructures. As AlN deposited on the sidewalls is polycrystalline (see Figure 5-5), any AlN growth extended from the sidewalls will be polycrystalline as well. If AlN is deposited thick enough, this polycrystalline AlN on the sidewalls will compete with the single crystalline AlN on the tips for growth, and for overall dominance in the texture. As polycrystalline AlN results in misoriented GaN, coalescence in the subsequent GaN layer is difficult (see Figure 5-7c).

To promote coalescence, thinner AlN nucleation layer (60 nm) was grown, with an additional 200 nm AlGaN layer deposited subsequently to avoid meltback etching. The texture is dominantly c-plane oriented with the thinner AlN nucleation layer (see Figure 5-7b). Coalescence then occurred with the subsequently deposited GaN layer, resulting in a flat and continuous film (see Figure 5-7d).

## 5.4 GaN morphologies with varied heights of nanostructures

GaN growth was performed on substrates of various nanostructure heights to examine the effects of nanostructures height on the GaN morphologies. First, a 60 nm AlN nucleation layer was grown, followed by a 190 nm thick  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$ , both at 1070 °C. Then a 280 nm GaN layer was grown, followed by a LT-AlN interlayer grown at 750 °C. Finally, another 280 nm GaN layer was grown. All GaN layers were grown at 1000 °C.

Three different heights of the nanostructures were used in this growth: 100 nm (short), 300 nm (medium) and 700 nm (long). It can be seen that GaN on the short nanostructures had fully coalesced to form a continuous film. GaN on the medium height nanostructures had not yet fully coalesced. For the long nanostructures, GaN only managed to form isolated islands of various sizes, ranging from 1 to 7  $\mu$ m (see Figure 5-8c). From the cross-sectional SEM images, it can be seen that that the nanostructures were almost completely buried by III-nitride in both the short and medium nanostructures (see Figure 5-8d and e); whereas III-nitride only grew partially into the nanostructures for the long nanostructures (see Figure 5-8f). Looking more closely, it can be seen that the GaN crystals grown on long

nanostructures extended to about 2  $\mu$ m in height, which is much more than the thickness of the GaN films on short and medium nanostructures. This shows that the GaN crystals on long nanostructures were growing more vertically rather than laterally. Hence, the isolated GaN crystals were unlikely to coalesce with longer growth duration.



Figure 5-8. Plan view (left: (a), (b) and (c)) and cross-sectional view (right: (d), (e) and (f)) SEM images of GaN grown on substrates with various nanostructure heights. The heights used were about 100 nm ((a) and (d)), 300 nm ((b) and (e)) and 700 nm ((c) and (f)), and they are referred to as short, medium and long nanostructures, respectively. The broken black line serves as a visual aid to the position of the nanostructures.

As it is difficult to attain continuous GaN film on medium and long nanostructures, we will investigate on how having short nanostructures (about 100 nm tall) affects the GaN film.

### 5.5 Influence of growth structures on GaN film

Buffer layers are often required for mismatched material systems [215-217], as they serve to improve the quality of the desired film [218]. There exist several techniques and growth structures which could be implemented on GaN growth on silicon (as explained in Chapter 2) to reduce dislocations and defects, such as in-situ silicon nitride masking [70], superlattice [75, 100] and multi-step-graded AlGaN buffer layers [73].

We had implemented the three above-mentioned techniques on the nanostructured substrates. All samples have about 100 nm tall nanostructures, etched using one-step MACE with optimized conditions described in Chapter 4. From now on, we will refer the different samples according to Table 5-2 for easy referencing.

Table 5-2. Sample naming with respect to the growth techniques applied on them.

Name	Techniques applied to Si etched using one-step MACE	
Sample I	In-situ silicon nitride masking	
Sample II	Superlattice	
Sample III	Multi-step-graded AlGaN buffer layers	



Figure 5-9. Three different growth structures were grown on nanostructured silicon substrates for comparison. Note that the structures are not drawn to scale.

### 5.5.1 In-situ silicon nitride masking

The structure of our Sample I is schematically presented in Figure 5-9. A 60 nm thick AlN nucleation layer was deposited, followed by a 300 nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$  layer. Both layers were deposited at 1070 °C. The temperature was then reduced to 1000 °C. Silicon nitride masking was then deposited for 1 min, before a final 900 nm of GaN was grown.

A 60 nm of AlN nucleation layer was chosen due to reasons given earlier in this Chapter. A high Al content AlGaN ( $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$ ) was deposited to avoid meltback etching, as the 60 nm AlN might not be sufficient in protecting the silicon substrate. 1 min of silicon nitride deposition formed a discontinuous mask on the AlGaN layer. A longer deposition (4 min) was attempted, but this resulted in misaligned polycrystalline GaN (see Figure 5-10). This is likely to be because 4 min of silicon nitride deposition completely (or almost completely) masked the AlGaN beneath, preventing any epitaxial relationship to be transferred to the GaN grown on it.



Figure 5-10. Cross-sectional SEM image of GaN grown on 4-minute silicon nitride mask. The growth structure is given on the right of the image. The thick silicon nitride mask prevented subsequent GaN from forming an epitaxial relationship with the AlGaN beneath.

#### 5.5.2 Superlattice

The structure of our Sample II is schematically presented in Figure 5-9. A 60 nm of AlN nucleation layer was chosen due to reasons given earlier in this Chapter. A 300 nm high Al content AlGaN ( $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$ ) was deposited to avoid meltback etching, as the 60 nm AlN might not be sufficient in protecting the silicon substrate. Another 300 nm AlGaN ( $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N$ ) buffer layer was included before introducing the superlattice as we had difficulty in forming a flat smooth surface if this layer was not included. This is probably due to the uneven surface after the high Al content AlGaN layer. The above-mentioned layers were deposited at 1070 °C. A superlattice consisting of 20 periods of 6 nm GaN and 4 nm AlN were then deposited at 1040 °C. The temperature was then reduced to 1000 °C to grow a final 900 nm of GaN.

#### 5.5.3 Stepped AlGaN buffer layers

The structure of our Sample III is schematically presented in Figure 5-9. A 25 nm thick AlN nucleation layer was deposited, followed by 3 AlGaN layers of different compositional content. The deposition was done in this order: 110 nm  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N$  layer, 170 nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$  layer and 400 nm  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N$  layer. The layers were deposited at 1070 °C. The temperature was then reduced to 1000 °C to grow a final 900 nm of GaN.

For this growth structure, we proposed to grow a thinner AlN and high Al content AlGaN so as to achieve flat continuous layer as soon as possible. As higher Ga content AlGaN layer would enhance lateral growth [212], this growth structure aimed to reduce the thickness of AlN and high Al content AlGaN as much as possible. This is deemed to be important because the presence of nanostructures makes it difficult for film to coalesce [219], resulting in rough and poor quality film. Hence, a thinner 25 nm of AlN was deposited, followed by a 110 nm thick high Al content AlGaN ( $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N$ ). The relatively thick  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N$  was deposited to avoid meltback

etching, as the 25 nm AlN might not be sufficient in protecting the silicon substrate. Subsequently, 2 layers of AlGaN of different composition (170 nm of  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$  and 400 nm of  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N$ ) were included before GaN growth.



Figure 5-11. Cross sectional SEM images showing meltback etching occurring on substrate with 100 nm tall nanostructures, grown with the following structures: (a) 25 nm AlN/30 nm  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N/60$  nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N/200$  nm  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/900$  nm GaN and (b) 25 nm AlN/35 nm  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N/110$  nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N/250$  nm  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/900$  nm GaN. The inset in each cross sectional SEM image shows the corresponding plan view SEM images.



Figure 5-12. Cross sectional SEM images showing the smooth, flat GaN grown on flat silicon. The structures grown are exactly the same as those in Figure 5-11, where (a) has 25 nm AlN/30 nm  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N/60$  nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N/200$  nm  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/900$  nm GaN and (b) has 25 nm AlN/35 nm  $Al_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}N/110$  nm  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N/250$  nm  $Al_{0.3}Ga_{0.7}N/900$  nm GaN. The inset in each cross sectional SEM image shows the corresponding plan view SEM images.

Initially, even thinner AlGaN layers were attempted on top the 25 nm AlN nucleation layer, but poor results followed. Figure 5-11 shows the results of GaN deposition on nanostructured silicon with thinner AlGaN layers (growth structure stated in description). Such thin AlGaN layers resulted in a very rough surface due to meltback etching. However, it is important to note that if the same growth structures were implemented on a flat silicon substrate, meltback etching did not occur (see Figure 5-12). Therefore, the thicknesses of thermally resistant layers (AlN and AlGaN layers) are critical to grow GaN film on top of nanostructured silicon successfully. This is because the presence of nanostructures makes it difficult to form complete coverage of thermally resistant layers over silicon. Hence, the growth structure of Sample III (see Figure 5-9) contained the thinnest high Al content AlGaN layers implemented, which can successfully grow GaN film on nanostructured silicon with just 25 nm of AlN nucleation layer.

#### 5.5.4 Comparison of quality

The three different samples (Sample I, II and III) were characterized using several characterization tools, such as SEM, TEM, XRD and PL.

### 5.5.4.1 SEM

From Figure 5-13, it can be seen that the top surfaces are relatively smooth. The reference samples (Sample I - Ref, Sample II - Ref and Sample III - Ref) refer to the simultaneous growths on a flat silicon surface. Looking more closely, it can be seen that the coalescence is not yet complete for Sample II. Grain boundaries could still be seen clearly under SEM. The faint boundaries of coalescing islands could be still observed in Sample I, whereas such boundaries could not be observed on Sample III. All reference samples have flat surfaces, with no distinguishable boundaries.

This signified the effect of having thinner layers of AlN (and high Al content AlGaN) and transition to high Ga content AlGaN in Sample III. As high Ga content AlGaN enhances the lateral growth of III-nitrides, earlier coalescence is shown to be necessary for a good surface morphology. Sample I fared better than Sample II as the thin silicon nitride covered misaligned AlGaN crystal, which later on GaN might grow on it and compete for growth with the c-plane aligned GaN.





## 5.5.4.2 Photoluminescence

The low temperature PL spectra of the three samples are shown in Figure 5-14. The PL measurement was done at 15 K. The peaks of the PL were at 3.443, 3.451 and 3.453 eV for Sample I, II and III, respectively. The FWHMs of the peaks for the three samples were similar, at about 50 meV.

As shifting of PL spectra are associated with strains in the lattice [220], we can estimate the stresses and strains present in the three samples. Assuming there are only in-plane biaxial stresses, the stresses could be estimated by using Equation (3-15). Taking 3.474 eV as strain-free (from reference [76]), the stresses are  $1.6\pm0.3$  GPa,  $1.2\pm0.3$  GPa and  $1.1\pm0.3$  GPa for Samples I, II and III, respectively. The biaxial strains are found to be  $(3.3\pm0.2)\times10^{-3}$ ,  $(2.5\pm0.2)\times10^{-3}$  and  $(2.2\pm0.2)\times10^{-3}$  for Samples I, II and III, respectively (from Equation (3-14)). The stresses in the GaN films on the three samples are all tensile. Note that although values in reference [76] were measured at 10 K, the band gap is shifted by less than 1 meV when temperature is increased to 15 K, according to the Varshni's equation, taking parameters from reference [162]. Therefore, it is reasonable to apply the relationship for measurements at 15 K.



Figure 5-14. Comparison of normalized low temperature (15 K) PL of Sample I, II and III. The peaks coincide with the bound exciton lines.

The biaxial stresses and strains were also derived for reference samples (same growth structure as Sample I, II and III but grown on flat silicon) and the values are given in

Table 5-3. It can be seen that only in Sample III that a reduction in stress is observed when compared to their corresponding reference sample.

Sample	Biaxial stress (GPa)		Biaxial strain (×10 <sup>-3</sup> )		
	Nanostructured silicon	Reference	Nanostructured silicon	Reference	
Ι	1.6±0.3	1.1±0.3	3.3±0.2	2.3±0.2	
II	1.2±0.3	1.1±0.3	2.5±0.2	2.3±0.2	
III	1.1±0.3	1.8±0.4	2.2±0.2	3.8±0.3	

Table 5-3. Biaxial stresses and strains derived from shift in PL

It should be noted that even though the measurements were done at low temperatures, the estimated biaxial stresses and strains are for the samples at room temperature. This is because given relationship has been calibrated to use low temperature PL measurements for stresses and strains estimation at room temperature [76].

### 5.5.4.3 XRD

Values of  $\theta$  were obtained from the peak positions of GaN(0002) and GaN(1012) for Samples I, II and III to determine the lattice parameters, *c* and *a*. *c* parameter could be calculated using Bragg's Law (note that  $c = 2 \times d_{0002}$ ); *a* parameter could be calculated by first obtaining  $d_{1012}$  using Bragg's Law, and then applying following relationship:

$$a = \frac{2d_{10\bar{1}2} \times c}{\sqrt{3c^2 - 12d_{10\bar{1}2}^2}}$$
(5-9)

After obtaining the lattice parameters, the corresponding strains ( $\varepsilon_c$  and  $\varepsilon_a$ ) were calculated by using  $c_0=5.1851$  Å and  $a_0=3.1893$  Å as strain-free parameters [4] for GaN. The strains are calculated from the following formulae:

$$\varepsilon_c = \frac{c - c_0}{c_0} \tag{5-10}$$

$$\varepsilon_a = \frac{a - a_0}{a_0} \tag{5-11}$$

Note that  $\varepsilon_a$  is the biaxial strain. The strain of *a* was also estimated from  $\varepsilon_c$ , using elastic constants C<sub>13</sub> and C<sub>33</sub>. The relationship is:

$$\varepsilon_a = -\frac{C_{33}}{2C_{13}}\varepsilon_c \tag{5-12}$$

where  $C_{13}$  was taken as 106±20 GPa and  $C_{33}$  was taken as 398±20 GPa from reference [221]. The biaxial strains for reference samples (same growth structure grown on flat silicon) are also estimated (see Table 5-4) for comparison.

Note that the error provided was large (strains were reduced to just one significant number), because of the rather wide peaks of GaN(0002) and GaN( $10\overline{1}2$ ) in  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  scans were taken into consideration (FWHM between 0.2 ° to 0.3 °). Although the step size of XRD could be as small as 0.0001°, a step size of 0.0025 ° was more than sufficient to identify the peak position. Hence, step size of 0.0025 ° was used to calculate the error, using the following equation [158, 222]:

$$\frac{\Delta d}{d} \approx \cot\theta \times \Delta\theta \tag{5-13}$$

where  $\Delta d$  is the error in determining the lattice spacing, and  $\Delta \theta$  is the step size or error in  $\theta$  (in radians). The error for determining *c* is estimated to be ±0.0005 Å. However, as the intensity for GaN(1012) is much lower resulting in a low signal-noise-ratio (see Figure 5-15),  $\Delta \theta$  is taken as 0.005 ° instead. Thus, the error for determining  $d_{1012}$  is estimated to be ±0.0005 Å. The error given in Table 5-4 was estimated from the error estimated above and Equations (5-9), (5-10), (5-11) and (5-12).

Table 5-4. Strains  $\varepsilon_c$  and  $\varepsilon_a$  are calculated from XRD measurements and by assuming c=5.1851 Å and a=3.1893 Å as strain-free parameters [4] for GaN.

Sample	$\varepsilon_a$ calculated from c and a parameters $(\times 10^{-3})$		$\varepsilon_a$ calculated from c parameters and elastic constants $(\times 10^{-3})$	
	Nanostructured silicon	Flat silicon	Nanostructured silicon	Flat silicon
Ι	2.6±0.9	2.1±0.9	0.3±0.1	0.1±0.1
II	-0.2±0.9	0.4±0.9	-0.1±0.1	0.2±0.1
III	6.8±0.9	1.2±0.9	0.1±0.1	0.1±0.1

The  $\varepsilon_a$  in the last column is calculated using elastic constants C<sub>13</sub> and C<sub>33</sub> given by reference [221].

It was observed that Sample II had the most reduction in biaxial tensile strain effect. In fact, it exhibited biaxial compressive strain instead. This is most probably due to the multiple compressive layers in the superlattice of Sample II. Another observation was that the growth sequence of Sample II seemed to have a much greater strain reduction effect on nanostructured substrate than on flat silicon. This is likely due to the improper coalescence of GaN film on Sample II (see Figure 5-13 for the discontinuity). This results in a reduction of thermal strain on GaN film. Samples I and III both have tensile biaxial strain, but it is uncertain which has a higher strain (see Table 5-4).

From the XRD results, the crystal quality of the GaN could also be derived. Table 5-5 presents the screw dislocation density and edge dislocation density, estimated from the FWHMs of omega rocking curves of the GaN(0002) peak and GaN( $10\overline{1}2$ ) peaks, respectively, based on reference [158]. It can be seen that Sample III has the lowest dislocation density, followed by Sample I and then Sample II.



Figure 5-15. Omega rocking curve of  $GaN(10\overline{1}2)$  peak for Sample III. It is difficult to pinpoint the exact peak position due to the low signal-noise-ratio and broad peak. Error in identifying peak position is as high as 0.01°.

Sample	Screw dislocation density		Edge dislocation density	
	Nanostructured	Reference	Nanostructured	Reference
Ι	$2.3 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$1.0 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$7.8 \times 10^{10}  \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	$1.0 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$
II	$1.3 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$5.3 \times 10^8 \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$1.1 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$7.2 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$
III	$7.6 \times 10^9  \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	$1.1 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$6.6 \times 10^{10} \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	$1.4 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$

Table 5-5. Estimated dislocation density from FWHMs of XRD omega rocking curves.

### 5.5.4.4 TEM

Figure 5-16 shows the cross-sectional dark-field TEM images of Samples I, II and III. Note that the dark-field images for g = [0002] reveal dislocations with screw component and  $g = [1\overline{1}00]$  reveal dislocations with edge component. From Figure 5-16, the dislocations in the GaN layer of Sample I are observed to be concentrated at the boundary of a grain (see Figure 5-16A and B); while the dislocations in the GaN layer of Samples II and III are about evenly distributed (see Figure 5-16C to F). In addition, in Sample I, dislocations are also reduced in the GaN layer when compared to the layers beneath. This is due to the effect of in-situ silicon nitride masking, where GaN grows over areas masked by silicon nitride (see Figure 5-17). With this masking, dislocations in GaN can bend laterally as the GaN layer grows laterally over the mask, and dislocations under the masked areas are prevented from extending to the top GaN layer.



Figure 5-16. Cross-sectional dark-field TEM images of Sample I (A and B), II (C and D) and III (E and F), with g = [0002] (left) and  $g = [1\overline{1}00]$  (right).

Sample II contained superlattice structure which could help to reduce the dislocation density [223]. Figure 5-18 shows that a dislocation loop is generated by the

superlattice structure, preventing the dislocation from threading up the surface. However, not all dislocations are prevented from reaching the top layer as threading dislocations are still able to thread up to the surface.



Figure 5-17. TEM image of Sample I, showing GaN crystal grew over masked regions and coalesce to form a continuous film.



Figure 5-18. Cross-sectional TEM image of Sample II, showing the superlattice structure. A dislocation loop is observed in the superlattice and a threading dislocation is observed to pass through the superlattice structure.



Figure 5-19. Cross-sectional TEM images of Sample III (left) and Sample I (right) of the silicon nanostructures. Due to thinner AlN deposition (about 25 nm thick) in Sample III, it has larger air voids between the nanostructures than Sample I and Sample II.

The thinner AlN nucleation layer deposited on Sample III is intended to allow lateral coalescence earlier in the growth. A side effect which came along with this thinner AlN layer is that larger air voids between the nanostructures result (see Figure 5-19). As AlGaN (and GaN) does not provide good coverage as AlN, thinner AlN would have reduced fillings of the trenches between the nanostructures. This larger air voids is believed to provide stress relaxation [52] for the residual thermal stresses.

#### 5.5.5 Discussions

The strains estimated from PL and XRD are presented in Figure 5-20 for comparison. The strains estimated using *c* and *a* parameters are not included due to the large errors involved. The strain values derived using XRD conflicted with the values derived using PL. This is probably because of the different probe depth due to difference in absorption of the two different beams. As the absorption coefficient of the 325 nm UV laser is much higher than the X-ray (about 10<sup>5</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup> for 325 nm UV [224] compared to 429 cm<sup>-1</sup> for X-ray [158]), the PL spectra is more sensitive to the material near the surface due to a lower penetration depth [225]. Hence, the reason why compressive strain in Sample II was only detected by XRD but not PL could be due to that compressive strain is only found deep in the GaN layer. Therefore, the

generally lower strains for all samples measured by XRD (compared to as derived from PL) were probably due to stress gradient in the GaN layer.



Figure 5-20. Graphical representation of the different strains estimated from various methods (by PL and XRD). Note that tensile strains are positive and compressive strains are negative.

From the strains estimated by XRD results, the reduced strains in Sample II, when compared to its reference, suggested that the growth structure of Sample II does not impede the stress reduction capability of nanostructures on the final GaN layer. Unfortunately, the PL results do not indicate a reduction in strain. This could be probably due to the presence of more dislocations in Sample II (than its reference), which allowed relaxation of the compressive strains generated by the superlattice as growth proceeds.

Silane burst is not as effective on Sample I, considering that its effect on flat silicon has the best results among the three, in terms of reducing biaxial tensile strains. Superlattice structure is shown to produce compressive components well to oppose the residual tensile strains on flat silicon, but it did not work as well when applied on nanostructured substrate. The early coalescence strategy had the best effect on nanostructured substrates (Sample III has the least strains when compared Sample I and Sample II), but the same technique did not provide much strain relief on a flat substrate. This is because this growth structure does not provide strain relief by itself, but facilitated the nanostructures' ability to provide strain relief.

It can be seen that only Sample III has a reduction in biaxial strain over its reference (from  $3.2 \times 10^{-3}$  to  $1.6 \times 10^{-3}$ ). This is likely to be the effect of its larger air voids present in between the nanostructures. It suggested that the voids allowed strain relaxation. This could be understood as the voids reduced the stiffness and rigidity of the substrate, till the depth of the nanostructures. Although the nanostructures are only 100 nm in height, the strain relaxation provided is still substantial for Sample III. As for Samples I and II, the biaxial strain either worsen or remained the same, compared to their respective reference. This shows that the 100 nm nanostructures did not provide additional strain relief if either in-situ silicon nitride masking or superlattice is incorporated in the growth structure.

Overall, the GaN quality on nanostructured silicon is worse than GaN on flat silicon (see Table 5-5). GaN films on nanostructured silicon all have higher dislocation density than GaN films on flat silicon (reference), regardless of the growth structure applied. This, unfortunately, showed that the nanostructured silicon generated higher dislocation density, instead of reducing it. This is probably because of the difficulty in attaining a flat layer on nanostructured silicon. As rougher interface is known to generate dislocations [226], the dislocation density increased when growth is done on the nanostructured surface.

Although all three samples have increased dislocation density, compared to their respective reference, the increase was not the same. It is worth mentioning that Sample III has the least increase in dislocation density among the three growth structures. Table 5-6 shows the ratio of dislocation density of the samples to their respective references. It can be seen that Sample III has the least increase in

dislocation density, among the three. It is likely that inducing faster film coalescence in Sample III contributed to the lower increase in dislocation density.

Tereferences, as estimated by AKD (see Table 3-5)SampleScrew dislocation density of Sample<br/>Screw dislocation density of ReferenceEdge dislocation density of Sample<br/>Edge dislocation density of ReferenceI237.8II2515III75

Table 5-6. Ratio of dislocation density of Sample I, II and III to their respective references, as estimated by XRD (see Table 5-5)

## 5.6 GaN film improvement with 50 nm tall nanostructures

From the above results, the quality of III-nitride films on 100 nm tall silicon nanostructures did not improve over III-nitride films on flat silicon, after considering dislocation density and biaxial stress. It could be said that the inclusion of 100 nm tall silicon nanostructures were not suitable for the growth structures in Samples I, II and III. The problem seems to be the difficulty in forming a smooth surface.

Another set of growths were done on shorter silicon nanostructures (50 nm). First, a 60 nm AlN nucleation layer was grown at 1070 °C, followed by a 190 nm thick  $Al_{0.6}Ga_{0.4}N$ . Then a 280 nm GaN layer was grown followed by a LT-AlN interlayer grown at 750 °C. Finally, another 280 nm GaN layer was grown. All layers were grown at 1000 °C, unless otherwise stated. The same growth structure was also grown on a flat silicon substrate in the same growth run as reference.

Continuous GaN film was formed on the 50 nm tall nanostructures. It should be noted that III-nitride material completely filled in between the gaps of the nanostructures

(see Figure 5-21). This is due to the lower aspect ratio of the silicon nanostructures, which allowed the better coverage of AlN layer.



Figure 5-21. Cross-sectional TEM image of III-nitride grown on 50 nm tall nanostructures. The broken line is a guide to the position of the silicon nanostructures.

### 5.6.1 Stress in film

Strain in the film is estimated using XRD, by first finding *c* parameter (using  $\theta$  value from GaN(0002) peaks) and using Equation (5-12). The biaxial strains in GaN film were calculated to be  $(-0.2\pm0.1)\times10^{-3}$  and  $(0.4\pm0.1)\times10^{-3}$  on the 50 nm nanostructures and reference sample, respectively (note that a positive strain indicates tensile strain). The corresponding biaxial stress were  $-0.1\pm0.1$  GPa and  $0.1\pm0.1$  GPa in GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and reference sample (grown on flat silicon), respectively. A compressive biaxial strain was detected in GaN on 50 nm nanostructures, and more importantly, the strain was less tensile than GaN on flat silicon.

Phonons of the grown GaN were measured using Raman spectroscopy (see Figure 5-22). According to Tripathy et al. [164], Raman shift of  $E_2(TO)$  phonons of GaN can be used to determine the biaxial stress, where the shift  $\Delta \omega = 4.3 \sigma_{xx}$  cm<sup>-1</sup> GPa<sup>-1</sup>, and

a red shift is related to tensile stress. Taking the  $E_2(TO)$  value of 567.5 cm<sup>-1</sup> as stressfree (taken from 400 µm thick free standing GaN [164]), the biaxial stresses were found to be 0.47±0.08 GPa and 0.58±0.08 GPa in GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and reference sample, respectively. As the errors for the values provided by literature were not provided, they were estimated based on the values' given significant figures (i.e. 4.3±0.1  $\sigma_{xx}$  cm<sup>-1</sup> GPa<sup>-1</sup> and 567.5±0.1 cm<sup>-1</sup>). The biaxial strains could be calculated using:

$$\frac{\text{Biaxial stress}}{\text{Biaxial strain}} = \left(C_{11} + C_{12} - \frac{2C_{13}^{2}}{C_{33}}\right)\varepsilon_{a}$$
(5-14)

where  $C_{11}$ ,  $C_{12}$ ,  $C_{13}$  and  $C_{33}$  are elastic constants from reference [221]. The biaxial strains were  $(1.0\pm0.3)\times10^{-3}$  and  $(1.2\pm0.3)\times10^{-3}$  in GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and the reference sample, respectively.



Figure 5-22. Raman shift of GaN film on 50 nm tall nanostructures and GaN film on flat silicon.

PL measurements were also taken to estimate the biaxial strains (see Figure 5-23). The peaks for the bound exciton were position at 3.465 eV and 3.459 eV for GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and the reference sample, respectively. The calculated biaxial strains from the PL peak position are tabulated in Table 5-7. Strains by XRD and Raman measurements are also consolidated in Table 5-7.



Figure 5-23. Comparison of normalized low temperature photoluminescence of GaN film on 50 nm tall nanostructures and GaN film on flat silicon.

Samplag	Estimated biaxial strains (×10 <sup>-3</sup> ) from			
Samples	XRD	Raman	PL	
GaN on 50 nm nanostructures	-0.2±0.1	1.0±0.3	1.0±0.2	
GaN on flat silicon 0.4±0.1		1.2±0.3	1.6±0.2	

 Table 5-7. Consolidated biaxial strains from various characterizations.

The estimated strains based on the various methods described above, other than XRD, agree reasonably well with each other. The general trend is that GaN on 50 nm nanostructures still have lower tensile strains (Raman: 17% reduction, PL: 38% reduction) than GaN on flat silicon. From the results, it is demonstrated that stress can be alleviated by inclusion of Si nanostructures in between the GaN film. Some of the thermal stresses created from the high temperature growth can be relieved by composite of Si nanostructures within GaN layer.

#### 5.6.2 Dislocation density

The dislocation densities were estimated by using hot acid etch method [227-229], where etch pits are counted and divided by the area examined. Figure 5-24 shows the top view SEM images of both GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and its reference, after hot phosphoric etch. The estimated etch pit density for GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and on flat Si were  $6 \times 10^8$  cm<sup>-2</sup> and  $1 \times 10^9$  cm<sup>-2</sup>, respectively.



Figure 5-24. SEM image of top view of GaN on (a) 50 nm nanostructures and on (b) flat reference silicon, after hot phosphoric etch. The etch pit density of GaN on nanostructures and flat silicon were estimated to be  $6 \times 10^8$  cm<sup>-2</sup> and  $1 \times 10^9$  cm<sup>-2</sup>, respectively.

The dislocation densities of the samples were also estimated by the FWHM of rocking curves of GaN(0002) and GaN( $10\overline{1}2$ ). The results are tabulated in Table 5-8. The total dislocation density is obtained by adding the values of screw and edge dislocation density together. Note that this value is likely to overestimate the total dislocation density as it assumed all dislocations are either pure screw or pure edge dislocations. Values of the etch pit density were also included in the table for easier referencing.

The XRD results suggested that the nanostructures induced more screw dislocations in the GaN grown on it, but reduced the overall total dislocations, by 20% (or by 40%, from etch pit density results). The overall dislocation density reduction is believed to be assisted by the coalescence of III-nitrides. During coalescence, dislocations which bend as the crystal grows laterally have a chance to interact with other dislocations and annihilate each other [111]. The increased in screw dislocations could be explained by Figure 5-25. Before coalescence, the III-nitride crystals are supported by separated silicon nanostructures. If the crystal is tilted by an angle  $\alpha$ , there will be a mismatch in height *d*, where  $d \approx L \sin \alpha$ , where *L* is the size of the crystal. Taking that the typical value of *L* is about 100 nm, a tilt angle of 0.3° is sufficient to cause the height mismatch *d* to be more than the *c* parameter (about 0.5 nm) of III-nitride crystal. This will induce screw dislocations to be generated.

Table 5-8. Estimated dislocation density and etch pit density of GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and flat silicon. The total dislocation density is calculated by adding the estimated screw and edge density. The lower value between the two samples in each column is underlined.

	Dislocation den XRD rocking cu	Etab		
Sample	Screw dislocation density	Edge dislocation density	Total dislocation density	density
GaN on 50 nm nanostructures	$4.2 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$1.5 \times 10^{10} \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	$1.9 \times 10^{10} \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	$6 \times 10^8 \text{ cm}^{-2}$
GaN on flat silicon	$3.0 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$2.1 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$2.4 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	$1 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2}$



Figure 5-25. Schematic on the possible explanation on the increased screw dislocation density for GaN grown on silicon nanostructure.

#### 5.6.3 Roughness of film

The roughness of the film can be measured by using AFM. Figure 5-26 shows the AFM images obtained from GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and on flat silicon. The root-mean-square (RMS) values of the roughness are found to be 1.70 nm and 0.364 nm for GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and on flat silicon, respectively. The increased roughness is expected because the substrate did not start off as a flat surface, but rather as a substrate with roughness of 50 nm.



Figure 5-26. AFM images of the surface of GaN on (a) 50 nm nanostructures and on (b) flat silicon. The RMS values of the roughness are 1.70 nm and 0.364 nm for GaN on 50 nm nanostructures and on flat silicon, respectively. Both AFM images are adjusted to have the same scale for the color bar.

# 5.7 Summary

The nucleation of AlN on silicon nanostructures was investigated and explained. It was found that deposition of AlN on silicon nanostructures is also affected by parasitic reaction, which is also observed for deposition on flat silicon. It was found that high quality AlN crystals results from slow growth rates and they are crystallographically aligned to the silicon nanostructures that they grew on, where the relationship is AlN(0001)//Si(111) and AlN(1100)//Si(112). The large crystals are
found to be larger than 100 nm and are only found growing on tips of silicon nanostructures with size smaller than 40 nm. Conversely, AlN grown on the sidewalls of the silicon nanostructures are polycrystalline. The non-conformal deposition of AlN on the high aspect ratio nanostructures should encourage formation of air voids in between the nanostructures, which should relieve thermal residual stresses.

AlN thickness must be less than 200 nm for the subsequent GaN film to coalesce. Thinner AlN nucleation layers (60 nm or less) were found to aid in film coalescence. Nanostructures height was found to have a large effect on the quality of the GaN film, and continuous GaN film is difficult to form on nanostructures taller than 100 nm. Various growth structures to attain GaN on 100 nm tall silicon nanostructures were applied and compared. Sample III (with air voids) was found to have reduced biaxial strains over its reference. However, the general GaN quality was found to be worse off on 100 nm tall nanostructures than on flat silicon.

GaN growth was done on 50 nm tall nanostructures to compare with GaN growth on flat silicon. GaN growth on 50 nm tall nanostructures showed a reduction in stress and total dislocation density when compared to GaN on flat silicon. However, the screw dislocation density in GaN on the 50 nm nanostructures was found to be higher than GaN on flat silicon, as very slight tilting (0.3°) of the nanostructures would be sufficient to induce screw dislocations. The RMS roughness of the GaN film on 50 nm nanostructures is also found to be worse than GaN film on flat silicon (1.70 nm compared to 0.364 nm). Hence, an improvement in GaN quality, in terms of stress relaxation and total dislocation density, was observed when 50 nm nanostructures was incorporated, when compared to GaN on flat silicon. Nevertheless, the smoothness of the GaN surface suffered when growth was performed on the 50 nm nanostructures.

124

## **Chapter 6. Conclusions and future work**

## 6.1 Conclusions

In this thesis, GaN was grown on nanopatterned silicon using MOCVD. Vertically standing nanostructures, with irregular shapes, were etched out of silicon (111) wafers by using one-step metal-assisted chemical etching (MACE). The nanostructures are separated from one another, having widths between 20 and 60 nm, and trenches between 80 nm and 120 nm wide. The nanostructures compose about 30-40% of the substrate area.

We have investigated the effects of varying etching conditions in one-step MACE for the formation of the silicon nanostructures. The etching conditions varied include silver nitrate concentration, temperature, hydrofluric acid concentration and etching duration. Several etching conditions were found to result in excessive tip etching. Such conditions include silver concentration of 0.04 M, temperature at 55  $^{\circ}$ C or higher, and HF concentration 7.0 M. From our results, it is established that 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25  $^{\circ}$ C with no stirring is a suitable etching condition, up to a duration of 600 s.

Based on the etch rate, we are able to determine that the reaction could be fitted to an Arrhenius equation. The activation energy is then found to be  $0.33\pm0.02$  eV. Evidence was found that the rate limiting reaction resembles that of etching SiO<sub>2</sub> in HF. Evidence includes: similar value for activation energy as HF etching SiO<sub>2</sub> (between 0.35 and 0.40 eV, as determined by Judge [206]); etch rate's linear relationship with HF concentration between 1.0 to 7.0 M at 25 °C.

125

Certain etching conditions promote damages to the tips of nanostructures, either by mechanical stresses due to hydrogen bubbles evolution or by tips etching due to the dense catalytic silver dendrites above the nanostructures. The mechanical stresses by hydrogen bubbles evolution are made worse by higher etching rate (i.e. higher temperatures and higher HF concentrations); and the tips etching are worsen by higher AgNO<sub>3</sub> concentrations. Other than changing etching conditions, implementation of stirring could reduce the tips damages by hydrogen bubbles.

Two distinct regimes were found for the etching of silicon by 1-step MACE, namely the short etching time regime and long etching time regime. The short etching time regime was found to have an etch rate of 1.51 nm/s, for etching duration of up to 100 s. After which the etch rate increased to 2.70 nm/s, in the long etching time regime. The change in the etch rate is attributed to the silver dendrite coverage on the surface, which is unique to the one-step MACE process. Note that the stated rates are pertinent to the use of 5.0 M HF and 0.02 M AgNO<sub>3</sub> at 25 °C, with no stirring. This etching condition is also found to be reliable (minimal nanostructure tip etching) and controllable (by adjusting the etching duration) to obtain the desired nanostructure height, up to about 1.5  $\mu$ m.

Size variation was also found to change with etching duration. For etching duration of 60 s and below, the trench widths are about 80 nm. When etching duration reached 120 s, the trenches widened to 100 nm; and when etching duration reached 300 s, the trenches widened to 120 nm. It was also found that the tall nanostructures (more than 600 nm) tend to bend and stick to one another, due to high aspect ratio (above 10).

It was found that deposition of AlN on silicon nanostructures is also affected by parasitic reactions, which is also observed for deposition on flat silicon. It was found that high quality AlN crystals result from slow growth rates, and large (more than 100 nm in diameter) single crystals of AlN were observed on tips of silicon nanostructures of width less than 40 nm. The large AlN crystals are crystallographically aligned to the silicon nanostructures that they grew on, where the relationship is AlN(0001)//Si(111) and  $AlN(1\overline{1}00)//Si(11\overline{2})$ . Conversely, AlN layers grown on the sidewalls of the silicon nanostructures are polycrystalline. The non-conformal deposition of AlN on the high aspect ratio nanostructures was observed to encourage formation of air voids in between the nanostructures. This feature was found to correlate with lower thermal residual stresses.

The AlN thickness must not be too large (200 nm or more) or the subsequent GaN film grown would have difficulty coalescing. Thinner AlN nucleation layers (60 nm or less) were found to aid in subsequent film coalescence. Nanostructure height was found to have a large effect on the quality of the GaN film. Our experimental results had shown that continuous layer of GaN film can be grown on substrates with 100 nm tall nanostructures. When the height of nanostructures were increased to 300 nm, GaN coalescence did not occur even after a nominal thickness of about 500 nm of GaN layer was grown. When the height of nanostructures were increased further to 700 nm, only isolated GaN islands, of size ranging from 1 to 7 um, were formed.

Three different growth sequences were implemented on silicon substrates patterned with 100 nm tall nanostructures, and their GaN quality were compared. The different growth sequences each contained a main technique in improving GaN's quality, which are in-situ silicon nitride masking (Sample I), superlattice (Sample II) and graded AlGaN buffer layers (Sample III). For each growth sequence grown on the nanostructured substrate, the same growth sequence was also done on flat silicon as reference samples for comparison.

Using PL measurements to estimate, Sample III was found to have the lowest biaxial tensile strains among the nanopatterned substrates, and only it was the only sample to have lower strain than its reference sample (grown on flat silicon). Sample III was

127

also found to have the lowest dislocation density (estimated using XRD) among the nanopatterned substrates. Large air voids were observed to exist between the nanostructures of Sample III, and it was deduced that this reduced the stiffness and rigidity of the layer of nanostructures. Thus, reduction of strain was observed for Sample III. However, the overall GaN quality (based on dislocation density) on nanopatterned silicon substrates were worse than that on flat silicon substrates.

As GaN quality was found to be worse on 100 nm tall nanostructures than on flat silicon, GaN growth was done on 50 nm tall nanostructures. It was determined that there was an overall tensile strain reduction (from Raman: 17% reduction, and from PL: 38% reduction) for GaN on 50 nm tall nanostructures than on flat silicon. The GaN on 50 nm tall nanostructures also showed a reduction in the total dislocation density (estimated as a 20% reduction, based on XRD results, or at 40% reduction, based on etch pit density results), when compared to GaN on flat silicon. However, the screw dislocation density in GaN on the 50 nm nanostructures was found to be higher than GaN on flat silicon, as very slight tilting (0.3 °) of the nanostructures would be sufficient to induce screw dislocations. The RMS roughness of the GaN film on 50 nm nanostructures is also found to be worse than GaN films on flat silicon (1.70 nm compared to 0.364 nm).

## 6.2 **Recommendations for future work**

Although the benefit of using one-step MACE is its simple fabrication of nanostructures, there is basically no control over the feature size and shape of the nanopattern. Much better control in the nanopattern could be created by using techniques like nanoimprinting and interference lithography. Hence, it will be very interesting to investigate the effects of different size features and nanostructure arrangement. It should be noted that the technique used must be able to create nanopattern with small enough feature size as nanostructures with diameter less than 40 nm (see Chapter 5) are required for high quality AlN single crystals to form on silicon nanostructure tips. Both nanoimprint lithography [230] and interference lithography [231] have been used to achieve feature sizes smaller than 50 nm, which makes them suitable nanofabrication techniques.

It was found that GaN coalescence is difficult with taller silicon nanostructures. However, GaN coalescence might not necessarily be impossible. As the presence of 50 nm tall nanostructures are sufficient to induce a stress relaxation in the GaN layer, taller nanostructures are expected to improve the relaxation effect. Hence, it is worth exploring different growth techniques which could achieve GaN film coalescence with taller silicon nanostructures.

Finally, devices have yet to be fabricated out of GaN grown on nanopatterned substrates. As GaN could be used to fabricate several types of devices, such as LEDs and HEMTs, future work should include device fabrication as well. This will provide an actual and practical indication of the device improvement that such nanopatterned substrate might provide.

## References

- H.P. Maruska and J.J. Tietjen, "The preparation and properties of vapor-deposited single-crystalline GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, 15(10), 327-329, 1969.
- [2] J.I. Pankove, J.E. Berkeyheiser, H.P. Maruska, and J. Wittke, "Luminescent properties of GaN," *Solid State Communications*, **8**(13), 1051-1053, 1970.
- [3] S. Strite and H. Morkoc, "GaN, AlN, and InN: A review," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B*, **10**(4), 1237-1266, 1992.
- [4] H. Morko ç. Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices, Volume 1: Materials Properties, Physics and Growth. Vol. 1. 2008, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH. 1311.
- [5] J. Wu, W. Walukiewicz, K.M. Yu, J.W. Ager, E.E. Haller, H. Lu, W.J. Schaff, Y. Saito, and Y. Nanishi, "Unusual properties of the fundamental band gap of InN," *Applied Physics Letters*, 80(21), 3967-3969, 2002.
- [6] U.K. Mishra, Y.-F. Wu, B.P. Keller, S. Keller, and S.P. Denbaars, "GaN microwave electronics," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, **46**(6), 756-761, 1998.
- [7] Y.-F. Wu, B.P. Keller, S. Keller, D. Kapolnek, S.P. Denbaars, and U.K. Mishra, "Measured microwave power performance of AlGaN/GaN MODFET," *Electron Device Letters, IEEE*, **17**(9), 455-457, 1996.
- [8] Y.F. Wu, B.P. Keller, S. Keller, D. Kapolnek, P. Kozodoy, S.P. Denbaars, and U.K. Mishra, "High power AlGaN/GaN HEMTs for microwave applications," *Solid-State Electronics*, 41(10), 1569-1574, 1997.
- [9] J.C. Zolper, "A review of junction field effect transistors for high-temperature and high-power electronics," *Solid-State Electronics*, 42(12), 2153-2156, 1998.
- [10] S. Porowski, "High pressure growth of GaN—new prospects for blue lasers," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **166**(1), 583-589, 1996.
- [11] J. Karpiński, J. Jun, and S. Porowski, "Equilibrium pressure of  $N_2$  over GaN and high pressure solution growth of GaN," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **66**(1), 1-10, 1984.
- [12] H. Amano, N. Sawaki, I. Akasaki, and Y. Toyoda, "Metalorganic vapor phase epitaxial growth of a high quality GaN film using an AlN buffer layer," *Applied Physics Letters*, **48**(5), 353-355, 1986.
- [13] S. Nakamura, "GaN growth using GaN buffer layer," *Japanese Journal* of Applied Physics, Part 2 (Letters), **30**(10A), 1705-1707, 1991.
- [14] O. Ambacher, "Growth and applications of group III-nitrides," *Journal* of *Physics D: Applied Physics*, **31**(20), 2653, 1998.
- [15] S.C. Jain, M. Willander, J. Narayan, and O.R. Van, "III-nitrides: Growth, characterization, and properties," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **87**(3), 965-1006, 2000.
- [16] D.A. Neumayer and J.G. Ekerdt, "Growth of group III nitrides. A review of precursors and techniques," *Chemistry of Materials*, 8(1), 9-25, 1996.

- [17] D. Elwell and M.M. Elwell, "Crystal growth of gallium nitride," *Progress in Crystal Growth and Characterization*, **17**(1), 53-78, 1988.
- [18] M. Razeghi and R. McClintock, "A review of III-nitride research at the center for quantum devices," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **311**(10), 3067-3074, 2009.
- [19] P. Ruterana, M. Albrecht, and J. Neugebauer, *Nitride Semiconductors: Handbook on Materials and Devices*2003, Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH.
- [20] S. Lester, F. Ponce, M. Craford, and D. Steigerwald, "High dislocation densities in high efficiency GaN-based light-emitting diodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, 66(10), 1249-1251, 1995.
- [21] M. Wintrebert-Fouquet, K.S.A. Butcher, and S.K.H. Lam. Comparisons of gallium nitride and indium nitride properties after CF<sub>4</sub>/Argon reactive ion etching. in Materials Research Society Symposium - Proceedings. 2002. Boston, MA, United States: Materials Research Society.
- [22] P.L. Bradfield, T.G. Brown, and D.G. Hall, "Electroluminescence from sulfur impurities in a p-n junction formed in epitaxial silicon," *Applied Physics Letters*, **55**(2), 100-102, 1989.
- [23] ASTM, G173 03, in Standard Tables for Reference Solar Spectral Irradiances: Direct Normal and Hemispherical on 37 ° Tilted Surface2012, ASTM International: West Conshohocken, PA.
- [24] R.R. Pela, C. Caetano, M. Marques, L.G. Ferreira, J. Furthmuller, and L.K. Teles, "Accurate band gaps of AlGaN, InGaN, and AlInN alloys calculations based on LDA-1/2 approach," *Applied Physics Letters*, 98(15), 151907, 2011.
- [25] J. Wu, W. Walukiewicz, K.M. Yu, W. Shan, I. J. W. Ager, E.E. Haller, H. Lu, W.J. Schaff, W.K. Metzger, and S. Kurtz, "Superior radiation resistance of In<sub>1 - x</sub>Ga<sub>x</sub>N alloys: Full-solar-spectrum photovoltaic material system," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 94(10), 6477-6482, 2003.
- [26] J. Wu, W. Walukiewicz, K.M. Yu, I. J. W. Ager, E.E. Haller, L. Hai, J.S. William, S. Yoshiki, and N. Yasushi, "Unusual properties of the fundamental band gap of InN," *Applied Physics Letters*, 80(21), 3967-3969, 2002.
- [27] A. Dadgar, A. Strittmatter, J. Bläsing, M. Poschenrieder, O. Contreras, P. Veit, T. Riemann, F. Bertram, A. Reiher, A. Krtschil, A. Diez, T. Hempel, T. Finger, A. Kasic, M. Schubert, D. Bimberg, F.A. Ponce, J. Christen, and A. Krost, "Metalorganic chemical vapor phase epitaxy of gallium-nitride on silicon," *Physica Status Solidi* (C), 0(6), 1583-1606, 2003.
- [28] R. Roedel, A. Von Neida, R. Caruso, and L. Dawson, "The effect of dislocations in Ga<sub>1-x</sub>Al<sub>x</sub>As: Si light-emitting diodes," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **126**(4), 637-641, 1979.
- [29] N.F. Gardner, G.O. Muller, Y.C. Shen, G. Chen, S. Watanabe, W. Gotz, and M.R. Krames, "Blue-emitting InGaN--GaN doubleheterostructure light-emitting diodes reaching maximum quantum efficiency above 200 A/cm<sup>2</sup>," *Applied Physics Letters*, **91**(24), 243506, 2007.
- [30] University Wafer Price Quotations. [cited Mar 7, 2013]; Available from: http://www.universitywafer.com.

- [31] G.A. Slack, L.J. Schowalter, D. Morelli, and J.A. Freitas Jr, "Some effects of oxygen impurities on AlN and GaN," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **246**(3–4), 287-298, 2002.
- [32] D.I. Florescu, V.M. Asnin, F.H. Pollak, A.M. Jones, J.C. Ramer, M.J. Schurman, and I. Ferguson, "Thermal conductivity of fully and partially coalesced lateral epitaxial overgrown GaN/sapphire (0001) by scanning thermal microscopy," *Applied Physics Letters*, **77**(10), 1464-1466, 2000.
- [33] X.A. Cao, J.M. Teetsov, M.P. D'Evelyn, D.W. Merfeld, and C.H. Yan, "Electrical characteristics of InGaN/GaN light-emitting diodes grown on GaN and sapphire substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, 85(1), 7-9, 2004.
- [34] T. Hashizume, J. Kotani, and H. Hasegawa, "Leakage mechanism in GaN and AlGaN Schottky interfaces," *Applied Physics Letters*, **84**(24), 4884-4886, 2004.
- [35] X.A. Cao, J.A. Teetsov, F. Shahedipour-Sandvik, and S.D. Arthur, "Microstructural origin of leakage current in GaN/InGaN lightemitting diodes," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **264**(1–3), 172-177, 2004.
- [36] A.P. Zhang, L.B. Rowland, E.B. Kaminsky, V. Tilak, J.C. Grande, J. Teetsov, A. Vertiatchikh, and L.F. Eastman, "Correlation of device performance and defects in AlGaN/GaN high-electron mobility transistors," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, **32**(5), 388-394, 2003.
- [37] H. Ishikawa, K. Yamamoto, T. Egawa, T. Soga, T. Jimbo, and M. Umeno, "Thermal stability of GaN on (111) Si substrate," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **190**, 178-182, 1998.
- [38] A. Dadgar, M. Poschenrieder, J. Blasing, O. Contreras, F. Bertram, T. Riemann, A. Reiher, M. Kunze, I. Daumiller, A. Krtschil, A. Diez, A. Kaluza, A. Modlich, M. Kamp, J. Christen, F.A. Ponce, E. Kohn, and A. Krost, "MOVPE growth of GaN on Si(111) substrates," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 248, 556-562, 2003.
- [39] S.D. Gunapala, B.F. Levine, R.A. Logan, T. Tanbun-Ek, and D.A. Humphrey, "GaAs/GaInP multiquantum well long-wavelength infrared detector using bound-to-continuum state absorption," *Applied Physics Letters*, **57**(17), 1802-1804, 1990.
- [40] T.N. Bhat, M.K. Rajpalke, B. Roul, M. Kumar, and S.B. Krupanidhi, "Substrate nitridation induced modulations in transport properties of wurtzite GaN/p-Si (100) heterojunctions grown by molecular beam epitaxy," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **110**(9), 093718, 2011.
- [41] F. Schulze, A. Dadgar, J. Bläsing, and A. Krost, "GaN heteroepitaxy on Si(0 0 1)," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **272**(1–4), 496-499, 2004.
- [42] E. Calleja, M.A. Sánchez-Garcá, F. Calle, F.B. Naranjo, E. Muñoz, U. Jahn, K. Ploog, J. Sánchez, J.M. Calleja, K. Saarinen, and P. Hautojärvi, "Molecular beam epitaxy growth and doping of III-nitrides on Si(1 1 1): layer morphology and doping efficiency," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, 82, 2-8, 2001.
- [43] Y.S. Park, C.M. Park, D.J. Fu, T.W. Kang, and J.E. Oh, "Photoluminescence studies of GaN nanorods on Si (111) substrates grown by molecular-beam epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters*, 85(23), 5718-5720, 2004.

- [44] H. Ishikawa, G.-Y. Zhao, N. Nakada, T. Egawa, T. Jimbo, and M. Umeno, "GaN on Si substrate with AlGaN/AlN intermediate layer," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, **38**(Copyright (C) 1999 Publication Board, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics), L492, 1999.
- [45] A. Dadgar, J. Blasing, A. Diez, A. Alam, M. Heuken, and A. Krost, "Metalorganic chemical vapor phase epitaxy of crack-free GaN on Si (111) exceeding 1 μm in thickness," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, **39**, L1183, 2000.
- [46] T. Ito, T. Nozaki, H. Arakawa, and M. Shinoda, "Thermally grown silicon nitride films for high-performance MNS devices," *Applied Physics Letters*, **32**(5), 330-331, 1978.
- [47] E. Butter, G. Fitzl, D. Hirsch, G. Leonhardt, W. Seifert, and G. Preschel, "The deposition of group III nitrides on silicon substrates," *Thin Solid Films*, **59**(1), 25-31, 1979.
- [48] T. Li, M. Mastro, and A. Dadgar, *III-V Compound Semiconductors: Integration with Silicon-Based Microelectronics*2010: CRC PressI Llc.
- [49] A. Dadgar, T. Hempel, J. Bläsing, O. Schulz, S. Fritze, J. Christen, and A. Krost, "Improving GaN-on-silicon properties for GaN device epitaxy," *Physica Status Solidi* (*C*), **8**(5), 1503-1508, 2011.
- [50] D. Zubia and S.D. Hersee, "Nanoheteroepitaxy: The application of nanostructuring and substrate compliance to the heteroepitaxy of mismatched semiconductor materials," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 85(9), 6492-6496, 1999.
- [51] S. Luryi and E. Suhir, "New approach to the high quality epitaxial growth of lattice-mismatched materials," *Applied Physics Letters*, **49**(3), 140-142, 1986.
- [52] K.Y. Zang, Y.D. Wang, S.J. Chua, L.S. Wang, S. Tripathy, and C.V. Thompson, "Nanoheteroepitaxial lateral overgrowth of GaN on nanoporous Si(111)," *Applied Physics Letters*, **88**(14), 141925, 2006.
- [53] H. Ishikawa, K. Shimanaka, F. Tokura, Y. Hayashi, Y. Hara, and M. Nakanishi, "MOCVD growth of GaN on porous silicon substrates," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **310**(23), 4900-4903, 2008.
- [54] H. Ishikawa, K. Shimanaka, M. Azfar bin M. Amir, Y. Hara, and M. Nakanishi, "Improved MOCVD growth of GaN on Si-on-porous-silicon substrates," *Physica Status Solidi* (*C*), **7**(7-8), 2049-2051, 2010.
- [55] P. Hageman, S. Haffouz, V. Kirilyuk, A. Grzegorczyk, and P. Larsen, "High quality GaN layers on Si (111) substrates: AlN buffer layer optimisation and insertion of a SiN intermediate layer," *Physica Status Solidi* (A), **188**(2), 523-526, 2001.
- [56] A. Watanabe, T. Takeuchi, K. Hirosawa, H. Amano, K. Hiramatsu, and I. Akasaki, "The growth of single crystalline GaN on a Si substrate using AIN as an intermediate layer," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 128(1), 391-396, 1993.
- [57] R.D. Vispute, J. Narayan, H. Wu, and K. Jagannadham, "Epitaxial growth of AlN thin films on silicon (111) substrates by pulsed laser deposition," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **77**(9), 4724-4728, 1995.
- [58] A. Bourret, A. Barski, J.L. Rouviere, G. Renaud, and A. Barbier, "Growth of aluminum nitride on (111) silicon: Microstructure and interface structure," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 83(4), 2003-2009, 1998.

- [59] H. Lahreche, P. Vennegues, O. Tottereau, M. Laugt, P. Lorenzini, M. Leroux, B. Beaumont, and P. Gibart, "Optimisation of AlN and GaN growth by metalorganic vapour-phase epitaxy (MOVPE) on Si(111)," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 217(1-2), 13-25, 2000.
- [60] S. Zamir, B. Meyler, E. Zolotoyabko, and J. Salzman, "The effect of AlN buffer layer on GaN grown on (111)-oriented Si substrates by MOCVD," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **218**(2–4), 181-190, 2000.
- [61] H. Marchand, L. Zhao, N. Zhang, B. Moran, R. Coffie, U.K. Mishra, J.S. Speck, S.P. DenBaars, and J.A. Freitas, "Metalorganic chemical vapor deposition of GaN on Si(111): Stress control and application to field-effect transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 89(12), 7846-7851, 2001.
- [62] P. Chen, R. Zhang, Z. Zhao, D. Xi, B. Shen, Z. Chen, Y. Zhou, S. Xie, W. Lu, and Y. Zheng, "Growth of high quality GaN layers with AlN buffer on Si (111) substrates," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 225(2), 150-154, 2001.
- [63] I.H. Lee, S. Lim, and Y. Park, "Growth and optical properties of GaN on Si (111) substrates," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **235**(1), 73-78, 2002.
- [64] A. Krost and A. Dadgar, "GaN-based optoelectronics on silicon substrates," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, **93**(1-3), 77-84, 2002.
- [65] R. Liu, F.A. Ponce, A. Dadgar, and A. Krost, "Atomic arrangement at the AlN/Si (111) interface," *Applied Physics Letters*, 83(5), 860-862, 2003.
- [66] K.Y. Zang, S.J. Chua, L.S. Wang, and C.V. Thompson, "Evolution of AlN buffer layers on silicon and effects on the properties of epitaxial GaN films," *Physica Status Solidi* (*C*), **0**(7), 2067-2071, 2003.
- [67] D.M. Follstaedt, J. Han, P. Provencio, and J.G. Fleming, "Microstructure of GaN grown on (111) Si by MOCVD," *MRS Internet Journal of Nitride Semiconductor Research*, **4S1**, G3.27, 1999.
- [68] I. Grzegory, J. Jun, S. Krukowski, M. Boćkowski, and S. Porowski, "Crystal growth of III-N compounds under high nitrogen pressure," *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, 185(1–4), 99-102, 1993.
- [69] A. Dadgar, M. Poschenrieder, A. Reiher, J. Blasing, J. Christen, A. Krtschil, T. Finger, T. Hempel, A. Diez, and A. Krost, "Reduction of stress at the initial stages of GaN growth on Si(111)," *Applied Physics Letters*, 82(1), 28-30, 2003.
- [70] A. Dadgar, M. Poschenrieder, J. Blasing, K. Fehse, A. Diez, and A. Krost, "Thick, crack-free blue light-emitting diodes on Si(111) using low-temperature AlN interlayers and in situ SixNy masking," *Applied Physics Letters*, 80(20), 3670-3672, 2002.
- [71] J. Blasing, A. Reiher, A. Dadgar, A. Diez, and A. Krost, "The origin of stress reduction by low-temperature AlN interlayers," *Applied Physics Letters*, **81**(15), 2722-2724, 2002.
- [72] H.P.D. Schenk, E. Frayssinet, A. Bavard, D. Rondi, Y. Cordier, and M. Kennard, "Growth of thick, continuous GaN layers on 4-in. Si substrates by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **314**(1), 85-91, 2011.

- [73] K. Cheng, M. Leys, S. Degroote, B. Daele, S. Boeykens, J. Derluyn, M. Germain, G. Tendeloo, J. Engelen, and G. Borghs, "Flat GaN epitaxial layers grown on Si(111) by metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy using step-graded AlGaN intermediate layers," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 35(4), 592-598, 2006.
- [74] L.S. Wang, K.Y. Zang, S. Tripathy, and S.J. Chua, "Effects of periodic delta-doping on the properties of GaN:Si films grown on Si (111) substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, **85**(24), 5881-5883, 2004.
- [75] S.-H. Jang and C.-R. Lee, "High-quality GaN/Si(111) epitaxial layers grown with various Al<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/GaN superlattices as intermediate layer by MOCVD," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **253**(1–4), 64-70, 2003.
- [76] E. Feltin, B. Beaumont, M. Laugt, P. de Mierry, P. Vennegues, H. Lahreche, M. Leroux, and P. Gibart, "Stress control in GaN grown on silicon (111) by metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters*, **79**(20), 3230-3232, 2001.
- [77] N.P. Kobayashi, J.T. Kobayashi, P.D. Dapkus, W.-J. Choi, A.E. Bond, X. Zhang, and D.H. Rich, "GaN growth on Si(111) substrate using oxidized AlAs as an intermediate layer," *Applied Physics Letters*, **71**(24), 3569-3571, 1997.
- [78] A. Strittmatter, A. Krost, V. Türck, M. Straßburg, D. Bimberg, J. Bläsing, T. Hempel, J. Christen, B. Neubauer, D. Gerthsen, T. Christmann, and B.K. Meyer, "LP-MOCVD growth of GaN on silicon substrates-comparison between AlAs and ZnO nucleation layers," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, 59(1–3), 29-32, 1999.
- [79] A. Strittmatter, A. Krost, M. Strabburg, V. Turck, D. Bimberg, J. Blasing, and J. Christen, "Low-pressure metal organic chemical vapor deposition of GaN on silicon (111) substrates using an AlAs nucleation layer," *Applied Physics Letters*, **74**(9), 1242-1244, 1999.
- [80] T. Takeuchi, H. Amano, K. Hiramatsu, N. Sawaki, and I. Akasaki, "Growth of single crystalline GaN film on Si substrate using 3C-SiC as an intermediate layer," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **115**(1–4), 634-638, 1991.
- [81] H. Liaw, R. Venugopal, J. Wan, and M. Melloch, "Epitaxial GaN films grown on Si (111) with varied buffer layers," *Solid-State Electronics*, 45(7), 1173-1177, 2001.
- [82] J. Komiyama, Y. Abe, S. Suzuki, and H. Nakanishi, "Suppression of crack generation in GaN epitaxy on Si using cubic SiC as intermediate layers," *Applied Physics Letters*, 88(9), 091901, 2006.
- [83] J. Komiyama, Y. Abe, S. Suzuki, H. Nakanishi, and A. Koukitu, "MOVPE of AlN-free hexagonal GaN/cubic SiC/Si heterostructures for vertical devices," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **311**(10), 2840-2843, 2009.
- [84] Z. Yang, F. Guarin, I.W. Tao, W.I. Wang, and S.S. Iyer. Approach to obtain high quality GaN on Si and SiC-on-silicon-on-insulator compliant substrate by molecular-beam epitaxy. 1995. AVS.
- [85] A.J. Steckl, J. Devrajan, C. Tran, and R.A. Stall, "SiC rapid thermal carbonization of the (111)Si semiconductor-on-insulator structure and subsequent metalorganic chemical vapor deposition of GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, **69**(15), 2264-2266, 1996.

- [86] H.M. Liaw, R. Venugopal, J. Wan, R. Doyle, P.L. Fejes, and M.R. Melloch, "GaN epilayers grown on 100 mm diameter Si(111) substrates," *Solid-State Electronics*, 44(4), 685-690, 2000.
- [87] T. Nishida and N. Kobayashi, "Nucleation control in MOVPE of group III-nitrides on SiC substrate," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **221**(1–4), 297-300, 2000.
- [88] P. Vennéguès, B. Beaumont, S. Haffouz, M. Vaille, and P. Gibart, "Influence of in situ sapphire surface preparation and carrier gas on the growth mode of GaN in MOVPE," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **187**(2), 167-177, 1998.
- [89] S. Haffouz, H. Lahreche, P. Vennegues, P.d. Mierry, B. Beaumont, F. Omnes, and P. Gibart, "The effect of the Si/N treatment of a nitridated sapphire surface on the growth mode of GaN in low-pressure metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters*, **73**(9), 1278-1280, 1998.
- [90] H. Lahreche, P. Vennegues, B. Beaumont, and P. Gibart, "Growth of high-quality GaN by low-pressure metal-organic vapour phase epitaxy (LP-MOVPE) from 3D islands and lateral overgrowth," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **205**(3), 245-252, 1999.
- [91] B.-Y. Tsaur, R.W. McClelland, J.C.C. Fan, R.P. Gale, J.P. Salerno, B.A. Vojak, and C.O. Bozler, "Low-dislocation-density GaAs epilayers grown on Ge-coated Si substrates by means of lateral epitaxial overgrowth," *Applied Physics Letters*, **41**(4), 347-349, 1982.
- [92] K. Kato, T. Kusunoki, C. Takenaka, T. Tanahashi, and K. Nakajima, "Reduction of dislocations in InGaAs layer on GaAs using epitaxial lateral overgrowth," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **115**(1–4), 174-179, 1991.
- [93] A. Sakai, H. Sunakawa, and A. Usui, "Transmission electron microscopy of defects in GaN films formed by epitaxial lateral overgrowth," *Applied Physics Letters*, **73**(4), 481-483, 1998.
- [94] O. Contreras, F.A. Ponce, J. Christen, A. Dadgar, and A. Krost, "Dislocation annihilation by silicon delta-doping in GaN epitaxy on Si," *Applied Physics Letters*, **81**(25), 4712-4714, 2002.
- [95] S. Tanaka, M. Takeuchi, and Y. Aoyagi, "Anti-surfactant in III-nitride epitaxy - Quantum dot formation and dislocation termination," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, **39**, L831-L834, 2000.
- [96] B.W. Sheldon, K. Lau, and A. Rajamani, "Intrinsic stress, island coalescence, and surface roughness during the growth of polycrystalline films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **90**(10), 5097-5103, 2001.
- [97] T. Bottcher, S. Einfeldt, S. Figge, R. Chierchia, H. Heinke, D. Hommel, and J. Speck, "The role of high-temperature island coalescence in the development of stresses in GaN films," *Applied Physics Letters*, **78**(14), 1976-1978, 2001.
- [98] J.W. Matthews, A.E. Blakeslee, and S. Mader, "Use of misfit strain to remove dislocations from epitaxial thin films," *Thin Solid Films*, 33(2), 253-266, 1976.
- [99] R. Hull, J.C. Bean, F. Cerdeira, A.T. Fiory, and J.M. Gibson, "Stability of semiconductor strained-layer superlattices," *Applied Physics Letters*, 48(1), 56-58, 1986.

- [100] M.A. Mastro, C.R. Eddy Jr, D.K. Gaskill, N.D. Bassim, J. Casey, A. Rosenberg, R.T. Holm, R.L. Henry, and M.E. Twigg, "MOCVD growth of thick AlN and AlGaN superlattice structures on Si substrates," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 287(2), 610-614, 2006.
- [101] M.A. Mastro, R.T. Holm, N.D. Bassim, D.K. Gaskill, J.C. Culbertson, M. Fatemi, J. C. R. Eddy, R.L. Henry, and M.E. Twigg, "Metalorganic chemical-vapor deposition of high-reflectance III-nitride distributed Bragg reflectors on Si substrates," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology A*, 24(4), 1631-1634, 2006.
- [102] J.A. Floro, E. Chason, R.C. Cammarata, and D.J. Srolovitz, "Physical origins of intrinsic stresses in Volmer–Weber thin films," *MRS Bulletin*, 27(01), 19-25, 2002.
- [103] L.T. Romano, C.G.V.d. Walle, J.W.A. III, W. Gotz, and R.S. Kern, "Effect of Si doping on strain, cracking, and microstructure in GaN thin films grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition," *Journal* of Applied Physics, 87(11), 7745-7752, 2000.
- [104] A. Dadgar, P. Veit, F. Schulze, J. Blasing, A. Krtschil, H. Witte, A. Diez, T. Hempel, J. Christen, R. Clos, and A. Krost, "MOVPE growth of GaN on Si Substrates and strain," *Thin Solid Films*, 515(10), 4356-4361, 2007.
- [105] M.A. Moram, M.J. Kappers, F. Massabuau, R.A. Oliver, and C.J. Humphreys, "The effects of Si doping on dislocation movement and tensile stress in GaN films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **109**(7), 073509, 2011.
- [106] N.F. Izyumskaya, V.S. Avrutin, and A.F. Vyatkin, "Control over strain relaxation in Si-based heterostructures," *Solid-State Electronics*, **48**(8), 1265-1278, 2004.
- [107] M.-H. Kim, Y.-G. Do, H.C. Kang, D.Y. Noh, and S.-J. Park, "Effects of step-graded Al<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N interlayer on properties of GaN grown on Si(111) using ultrahigh vacuum chemical vapor deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, **79**(17), 2713-2715, 2001.
- [108] A. Able, W. Wegscheider, K. Engl, and J. Zweck, "Growth of crack-free GaN on Si (111) with graded AlGaN buffer layers," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **276**(3), 415-418, 2005.
- [109] O. Parillaud, E. Gil-Lafon, B. Gerard, P. Etienne, and D. Pribat, "High quality InP on Si by conformal growth," *Applied Physics Letters*, 68(19), 2654-2656, 1996.
- [110] A. Sakai, H. Sunakawa, and A. Usui, "Defect structure in selectively grown GaN films with low threading dislocation density," *Applied Physics Letters*, **71**(16), 2259-2261, 1997.
- [111] K. Hiramatsu, K. Nishiyama, M. Onishi, H. Mizutani, M. Narukawa, A. Motogaito, H. Miyake, Y. Iyechika, and T. Maeda, "Fabrication and characterization of low defect density GaN using facet-controlled epitaxial lateral overgrowth (FACELO)," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 221(1–4), 316-326, 2000.
- [112] T.S. Zheleva, O.-H. Nam, W.M. Ashmawi, J.D. Griffin, and R.F. Davis, "Lateral epitaxy and dislocation density reduction in selectively grown GaN structures," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 222(4), 706-718, 2001.

- [113] A. Strittmatter, S. Rodt, L. Reissmann, D. Bimberg, H. Schroder, E. Obermeier, T. Riemann, J. Christen, and A. Krost, "Maskless epitaxial lateral overgrowth of GaN layers on structured Si(111) substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, **78**(6), 727-729, 2001.
- [114] D. Zubia, S.H. Zaidi, S.R.J. Brueck, and S.D. Hersee, "Nanoheteroepitaxial growth of GaN on Si by organometallic vapor phase epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters*, **76**(7), 858-860, 2000.
- [115] S.D. Hersee, D. Zubia, S. Xinyu, R. Bommena, M. Fairchild, S. Zhang, D. Burckel, A. Frauenglass, and S.R.J. Brueck, "Nanoheteroepitaxy for the integration of highly mismatched semiconductor materials," *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.*, **38**(8), 1017-1028, 2002.
- [116] K.Y. Zang, Y.D. Wang, S.J. Chua, and L.S. Wang, "Nanoscale lateral epitaxial overgrowth of GaN on Si (111)," *Applied Physics Letters*, 87(19), 193106-193106-193103, 2005.
- [117] K. Hiramatsu, "Epitaxial lateral overgrowth techniques used in group III nitride epitaxy," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, **13**(32), 6961, 2001.
- [118] F.C. Frank and J.H. van der Merwe, "One-Dimensional Dislocations. I. Static Theory," *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences*, **198**(1053), 205-216, 1949.
- [119] N.G. Weimann, L.F. Eastman, D. Doppalapudi, H.M. Ng, and T.D. Moustakas, "Scattering of electrons at threading dislocations in GaN," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 83(7), 3656-3659, 1998.
- [120] J.D. Eshelby, "Screw dislocations in thin rods," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **24**(2), 176-179, 1953.
- [121] R. Colby, Z. Liang, I.H. Wildeson, D.A. Ewoldt, T.D. Sands, R.E. García, and E.A. Stach, "Dislocation filtering in GaN nanostructures," *Nano Letters*, **10**(5), 1568-1573, 2010.
- [122] J.W. Matthews, "Defects associated with the accommodation of misfit between crystals," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology*, **12**(1), 126-133, 1975.
- [123] E.A. Fitzgerald, "Dislocations in strained-layer epitaxy: theory, experiment, and applications," *Materials Science Reports*, **7**(3), 87-142, 1991.
- [124] A.F. Wright, "Elastic properties of zinc-blende and wurtzite AlN, GaN, and InN," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **82**(6), 2833-2839, 1997.
- [125] D. Zubia, S.H. Zaidi, S.D. Hersee, and S.R.J. Brueck, "Nanoheteroepitaxy: Nanofabrication route to improved epitaxial growth," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B*, **18**, 3514-3520, 2000.
- [126] R. People and J.C. Bean, "Calculation of critical layer thickness versus lattice mismatch for GexSi1-x/Si strained-layer heterostructures," *Applied Physics Letters*, **47**(3), 322-324, 1985.
- [127] Y. Zhu, F. Xu, Q. Qin, W.Y. Fung, and W. Lu, "Mechanical properties of vapor-liquid-solid synthesized silicon nanowires," *Nano Letters*, 9(11), 3934-3939, 2009.
- [128] S. Timoshenko, *Strength of Materials: Part I Elementary Theory and Problems*. 2nd ed 1940, New York: Van Nostrand.

- [129] A.D. McNaught and A. Wilkinson, *IUPAC. Compendium of Chemical Terminology (Gold Book).* 2nd ed 1997, Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- [130] A. Missaoui, M. Saadoun, T. Boufaden, B. Bessaïs, A. Rebey, H. Ezzaouia, and B. El Jani, "Characterization of GaN layers grown on porous silicon," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, 82(1–3), 98-101, 2001.
- [131] M. Saadoun, N. Mliki, H. Kaabi, K. Daoudi, B. Bessaïs, H. Ezzaouia, and R. Bennaceur, "Vapour-etching-based porous silicon: a new approach," *Thin Solid Films*, **405**(1–2), 29-34, 2002.
- [132] P. Vennegues, B. Beaumont, V. Bousquet, M. Vaille, and P. Gibart, "Reduction mechanisms for defect densities in GaN using one- or twostep epitaxial lateral overgrowth methods," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 87(9), 4175-4181, 2000.
- [133] Y.H. Luo, J.L. Liu, G. Jin, J. Wan, K.L. Wang, C.D. Moore, M.S. Goorsky, C. Chih, and K.N. Tu, "Effective compliant substrate for low-dislocation relaxed SiGe growth," *Applied Physics Letters*, 78(9), 1219-1221, 2001.
- [134] J. Cao, D. Pavlidis, A. Eisenbach, A. Philippe, C. Bru-Chevallier, and G. Guillot, "Photoluminescence properties of GaN grown on compliant silicon-on-insulator substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, **71**(26), 3880-3882, 1997.
- [135] S. Zamir, B. Meyler, and J. Salzman, "Reduction of cracks in GaN films grown on Si-on-insulator by lateral confined epitaxy," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 243(3–4), 375-380, 2002.
- [136] L.S. Wang, S. Tripathy, S.J. Chua, and K.Y. Zang, "InGaN/GaN multiquantum-well structures on (111)-oriented bonded silicon-on-insulator substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, 87(11), 111908, 2005.
- [137] S. Tripathy, V.K.X. Lin, S.L. Teo, A. Dadgar, A. Diez, J. Blasing, and A. Krost, "InGaN/GaN light emitting diodes on nanoscale silicon on insulator," *Applied Physics Letters*, **91**(23), 231109, 2007.
- [138] H. Kuribayashi, R. Shimizu, K. Sudoh, and H. Iwasaki, "Hydrogen pressure dependence of trench corner rounding during hydrogen annealing," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology A*, **22**(4), 1406-1409, 2004.
- [139] S.D. Hersee, X.Y. Sun, X. Wang, M.N. Fairchild, J. Liang, and J. Xu, "Nanoheteroepitaxial growth of GaN on Si nanopillar arrays," *Journal* of Applied Physics, 97(12), 124308, 2005.
- [140] G.-T. Chen, J.-I. Chyi, C.-H. Chan, C.-H. Hou, C.-C. Chen, and M.-N. Chang, "Crack-free GaN grown on AlGaN/(111)Si micropillar array fabricated by polystyrene microsphere lithography," *Applied Physics Letters*, **91**(26), 261910, 2007.
- [141] H.M. Manasevit, "Single-crystal gallium arsenide on insulating substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, **12**(4), 156-159, 1968.
- [142] H.M. Manasevit and W.I. Simpson, "The use of metal-organics in the preparation of semiconductor materials: I . Epitaxial gallium-V compounds," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **116**(12), 1725-1732, 1969.
- [143] G.B. Stringfellow, Organometallic Vapor-Phase Epitaxy: Theory and *Practice*. 2 ed 1999, San Diego: Academic Press.

- [144] H.M. Manasevit, F.M. Erdmann, and W.I. Simpson, "The use of metalorganics in the preparation of semiconductor materials: IV. The nitrides of aluminum and gallium," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **118**(11), 1864-1868, 1971.
- [145] S. Nakamura, M. Senoh, and T. Mukai, "P-GaN/N-InGaN/N-GaN double-heterostructure blue-light-emitting diodes," *Japanese Journal* of Applied Physics, **32**(Copyright (C) 1993 Publication Board, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics), L8, 1993.
- [146] H. Morko ç. Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices, Volume 3: GaN-based Optical and Electronical Devices. Vol. 3. 2009, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH.
- [147] H. Amano, "Progress and prospect of the growth of wide-band-gap group III nitrides: Development of the growth method for singlecrystal bulk GaN," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, 52(5), 050001, 2013.
- [148] M. Fulem, K. Růžička, V. Růžička, E. Hulicius, T. Šimeček, K. Melichar, J. Pangrác, S.A. Rushworth, and L.M. Smith, "Vapor pressure of metal organic precursors," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 248(0), 99-107, 2003.
- [149] SAFC, Hitech Product Catalog. Retrieved on May 21, 2013, 2008, http://www.safcglobal.com/etc/medialib/docs/SAFC/Bulletin/productcatalogue-2008.Par.0001.File.tmp/product-catalogue-2008.pdf.
- [150] T.G. Mihopoulos, V. Gupta, and K.F. Jensen, "A reaction-transport model for AlGaN MOVPE growth," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **195**(1), 733-739, 1998.
- [151] D. Reep and S. Ghandhi, "Deposition of GaAs epitaxial layers by organometallic CVD temperature and orientation dependence," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **130**(3), 675-680, 1983.
- [152] C. Chen, H. Liu, D. Steigerwald, W. Imler, C. Kuo, M. Craford, M. Ludowise, S. Lester, and J. Amano, "A study of parasitic reactions between NH<sub>3</sub> and TMGa or TMAI," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 25(6), 1004-1008, 1996.
- [153] D. Zhao, J. Zhu, D. Jiang, H. Yang, J. Liang, X. Li, and H. Gong, "Parasitic reaction and its effect on the growth rate of AlN by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 289(1), 72-75, 2006.
- [154] A. Koukitu, N. Takahashi, and H. Seki, "Thermodynamic study on metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxial growth of group III nitrides," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, 36, 1136-1138, 1997.
- [155] S. Ghandhi and R. Field, "A re-examination of boundary layer theory for a horizontal CVD reactor," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **69**(2), 619-622, 1984.
- [156] H. Moffat and K.F. Jensen, "Complex flow phenomena in MOCVD reactors: I. Horizontal reactors," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 77(1–3), 108-119, 1986.
- [157] R.F. Egerton, *Physical Principles of Electron Microscopy; An Introduction to TEM, SEM, and AEM*2005, New York: Springer.
- [158] M.A. Moram and M.E. Vickers, "X-ray diffraction of III-nitrides," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, **72**(3), 036502, 2009.

- [159] H. Heinke, V. Kirchner, S. Einfeldt, and D. Hommel, "Analysis of the defect structure of epitaxial GaN," *Physica Status Solidi* (A), **176**(1), 391-395, 1999.
- [160] X.H. Zheng, H. Chen, Z.B. Yan, Y.J. Han, H.B. Yu, D.S. Li, Q. Huang, and J.M. Zhou, "Determination of twist angle of in-plane mosaic spread of GaN films by high-resolution X-ray diffraction," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 255(1–2), 63-67, 2003.
- [161] H. Morko ç Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices, Volume
  2: Electronic and Optical Processes in Nitrides. Vol. 2. 2008, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH.
- [162] A.K. Viswanath, J.I. Lee, S. Yu, D. Kim, Y. Choi, and C.-h. Hong, "Photoluminescence studies of excitonic transitions in GaN epitaxial layers," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **84**(7), 3848-3859, 1998.
- [163] V.Y. Davydov, N.S. Averkiev, I.N. Goncharuk, D.K. Nelson, I.P. Nikitina, A.S. Polkovnikov, A.N. Smirnov, M.A. Jacobson, and O.K. Semchinova, "Raman and photoluminescence studies of biaxial strain in GaN epitaxial layers grown on 6H-SiC," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 82(10), 5097-5102, 1997.
- [164] S. Tripathy, S.J. Chua, P. Chen, and Z.L. Miao, "Micro-Raman investigation of strain in GaN and Al<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/GaN heterostructures grown on Si(111)," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **92**(7), 3503-3510, 2002.
- [165] V.Y. Davydov, Y.E. Kitaev, I.N. Goncharuk, A.N. Smirnov, J. Graul, O. Semchinova, D. Uffmann, M.B. Smirnov, A.P. Mirgorodsky, and R.A. Evarestov, "Phonon dispersion and Raman scattering in hexagonal GaN and AlN," *Physical Review B*, **58**(19), 12899-12907, 1998.
- [166] Z. Huang, N. Geyer, P. Werner, J. de Boor, and U. Gösele, "Metalassisted chemical etching of silicon: A review," *Advanced Materials*, 23(2), 285-308, 2011.
- [167] H. Asoh, F. Arai, and S. Ono, "Site-selective chemical etching of silicon using patterned silver catalyst," *Electrochemistry Communications*, **9**(4), 535-539, 2007.
- [168] K. Peng, M. Zhang, A. Lu, N.-B. Wong, R. Zhang, and S.-T. Lee, "Ordered silicon nanowire arrays via nanosphere lithography and metal-induced etching," *Applied Physics Letters*, **90**(16), 163123-163123-163123, 2007.
- [169] Y. Harada, X. Li, P.W. Bohn, and R.G. Nuzzo, "Catalytic amplification of the soft lithographic patterning of Si. Nonelectrochemical orthogonal fabrication of photoluminescent porous Si pixel arrays," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 123(36), 8709-8717, 2001.
- [170] P. Lianto, S. Yu, J. Wu, C.V. Thompson, and W.K. Choi, "Vertical etching with isolated catalysts in metal-assisted chemical etching of silicon," *Nanoscale*, **4**(23), 7532-7539, 2012.
- [171] Z. Huang, X. Zhang, M. Reiche, L. Liu, W. Lee, T. Shimizu, S. Senz, and U. Gösele, "Extended arrays of vertically aligned sub-10 nm diameter [100] Si nanowires by metal-assisted chemical etching," *Nano Letters*, 8(9), 3046-3051, 2008.

- [172] R. Liu, F. Zhang, C. Con, B. Cui, and B. Sun, "Lithography-free fabrication of silicon nanowire and nanohole arrays by metal-assisted chemical etching," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, **8**(1), 1-8, 2013.
- [173] Y.M. Yang, P.K. Chu, Z.W. Wu, S.H. Pu, T.F. Hung, K.F. Huo, G.X. Qian, W.J. Zhang, and X.L. Wu, "Catalysis of dispersed silver particles on directional etching of silicon," *Applied Surface Science*, 254(10), 3061-3066, 2008.
- [174] H. Fang, Y. Wu, J. Zhao, and J. Zhu, "Silver catalysis in the fabrication of silicon nanowire arrays," *Nanotechnology*, **17**(15), 3768, 2006.
- [175] C. Chartier, S. Bastide, and C. Lévy-Clément, "Metal-assisted chemical etching of silicon in HF–H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>," *Electrochimica Acta*, 53(17), 5509-5516, 2008.
- [176] D. Dimova-Malinovska, M. Sendova-Vassileva, N. Tzenov, and M. Kamenova, "Preparation of thin porous silicon layers by stain etching," *Thin Solid Films*, **297**(1–2), 9-12, 1997.
- [177] X. Li and P.W. Bohn, "Metal-assisted chemical etching in HF/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produces porous silicon," *Applied Physics Letters*, **77**(16), 2572-2574, 2000.
- [178] K. Tsujino and M. Matsumura, "Boring deep cylindrical nanoholes in silicon using silver nanoparticles as a catalyst," *Advanced Materials*, 17(8), 1045-1047, 2005.
- [179] K. Peng, Y. Wu, H. Fang, X. Zhong, Y. Xu, and J. Zhu, "Uniform, axial-orientation alignment of one-dimensional single-crystal silicon nanostructure arrays," *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 44(18), 2737-2742, 2005.
- [180] K.Q. Peng, J.J. Hu, Y.J. Yan, Y. Wu, H. Fang, Y. Xu, S.T. Lee, and J. Zhu, "Fabrication of single-crystalline silicon nanowires by scratching a silicon surface with catalytic metal particles," *Advanced Functional Materials*, 16(3), 387-394, 2006.
- [181] S. Yae, Y. Kawamoto, H. Tanaka, N. Fukumuro, and H. Matsuda, "Formation of porous silicon by metal particle enhanced chemical etching in HF solution and its application for efficient solar cells," *Electrochemistry Communications*, 5(8), 632-636, 2003.
- [182] Y. Qu, H. Zhou, and X. Duan, "Porous silicon nanowires," *Nanoscale*, 3(10), 4060-4068, 2011.
- [183] T. Qiu, X.L. Wu, G.G. Siu, and P. Chu, "Intergrowth mechanism of silicon nanowires and silver dendrites," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 35(10), 1879-1884, 2006.
- [184] K.Q. Peng, Y.J. Yan, S.P. Gao, and J. Zhu, "Synthesis of large-area silicon nanowire arrays via self-assembling nanoelectrochemistry," *Advanced Materials*, **14**(16), 1164-1167, 2002.
- [185] Y. Kobayashi and S. Adachi, "Properties of Si nanowires synthesized by galvanic cell reaction," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, **49**(7), 75002-75002, 2010.
- [186] Y. Qu, L. Liao, Y. Li, H. Zhang, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "Electrically conductive and optically active porous silicon nanowires," *Nano Letters*, **9**(12), 4539-4543, 2009.
- [187] Z. Huang, H. Fang, and J. Zhu, "Fabrication of silicon nanowire arrays with controlled diameter, length, and density," *Advanced Materials*, 19(5), 744-748, 2007.

- [188] B. Mikhael, B. Elise, M. Xavier, S. Sebastian, M. Johann, and P. Laetitia, "New silicon architectures by gold-assisted chemical etching," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 3(10), 3866-3873, 2011.
- [189] W.K. Choi, T.H. Liew, M.K. Dawood, H.I. Smith, C.V. Thompson, and M.H. Hong, "Synthesis of silicon nanowires and nanofin arrays using interference lithography and catalytic etching," *Nano Letters*, 8(11), 3799-3802, 2008.
- [190] J. Huang, S.Y. Chiam, H.H. Tan, S. Wang, and W.K. Chim, "Fabrication of silicon nanowires with precise diameter control using metal nanodot arrays as a hard mask blocking material in chemical etching," *Chemistry of Materials*, 22(13), 4111-4116, 2010.
- [191] Z. Huang, T. Shimizu, S. Senz, Z. Zhang, X. Zhang, W. Lee, N. Geyer, and U. Gösele, "Ordered arrays of vertically aligned [110] silicon nanowires by suppressing the crystallographically preferred <100> etching directions," *Nano Letters*, 9(7), 2519-2525, 2009.
- [192] A.I. Hochbaum, R. Chen, R.D. Delgado, W. Liang, E.C. Garnett, M. Najarian, A. Majumdar, and P. Yang, "Enhanced thermoelectric performance of rough silicon nanowires," *Nature*, **451**(7175), 163-167, 2008.
- [193] A.I. Hochbaum, D. Gargas, Y.J. Hwang, and P. Yang, "Single crystalline mesoporous silicon nanowires," *Nano Letters*, 9(10), 3550-3554, 2009.
- [194] R. Douani, K. Si-Larbi, T. Hadjersi, N. Megouda, and A. Manseri, "Silver-assisted electroless etching mechanism of silicon," *Physica Status Solidi* (A), **205**(2), 225-230, 2008.
- [195] M.-L. Zhang, K.-Q. Peng, X. Fan, J.-S. Jie, R.-Q. Zhang, S.-T. Lee, and N.-B. Wong, "Preparation of Large-Area Uniform Silicon Nanowires Arrays through Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, **112**(12), 4444-4450, 2008.
- [196] S. Cruz, A. Hönig-d'Orville, and J. Müller, "Fabrication and Optimization of Porous Silicon Substrates for Diffusion Membrane Applications," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **152**(6), C418-C424, 2005.
- [197] C.-Y. Chen, C.-S. Wu, C.-J. Chou, and T.-J. Yen, "Morphological Control of Single-Crystalline Silicon Nanowire Arrays near Room Temperature," *Advanced Materials*, **20**(20), 3811-3815, 2008.
- [198] H. Fang, X. Li, S. Song, Y. Xu, and J. Zhu, "Fabrication of slantinglyaligned silicon nanowire arrays for solar cell applications," *Nanotechnology*, 19(25), 255703, 2008.
- [199] Z. Huang, T. Shimizu, S. Senz, Z. Zhang, N. Geyer, and U. Gösele, "Oxidation rate effect on the direction of metal-assisted chemical and electrochemical etching of silicon," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, **114**(24), 10683-10690, 2010.
- [200] V. Lehmann, "The Physics of Macropore Formation in Low Doped n-Type Silicon," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **140**(10), 2836-2843, 1993.
- [201] L.T. Tan, M.H. Huang, T.S. Chong, C.S. Ong, T.S. Myo, Q. Wee, C.B. Soh, and S.J. Chua, "Dependence of Substrate Orientation and Etching Conditions on the Formation of Si Nanowires," *AIP Conference Proceedings*, **1341**(1), 292-295, 2011.

- [202] S.L. Cheng, C.H. Chung, and H.C. Lee, "A study of the synthesis, characterization, and kinetics of vertical silicon nanowire arrays on (001)Si substrates," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **155**(11), D711-D714, 2008.
- [203] F. Bai, M. Li, D. Song, H. Yu, B. Jiang, and Y. Li, "One-step synthesis of lightly doped porous silicon nanowires in HF/AgNO3/H2O2 solution at room temperature," *Journal of Solid State Chemistry*, 196(0), 596-600, 2012.
- [204] R.G. Mertens, R.G. Blair, and K.B. Sundaram, "Recession and Characterization of Patterned Nanowires Grown by Electroless Etching of Silicon," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, 1(1), P40-P45, 2012.
- [205] A.G. Nassiopoulou, V. Gianneta, and C. Katsogridakis, "Si nanowires by a single-step metal-assisted chemical etching process on lithographically defined areas: formation kinetics," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 6(1), 1-8, 2011.
- [206] J.S. Judge, "A Study of the Dissolution of SiO<sub>2</sub> in Acidic Fluoride Solutions," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **118**(11), 1772-1775, 1971.
- [207] K.Q. Peng, Z.P. Huang, and J. Zhu, "Fabrication of Large-Area Silicon Nanowire p-n Junction Diode Arrays," *Advanced Materials*, 16(1), 73-76, 2004.
- [208] B. Ozdemir, M. Kulakci, R. Turan, and H.E. Unalan, "Effect of electroless etching parameters on the growth and reflection properties of silicon nanowires," *Nanotechnology*, **22**(15), 155606, 2011.
- [209] C.H. Mastrangelo and C.H. Hsu, "Mechanical stability and adhesion of microstructures under capillary forces. I. Basic theory," *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems*, 2(1), 33-43, 1993.
- [210] H. Guckel, J.J. Sniegowski, T.R. Christenson, S. Mohney, and T.F. Kelly, "Fabrication of micromechanical devices from polysilicon films with smooth surfaces," *Sensors and Actuators*, 20(1–2), 117-122, 1989.
- [211] D. Smith, *Thin-Film Deposition: Principles and Practice*1995: McGraw-Hill Education.
- [212] S. Heikman, S. Keller, S. Newman, Y. Wu, C. Moe, B. Moran, M. Schmidt, U.K. Mishra, J.S. Speck, and S.P. DenBaars, "Epitaxial lateral overgrowth of high Al composition AlGaN alloys on deep grooved SiC substrates," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, 44, L405-L407, 2005.
- [213] M. Tanaka, T. Suzuki, and T. Nishinaga, "Surface diffusion of Al atoms on GaAs vicinal surfaces in molecular beam epitaxy," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, **29**, L706-L708, 1990.
- [214] Z. Chen, S. Newman, D. Brown, R. Chung, S. Keller, U.K. Mishra, S.P. Denbaars, and S. Nakamura, "High quality AlN grown on SiC by metal organic chemical vapor deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, 93(19), 191906, 2008.
- [215] E.A. Fitzgerald, Y.-H. Xie, D. Monroe, P.J. Silverman, J.M. Kuo, A.R. Kortan, F.A. Thiel, and B.E. Weir. *Relaxed Ge<sub>x</sub>Si<sub>1-x</sub> structures for III-V integration with Si and high mobility two-dimensional electron gases in Si.* 1992. AVS.

- [216] S.N.G. Chu, W.T. Tsang, T.H. Chiu, and A.T. Macrander, "Latticemismatch-generated dislocation structures and their confinement using superlattices in heteroepitaxial GaAs/InP and InP/GaAs grown by chemical beam epitaxy," *Journal of Applied Physics*, 66(2), 520-530, 1989.
- [217] M. Sugo and M. Yamaguchi, "Buffer layer effects on residual stress in InP on Si substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, 54(18), 1754-1756, 1989.
- [218] L. Liu and J.H. Edgar, "Substrates for gallium nitride epitaxy," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, **37**(3), 61-127, 2002.
- [219] T.M. Katona, P. Cantu, S. Keller, Y. Wu, J.S. Speck, and S.P. DenBaars, "Maskless lateral epitaxial overgrowth of high-aluminum-content Al<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N," *Applied Physics Letters*, 84(24), 5025-5027, 2004.
- [220] W. Shan, R.J. Hauenstein, A.J. Fischer, J.J. Song, W.G. Perry, M.D. Bremser, R.F. Davis, and B. Goldenberg, "Strain effects on excitonic transitions in GaN: Deformation potentials," *Physical Review B*, 54(19), 13460-13463, 1996.
- [221] A. Polian, M. Grimsditch, and I. Grzegory, "Elastic constants of gallium nitride," *Journal of Applied Physics*, **79**(6), 3343-3344, 1996.
- [222] P.F. Fewster and N.L. Andrew, "Absolute Lattice-Parameter Measurement," *Journal of Applied Crystallography*, 28(4), 451-458, 1995.
- [223] T. Sugiyama, Y. Kuwahara, Y. Isobe, T. Fujii, K. Nonaka, M. Iwaya, T. Takeuchi, S. Kamiyama, I. Akasaki, and H. Amano, "Microstructures of GaInN/GaInN Superlattices on GaN Substrates," *Applied Physics Express*, 4(Copyright (c) 2011 The Japan Society of Applied Physics), 015701, 2011.
- [224] J.F. Muth, J.H. Lee, I.K. Shmagin, R.M. Kolbas, J. H. C. Casey, B.P. Keller, U.K. Mishra, and S.P. DenBaars, "Absorption coefficient, energy gap, exciton binding energy, and recombination lifetime of GaN obtained from transmission measurements," *Applied Physics Letters*, **71**(18), 2572-2574, 1997.
- [225] W. Rieger, R. Dimitrov, D. Brunner, E. Rohrer, O. Ambacher, and M. Stutzmann, "Defect-related optical transitions in GaN," *Physical Review B*, 54(24), 17596-17602, 1996.
- [226] M.T. Currie, S.B. Samavedam, T.A. Langdo, C.W. Leitz, and E.A. Fitzgerald, "Controlling threading dislocation densities in Ge on Si using graded SiGe layers and chemical-mechanical polishing," *Applied Physics Letters*, 72(14), 1718-1720, 1998.
- [227] T. Kozawa, T. Kachi, T. Ohwaki, Y. Taga, N. Koide, and M. Koike, "Dislocation Etch Pits in GaN Epitaxial Layers Grown on Sapphire Substrates," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, **143**(1), L17-L19, 1996.
- [228] P. Visconti, K.M. Jones, M.A. Reshchikov, R. Cingolani, H. Morkoc, and R.J. Molnar, "Dislocation density in GaN determined by photoelectrochemical and hot-wet etching," *Applied Physics Letters*, 77(22), 3532-3534, 2000.
- [229] X. Xu, R. Vaudo, J. Flynn, and G. Brandes, "Acid etching for accurate determination of dislocation density in GaN," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 31(5), 402-405, 2002.

- [230] S.Y. Chou and P.R. Krauss, "Imprint lithography with sub-10 nm feature size and high throughput," *Microelectronic Engineering*, 35(1–4), 237-240, 1997.
- [231] H.H. Solak, C. David, J. Gobrecht, V. Golovkina, F. Cerrina, S.O. Kim, and P.F. Nealey, "Sub-50 nm period patterns with EUV interference lithography," *Microelectronic Engineering*, 67–68(0), 56-62, 2003.